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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”), including the information incorporated herein by reference, contains forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, any statements that refer to projections, forecasts or
other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are
typically identified by words such as “anticipate,” “appear,” “approximate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “foresee,” “intends,” “may,” “might,” “plan,”
“possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “would” and other similar words and expressions (or the negative version of such words or expressions)
may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

The forward-looking statements are based on the current expectations of Payoneer Global Inc.’s (“Payoneer”) management and are inherently subject to
uncertainties and changes in circumstances and their potential effects and speak only as of the date of such statement. There can be no assurance that future
developments will be those that have been anticipated. These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties or other assumptions that may
cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to: (1) changes in applicable laws or regulations; (2) the possibility that Payoneer may be adversely affected by geopolitical events and
conflicts, such as the current conflict between Israel and Hamas, and other economic, business and/or competitive factors; (3) Payoneer’s estimates of its financial
performance; (4) the outcome of any known and/or unknown legal or regulatory proceedings; and (5) other factors described under the heading “Risk Factors”
discussed and identified in public filings made with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) by Payoneer.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize or should any of the assumptions made by the management of Payoneer prove incorrect, actual
results may vary in material respects from those projected in these forward-looking statements.

All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements concerning the matters addressed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and attributable to Payoneer or
any person acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Except to the extent required by applicable law or regulation, Payoneer undertakes no obligation to update these forward-looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Unless the context otherwise requires, the “Company”, “Payoneer”, “we,” “our,” “us” and similar terms refer to Payoneer Inc. for the period prior to the Closing
Date (as defined below) and to Payoneer Global Inc., for the period thereafter.

Overview

Payoneer is a financial technology company purpose-built to enable the world’s small and medium-sized businesses (“SMB(s)”) to grow and operate their 
businesses around the world by reliably and securely connecting them to the global digital economy. Payoneer was founded in 2005 and in the 19 years since the 
Company’s founding, we have built a global financial stack that makes it easier for millions of SMBs, particularly in emerging markets, to access global demand and 
supply, pay and get paid, and manage their cross border and other needs from a single platform. Our financial stack provides a full suite of cross-border accounts 
receivable (AR) and accounts payable (AP) capabilities and includes services such as working capital and the provision of data-driven insights. Payoneer’s core value 
proposition is that we remove the complexity and barriers of doing business across borders for our customers. With a multi-currency Payoneer Account, businesses 
around the world can serve and transact with their overseas customers, suppliers, vendors, and partners as if they were local. 

The Payoneer financial stack is comprised of a secure, regulated payment infrastructure platform that provides customers with a one-stop, global, multi-currency
account to serve their comprehensive AR and AP needs. Payoneer’s global platform is built with a focus on security, stability and redundancy. The Company
leverages nearly 100 banking and payment service providers globally to support transactions in over 7,000 trade corridors and enable same-day and real-time
settlement in over 150 countries.

Payoneer serves SMBs located in more than 190 countries and territories and operating in a wide variety of industries. We have approximately 2 million active 
customers, including over 500,000 who meet our ideal customer profile (as further defined below). Customers include goods exporters selling cross-border to 
consumers and other businesses, services companies exporting their capabilities to international clients, independent professionals, creators, and contractors 
capitalizing on the digitization of the workplace and remote work, vacation rental hosts, and businesses working with suppliers and vendors from different countries in 
different currencies. Payoneer’s customers sell their goods or services either via a marketplace or directly to other businesses (B2B), and/or to customers via 
webstores. Given the diverse nature of our customers and their businesses, Payoneer’s revenues experience seasonal fluctuations as a result of consumer and 
business spending patterns. 

Payoneer has built a meaningful brand and efficient go-to-market engine that enables us to drive customer acquisition through a diverse range of channels. We
leverage our global partnerships and enterprise relationships, deep local knowledge and sales presence, product- and customer-driven network effects, and organic
traffic to our website. This supports an efficient customer acquisition model and enables us to differentiate our efforts based on different segments.

Payoneer has delivered strong growth: in the year ended December 31, 2023, our volume and revenue grew by 11% and 32%, respectively, compared to the
year ended December 31, 2022. Volume was $66.0 billion and $59.7 billion and revenue was $831.1 million and $627.6 million for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

Capturing Opportunity From Strong Global Secular Trends

Payoneer is focused on capturing the opportunity from several powerful secular trends that can benefit SMBs who do business across borders and the service
providers supporting them.

Digital Commerce is Accelerating

More people and businesses are conducting a greater amount of their activities online than ever before, driving the rapid growth of digital commerce globally. This
long term secular trend further accelerated in the years following the COVID-19 pandemic as consumers and businesses shifted more activities online. According to
the International Trade Administration, global B2B e-commerce volume is expected to grow at a 14.5% compound annual growth rate to $36 trillion by 2026. By
region, Asia-Pacific is expected to continue to gain market share over the rest of the world, however the greatest growth in B2B e-commerce value is anticipated from
markets like Latin America and the Middle East.
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SMBs That Operate Across Borders Are Underserved

The growth of digital commerce has made it easier for SMBs in emerging markets to tap into overseas demand. This is creating a need for new payment and 
commerce-enabling solutions to support these businesses. At the same time, businesses serving overseas customers must deal with complex local requirements in 
each of the markets in which they do business, often need to manage multiple banking relationships globally and face inefficiency and high transactional costs. This is 
especially true in emerging markets, where despite their digital maturity, many SMBs have access to only the most basic banking and payment services offered by 
their local financial institutions. Global banking and payment services mostly remain out of reach, forcing emerging market SMBs to seek alternative partners to help 
them manage their cross-border AR and AP needs. 

The Shift Towards a More Global Supply Chain and Outsourced Workforce

Labor shortages, rising wages, increasing costs from higher inflation, and a general trend towards greater globalization are all driving businesses of all sizes to
re-evaluate their workforce and sourcing strategies. Companies are looking across borders, particularly to emerging markets, for talent and leveraging independent
professionals and contractors that can provide greater organizational and expense flexibility. Previously, outsourcing was more readily accessible to large
corporations. The development of outsourcing platforms and the growth in the number of companies providing managed workforce services has made access to
global labor available to SMBs. Businesses are also increasingly diversifying and globalizing their supply chains to access high-quality, lower-cost products and
materials, and to strengthen their business resiliency.

Global Regulatory and Compliance Requirements are Constantly Evolving

The provision of cross-border payment services is complex and highly regulated, and ongoing changes in the regulatory landscape means scale, expertise, and
technology enabled processes are critical to success. Traditional financial institutions serving SMBs, and even modern fintech companies often lack experience in
emerging markets and lack the ability to manage scaled customer onboarding and a global risk management program. Compliance programs must address global
challenges and multiple regulatory frameworks designed to prevent money laundering and terrorist financing. There are few solutions available to SMBs that provide a
comprehensive global solution. We believe this presents a significant competitive advantage for Payoneer as we have built robust compliance infrastructure, grounded
in a ‘compliance first’ approach, and have nearly two decades of experience navigating the challenges associated with cross-border payments, particularly into
emerging markets.

Our Key Differentiators

Global SMBs use their Payoneer Account to manage their end-to-end AR and AP payment flows. Sources of AR include large global marketplaces, trading
partners, corporate buyers and sellers, other small firms, and their end customers. SMBs use Payoneer to manage their funds in multiple currencies. They can send
funds to their local bank accounts, pay for expenses using our card products, make payments through our in-network ecosystem, and pay suppliers and workers in
multiple currencies. They can also access working capital from Payoneer.

Every payment a business accepts or makes also creates an opportunity for us to develop a deeper understanding of their business. Payoneer uses data insights
to build and market additional features and services, which in turn accelerates commercial activity, increases volume, brings more customers into our network, and
further strengthens and grows our ecosystem.

The power of the Payoneer platform comes from the following pillars:

Modern Technology and Robust Infrastructure

Payoneer delivers technology-based services to our customers through a proprietary modern technology infrastructure that includes robust and secure
application programming interfaces (“APIs”) as well as web and mobile applications. Our platform supports millions of transactions, hundreds of thousands of new
applicants monthly, and processes tens of billions of dollars of volume annually. Most of the systems that deliver service, including our customer-facing systems, back-
office systems and risks management and compliance systems are proprietary. We also rely on a wide range of third-party systems for specialized capabilities, which
are integrated into our platform. We make significant and ongoing investments in our cybersecurity infrastructure and processes.
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Trusted Global Brand Supported by Local Teams

Payoneer’s customers come from over 190 countries and territories. To effectively serve this global customer base, we have regional sales and support hubs,
including in the U.S., Israel, Hong Kong, Philippines, Korea, Romania, Guatemala, Poland, India, and China. These teams provide around the clock customer care in
dozens of languages across multiple channels (mobile, online, chat, email, phone and social media). Payoneer also has over 150 customer success managers in
over 50 countries, speaking 50 languages to provide support and promote customer retention and growth. They enable the Company to build strong, localized
relationships with customers and prospects through hosted events, industry gatherings, and direct targeting. In addition, we have extensive regulatory and banking
infrastructure to support our enterprise customers and marketplace partners in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate.

Data Creates Competitive Advantages and Delivers Value to Customers

Payoneer has built machine-learning models leveraging the data that we collect in the ordinary course of our operations and services. These models enable us to
make informed predictions to better serve our customers’ needs. For instance, we apply our machine-learning models in key areas such as lifetime value assessment,
risk management and working capital underwriting. Utilizing these unique data insights, we are able to offer new products and features, improve engagement and
drive growth and improved profitability.

Robust and Scalable Compliance, Risk & Regulatory Infrastructure

We have designed and implemented a comprehensive Anti-Money Laundering/Combatting Terrorist Financing (AML/CTF) and Sanctions Program in compliance
with the laws of the jurisdictions where Payoneer is regulated. Through our AML/CTF program we manage the compliant onboarding and ongoing monitoring of our
customers, who come from more than 190 countries and territories. Our Know Your Customer (KYC) and Customer Due Diligence (CDD) processes are managed
through a proprietary infrastructure and are supported by dedicated teams, combining automated tools and operational processes with regular audits and reviews to
test and monitor for compliance. We have also built a sophisticated risk management infrastructure, leveraging machine learning-based fraud typologies, to address
the risks of digital commerce and a global risk management platform to manage the risks of supporting tens of billions of dollars of volume in over 7,000 trade
corridors globally for millions of platform participants.

We are regulated as a non-bank financial institution in key markets around the world, namely the United States, Europe, United Kingdom, Hong Kong, Japan,
Singapore, and Australia, via local subsidiaries. In the United States, we are registered as a Money Service Business and are licensed as a Money Transmitter in all
U.S. states in which such licenses are necessary and in the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. Payoneer Europe Limited is an authorized e-money institution in
Ireland covering the European Economic Area (EEA) and is an approved Mastercard® issuer. Payoneer Payment Services UK Ltd is an Electronic Money Institution
authorized by the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority. Payoneer Hong Kong Limited is a licensed Money Services Operator with the Customs and Excise
Department in Hong Kong. Payoneer Japan Limited is a Registered Fund Transfer Service Provider with the Kanto Finance Bureau in Japan. Payoneer Singapore
Pte Limited is licensed by the Monetary Authority of Singapore as a Major Payment Institution. Payoneer Australia Pty Limited is licensed by the Australian Securities
and Investment Commission to deal in non-cash payment products. We also have regulatory authorizations in India, where we act as an Online Payment Gateway
Service Provider, approved by the Reserve Bank of India. Customers are onboarded to and receive terms and conditions from one or more of the regulated entities in
our group, depending on the customer’s country of residence and the products provided. Each of our regulated entities is obligated to implement compliance
programs, protect customer funds and meet other regulatory obligations under the supervision and oversight of the local regulators.
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Sophisticated Global Banking and Treasury Infrastructure

Payoneer has invested significantly in building a resilient, global proprietary payment infrastructure. We work with close to 100 banks and payment service
providers and through those local partners are connected to over 100 local clearing systems, allowing us to deliver payments efficiently in the local markets in which
our customers operate. We have invested heavily in innovative and reliable systems, including our smart routing platform and global treasury systems and processes
that allow us to manage global payment processing and liquidity needs.

Key Customer Segments

Payoneer’s financial stack makes it easier for SMBs to access the global digital economy.

SMBs Doing Business on Global Marketplaces

The global e-commerce and service marketplace payouts business is estimated to be a $300 billion volume opportunity, based on third-party research conducted
in 2022. Payoneer is a market leader and enables SMBs from around the world to access the aggregated consumer demand on these marketplaces and get paid as if
they were local to the end consumers they are selling to.

B2B SMBs

Payoneer also serves SMBs looking to pay and get paid directly by other businesses. This is a $6 trillion volume opportunity based on third-party research
conducted in 2022. We enable SMBs to pay their suppliers one by one or in bulk, create and manage invoices, bill customers in multiple currencies, and enable
buyers to pay with convenient local or global payment methods, regardless of where the seller is located.

SMBs Selling Direct to Consumer

Direct-to-consumer (DTC) is a critical sales channel for many of the SMBs Payoneer serves. In 2022, Payoneer began supporting DTC business customers via
our Checkout product, which customers can use to sell directly to consumers around the world via their web store or via integration into commerce enabling platforms
like Shopify. This extension of our capabilities represents another pillar of diversification and opportunity for Payoneer to access another fast-growing market
opportunity which, based on third-party research conducted in 2022, is approximately $150 billion in volume.

Payoneer’s Financial Stack

Our Payoneer Account is purpose-built for SMBs doing business cross-border and we are able to support a wide range of customers and deliver a growing
product and feature set to meet their needs.

Core Offering: The Payoneer Account

The Payoneer Account enables SMBs to receive, manage, and make payments in multiple currencies. Our customers can receive funds from marketplaces, other
businesses and customers, trading partners and more. They can accept payments locally in the country where their buyer is located and, often, in the buyer’s local
currency. Once the funds are in the SMB’s Payoneer Account, they are available to use as the customer decides, including by withdrawing into a local bank account,
paying their suppliers and vendors or converting into different currencies before transferring. Our customers find significant value in the ability to hold and transact in
multiple currencies, particularly if they are doing business in or with countries or regions that face significant macro uncertainty, banking instability and/or currency
fluctuations.

Invoicing and Payment Requests

Payoneer offers our customers the ability to directly invoice and collect funds from their customers, and to pay their vendors, suppliers, and contractors around
the world. Payoneer’s customers can receive payments via credit cards and via local payment methods in the U.S., the UK and other supported markets.
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Physical & Virtual Cards

Payoneer customers can use physical or virtual cards to access the balances in their Payoneer Account. Our customers use physical cards to access their funds
through local ATM networks, make purchases online and in-store at local businesses or to pay business expenses.

Payoneer Checkout

Payoneer Checkout enables SMBs to accept payments from customers around the world via their web store. Checkout is another source of AR that SMBs can
manage in their Payoneer Account, enabling merchants to unify their business across sales channels and better track all of their global sales activities.

Working Capital

Payoneer provides certain SMBs with access to working capital with amounts advanced ranging from $50 to more than $1 million. We leverage machine learning
models and underwriting processes to effectively manage risk while providing a valuable service to our customers. We fund these working capital advances through a
mix of balance sheet cash and borrowings under our warehouse financing facility.

Enterprise Services

Payoneer provides marketplaces and other enterprises with Mass Payout services that enable them to pay sellers across the world via a broad set of localized
and other payment methods including local bank payments, international wires, payments to mobile wallets and to physical and virtual cards and paper checks.

Our Growth Strategy

Payoneer is solving key customer needs through our differentiated product offering and platform, and we are well positioned to capture significant growth
opportunities from long-term secular trends. We intend to drive continued growth by focusing on a few key areas:

Add Customers Who Fit Our Ideal Customer Profile

Payoneer has approximately 2 million active customers who have a Payoneer Account and were active over the trailing twelve month period. Over 500,000 of
these active customers fit the Company’s ideal customer profile, who are customers that have on average over $500 a month in volume, and we are focused on
growing that number through continued acquisition and improved retention.

Payoneer’s strategy to grow our base of active customers who fit our ideal customer profile involves leveraging our efficient go-to-market engine to acquire and
engage with more SMBs. Payoneer has three primary acquisition channels: partnerships, our direct sales and marketing team, and organic traffic which benefits from
our strong brand and network effects. We are also focused on improving our customer retention through initiatives to drive improved service and experience, as well
as differentiated pricing models and bundling of products and services.

Platform Extension to Deliver More Value to Customers and Drive Greater Average Revenue Per Customer

Payoneer is making meaningful investments in extending our financial stack and driving greater customer adoption of multiple products and services. We believe
this will deliver significant value to our customers and also enable Payoneer to drive greater monetization of each customer over time. We are expanding our AR and
AP capabilities so customers can receive more funds into their Payoneer Accounts, hold more funds for longer periods in their Payoneer Accounts, and have more
options for spending the funds to meet their business needs.

Pursue Strategic M&A

We believe there are many opportunities to leverage our global platform, regulatory and compliance infrastructure, technology, brand and team to deliver
additional value to more customers more quickly by supplementing our organic product development with
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targeted acquisitions that add new capabilities or deeper geographic penetration to our platform. We have a large SMB customer base that maintains long-term 
relationships with Payoneer. This offers us the opportunity to acquire companies with synergistic product and service offerings that meet the broad and complex 
needs of our customers. We have built a team that is focused on leading our efforts to identify strategic growth opportunities. 

Competition

Payoneer operates on a global scale and faces a very broad set of competition. There are many types of payment providers that offer global payment services
including global treasury banks that serve large corporate accounts; small local and regional banks that focus on serving local SMBs; FX companies that focus on
serving SMB importers and exporters; global digital payment platforms like PayPal, Ant Group, or Wise; global card networks; Neobanks; SMB-focused B2B payment
providers like Bill.com; mass payout service providers that specialize at providing services to enterprises and marketplaces, SMB AP/AR SaaS providers; merchant
service providers that sell services to marketplaces like Adyen, Braintree and Stripe; and local companies that focus on enabling SMBs in one or more local markets to
sell on digital marketplaces globally. For example, in China we face competition from a number of local payment providers that serve the large greater China region.
In some cases, marketplaces provide their own payment capabilities to support payments to sellers.

Regulation

Payments Regulation. Various laws and regulations govern the payments industry in the U.S. and globally. Payoneer is licensed in multiple jurisdictions and, via
its licensed entities, serves customers in over 190 countries and territories worldwide. In the U.S., Payoneer Inc. is a Money Service Business registered with the U.S.
Treasury’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN). Payoneer Inc. is a licensed money transmitter under the laws of all U.S. states where such license is
necessary, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. The Money Transmitter license for Nevada is held by Payoneer US LLC, a subsidiary of Payoneer Inc. due to
Nevada’s specific requirements. These licenses support the full range of Payoneer Account and Mass Payout payment services and among other obligations, subject
us to reporting requirements, bonding requirements, certain limitations on the investment of customer funds and inspection by state regulatory agencies.

Outside of the U.S., we provide our services to customers through various non-U.S. regulated subsidiaries. The activities of those non-U.S. entities are supervised
by the financial regulatory authority in the jurisdictions in which they operate and under which they are licensed to provide services. For example, in Europe we are
licensed in Ireland by the Central Bank of Ireland (authorized pursuant to EU passporting rules to provide payment services under its license in all countries in the
European Economic Area). These regulatory authorities include the Australian Securities and Investment Commission in Australia, the Customs and Excise
Department in Hong Kong, the Kanto Finance Bureau in Japan, the Monetary Authority of Singapore in Singapore, and the Financial Conduct Authority in the United
Kingdom. Payoneer Inc. also acts as an Online Payment Gateway Service Provider (OPGSP) approved by the Reserve Bank of India, for the purpose of facilitating
the collection of cross-border payments for Indian residents. This list is not exhaustive, as there are numerous other regulatory agencies that have or may assert
jurisdiction. The laws and regulations applicable to the payments industry in any given jurisdiction are subject to interpretation and change.

Numerous laws and regulations govern the payments industry in the U.S. and internationally. Various aspects of our business are, may become, or may be
viewed by regulators from time to time as subject, directly or indirectly, to U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations. As a cross-border digital payment
platform, our business includes the facilitation, through our network of bank and local payment partners, of the acceptance and/or payout of funds. As such, we are
subject to laws, rules, regulations, policies and legal interpretations in the markets in which we operate, including (but not limited to) those governing payment
services (including payment processing and settlement services), stored value, cross-border and domestic money transmission, factoring, foreign exchange, banking
secrecy, anti-money laundering, and counter-terrorist financing. The legal and regulatory requirements applicable to us are extensive, complex, frequently changing,
and increasing in number, and may impose overlapping and/or conflicting requirements or obligations. For example, Payoneer serves customers that are located in
China by providing the offshore/non-resident part of the service under the regulatory framework of Payoneer Inc., while the local settlement leg in China is supported
by Payoneer partners that are entities regulated by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) and the State Administration of Foreign Exchange. These local partners
include local banks and payment service providers. We are actively monitoring recently announced PBOC regulatory changes under which we understand the PBOC
will require foreign companies providing certain services to have a local license at a time to be determined by the PBOC. Accordingly, we have been working to obtain
a local license through the acquisition of a local licensed entity. As described elsewhere in this Annual Report, in August 2023 Payoneer (Guangzhou) Commerce
Services Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement to purchase a locally licensed non-bank payments institution. The closing
of this acquisition is subject to governmental registrations and approvals and customary closing conditions.
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We are also subject to laws and regulations that apply to businesses in general, such as those relating to employment, consumer protection, data protection and
privacy, worker confidentiality obligations and taxation. As an online business, we are also subject to laws and regulations governing the internet, such as those
relating to intellectual property ownership and infringement, trade secrets, the distribution of electronic communications, search engines and internet tracking
technologies, and could be affected by potential changes to laws and regulations that affect the growth, popularity or use of the internet, including with respect to net
neutrality and taxation on the use of the internet or e-commerce transactions.

Compliance with KYC Requirements. The licensed entities of Payoneer are subject to regulations related to customer identification in the jurisdictions in which
they onboard customers. We are committed to preventing the use of our financial products by persons who seek to launder the proceeds of criminal activity, finance
terrorism, or conduct other criminal acts. Payoneer makes reasonable efforts appropriate to the circumstances to know and verify its customers and to monitor
customer activity.

The KYC program is a critical component of the AML/CTF Program. KYC embodies the concept that, in order to identify what is unusual activity for a customer,
one must have established a sufficient understanding of what is usual and expected activity, consistent with the purpose and intended usage of the account
relationship. Activity that is outside the norm or inconsistent with an institution’s understanding may be suspicious and require reporting to the appropriate authorities.

Payoneer’s KYC program includes: (i) policies and procedures for collecting and verifying information on the identity of customers; (ii) policies and procedures for
gathering further information about customers to gain a better understanding of the relationship and anticipated transaction activity, including a periodic review of the
customer’s account information; and (iii) policies and procedures for monitoring customer activity throughout the lifecycle of the relationship.

Our Customer Approval Policy is informed by our AML/CTF Risk Assessment, which determines the level of AML/CTF risk posed to Payoneer by its product
offerings, customer base, business geographies, distribution channels, and technologies, as well as the effectiveness of Payoneer’s compliance-related controls,
policies, and procedures in mitigating these risks. Such risks stem from applicable legal/regulatory requirements, the nature of Payoneer products/services (including
features, customers and geographic reach) and the record of actual performance of the Payoneer AML/CTF compliance program. These risks are mitigated, among
other controls, by the KYC controls and requirements outlined in this document.

The Customer Approval Policy constitutes an integral part of Payoneer’s AML/CTF program and outlines our responsibilities with respect to applicable KYC
requirements as detailed in pertinent US laws, regulations, and statutes, including the Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”), the USA PATRIOT Act, and in the relevant laws,
regulations, and statutes of jurisdictions where Payoneer holds a local license.

Data Protection & Privacy Regulations. We collect, process, store, share, disclose, transfer, retain and/or use personal information and other data in
connection with conducting our business, including for purposes of marketing our services and products via phone, email and text messages and pursuant to
applicable requirements we are subject to, to verify the identity of our customers. Consequently, our business is subject globally to a number of complex laws and
regulations governing data privacy and security, including with respect to such collection, processing, storage, sharing, disclosure, transfer, retention and use of
personal information and other data.

The data privacy and protection laws and regulations to which our business is subject may apply to personal information and data concerning our customers,
employees or other third parties who interact with us, and include the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (as amended, including by the California Privacy
Rights Act of 2020 and the California Consumer Privacy Act Regulations), the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, the CAN-SPAM Act,
Canada Anti-Spam Law, the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, Section 5(c) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, the European Union’s General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR), and other laws, enactments, regulations or orders transposing, implementing, adopting, supplementing or derogating from, the GDPR in each
European Economic Area Member State, including the Irish Data Protection Act 2018, the UK retained EU law version of GDPR as defined in the Data Protection Act
2018, and as amended from time to time (UK GDPR), the European e-Privacy Directive currently implemented through national European laws, the Data Security
Law of the People's Republic of China, the Personal Information Protection Law of the People's Republic of China, Brazil’s Lei Geral de Proteção de Dados Pessoais
(LGPD), the Australian Privacy Act of 1988, Singapore Personal Data Protection Act 2012, Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Japan’s Act on the
Protection of Personal Information, and other data protection or privacy legislation in force from time to time. These laws and their implementing regulations generally
restrict certain collection, processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal information, require notice to individuals of privacy practices, and provide individuals
with certain rights to
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prevent use and disclosure of protected information. These laws also impose requirements for the safeguarding and proper destruction of personal information and
may impose obligations to provide notification of security breaches affecting personal information.

The burdens imposed by these and other laws and regulations that may be enacted, or by new interpretations of existing laws and regulations, may require us,
from time to time, to modify our data processing practices, agreements and policies and to incur substantial costs in order to comply with this ever-evolving regulatory
landscape. We implement a variety of technical and organizational security measures and other measures to protect the data we process, including data pertaining to
our customers, employees, business partners, and other third parties, but despite the measures we put in place, we may be unable to anticipate or prevent
unauthorized access to such data.

Additionally, such laws and regulations may be inconsistent across jurisdictions or conflict with other rules. The applicability of these laws and regulations to us,
and their scope and interpretation, are often uncertain, particularly with respect to laws and regulations outside the United States. Because the laws and regulations
governing payment services and data privacy and security are constantly evolving and striving to keep pace with innovations in technology and media, it is possible
that we may need to materially alter the way we conduct some parts of our business activities or we may be prohibited from conducting such activities altogether at
some point in the future. For additional information regarding some of the risks relating to data privacy and security, see “Risk factors - Regulatory Risks Related to
Payoneer - Our business is subject to complex and evolving regulations and oversight, in relation to privacy and data protection. Failure to comply with applicable data
protection laws and regulations could subject us to fines and reputational harm and could materially adversely affect our results of operations.”

Human Capital

We are a company for entrepreneurs built by entrepreneurs. The people who work at Payoneer define Payoneer and help us to deliver on our mission – to enable
our customers to participate in the global economy. As of December 31, 2023, our workforce consisted of approximately 2,167 people (including full-time, part-time
and temporary employees and full-time consultants) in 39 locations across 34 countries, of which approximately 60% are located in Israel. In addition, we also engage
contractors to support our operations. Our team draws from a broad spectrum of backgrounds and experiences across technology, financial services and other areas.

Our Global Team and Culture

We believe the employees and culture of Payoneer are critical to our success and our ability to grow our business, support our customers and partners, and
deliver shareholder value. We celebrate diversity and the cultures of the world represented by our customers and employees. Our goal is to create an environment in
which each employee feels comfortable being exactly who they are, where they are connected to something bigger than themselves and are given the support and
opportunity to be the best they can be. We foster an environment that is defined by tolerance and caring for our fellow employees and our customers.

Employee Wellness and Development

Our employees are our most valuable strength at Payoneer, so we invest heavily in attracting and retaining our talented employees. We are highly focused on the 
health, safety and wellbeing of our employees, providing them with access to a wide-reaching support network that prioritizes both physical and mental health and 
wellness. For example, we offer counseling and support through a Global Employee Assistance Program (EAP), participation in wellness and gym benefits, and a 
broad range of health care and other benefits. 

We also offer a global mentor program to provide increased opportunities for career growth and development, to enhance leadership skills, and promote cross-
functional networking.

Total Rewards

Payoneer is a people-centric company that rewards employees for our shared success. From a total rewards perspective, Payoneer offers a compensation and
benefits package that is scalable, sustainable and equitable. The principle behind our total rewards approach is to attract, retain and engage top talent in a manner
that will drive desired behaviors and increase business performance while nurturing the wellbeing of our employees. In so doing, we have built a pay for performance
rewards strategy and also a governed framework that measures and monitors total rewards expenses in a fiscally responsible manner. Our annual compensation
planning
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takes place right after our year-end performance review process where employees and managers share feedback to facilitate professional and career development
and set professional and development goals for the year to come.

Payoneer’s Global Week of Good

Our workforce is passionate about serving the communities in which we live, work and operate. Our employees invest their time to make a positive social impact
on those most in need. The success of our inaugural Global Day of Good in 2022 showed us that our team members are enthusiastic about volunteering. As a result,
we expanded the breadth of these initiatives and, in November 2023, we launched our first Global Week of Good (GWOG).

Intellectual Property

The protection of our intellectual property rights is an important aspect of our business, and substantially all of our material intellectual property rights are currently
developed in-house. We rely on a combination of trade secrets and know-how, trademark and copyright laws, confidentiality agreements, and technical measures to
establish, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights and technology, including our brand and platform. We have registered our brand name as a trademark
and domain names, in each case, in the United States and a number of other jurisdictions. We do not have any issued patents.

We consider our digital payment platform, which provides payment, financial, merchant, working capital and other services to companies, marketplaces, e-
commerce sellers, freelancers, and others, to be our proprietary technology. The development and management of our platform require sophisticated coordination
among many specialized employees. We believe that duplication of this coordination by competitors or individuals seeking to copy our platform would be difficult. To
protect our technology and our platform, we implement multiple layers of security and provide our service offerings from duplicate data centers in two jurisdictions.

We also enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and enter into confidentiality agreements with third parties to control
access to, and the use and disclosure of, our confidential information. However, our contractual provisions may not always be effective at preventing unauthorized
parties from obtaining our intellectual property rights and proprietary technologies or disclosing our confidential information. Likewise, intellectual property laws,
procedures, and restrictions provide only limited protection and any of our intellectual property or proprietary rights may be challenged, invalidated, circumvented,
infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated. For additional information regarding some of the risks relating to our intellectual property rights, see “Risk factors -
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry.”

Available Information

Our website is www.payoneer.com. The information found on, or that can be accessed from or that is hyperlinked to, our website is not part of or incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We file or furnish annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You
may obtain a copy of any of these reports, free of charge, from the Investors Relations section of our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically
file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site that also contains these reports at: www.sec.gov. In addition, copies of our annual
report will be made available, free of charge, on written request to us.

Business Combination with FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp.

On June 25, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation consummated a Reorganization with us (the “Reorganization”).
In connection with the closing of the Reorganization, we changed our name to Payoneer Global Inc. and became a publicly traded company.

References to the Reorganization Agreement shall mean that certain Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated February 3, 2021 (as amended on February
16, 2021, May 10, 2021 and June 22, 2021, the “Reorganization Agreement”), by and among FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp., New Starship Parent Inc. (later
renamed Payoneer Global Inc.), Starship Merger Sub I Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of New Starship Parent Inc., Starship Merger Sub II
Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of New Starship Parent Inc., and Payoneer Inc.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should be aware of in evaluating our business. If any such risks and uncertainties actually
occur, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. The risks described below are not the only risks
that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us, or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations. The risk factors described below should be read together with the other information set forth in this Annual
Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, as well as in other documents that we file with the SEC.

Summary of the Material Risks Associated with Our Business

These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

● Our business depends on our strong and trusted brand, and failure to maintain and protect our brand, or any damage to our reputation, or the reputation
of our partners, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

● Our success depends on our ability to develop products and services to address or adapt to the rapidly evolving markets that we serve, and if we are not
able to implement successful enhancements and new features for our platform, products and services, we could lose customers or have trouble attracting
new customers, and our ability to grow may be limited.

● Substantial and increasingly intense competition in the worldwide financial services and payments industry, including on pricing and payment alternatives,
could materially adversely affect our margins, business and results of operations. Competitive activity by our partners and enterprise customers that
insource payment services or directly compete against our services could materially adversely affect our business.

● If we are unable to renew marketplace and enterprise customer contracts or to adjust certain contract components at favorable terms or we lose a
significant enterprise or marketplace customer, or if an e-commerce marketplace were to prevent our customers from using our services to receive
payments from such marketplace, our results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

● We are subject to risks associated with changes in interest rates, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations.
● Our failure to manage our customer funds properly could materially harm our business.
● Declines in e-commerce utilization generally, and any factors that reduce cross-border trade or cross-border digital commerce, make such trade or

commerce more difficult or diminish e-commerce sales and/or limit activity of e-commerce marketplaces, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

● Inflation can have a material adverse effect on our business and our customers.
● Failure to effectively deal with bad, fraudulent or fictitious transactions and material internal or external fraud could materially negatively impact our

business.
● Use of our payment services for illegal purposes could materially harm our business.
● Because we rely on third parties to provide services, including financial institutions and payment service providers, we could be materially adversely

impacted if they fail to fulfill their obligations or if our arrangements with them are terminated and suitable replacements cannot be found on commercially
reasonable terms or at all.

● If we fail to comply with the applicable rules and policies of the payment network card schemes or the terms of a payment network card scheme license,
they could seek to fine us, suspend us or terminate our participation license, which could materially adversely affect our business.

● If we fail to comply with the applicable requirements of our counterparty financial institutions and banking partners, they could seek to suspend or
terminate our accounts, which could materially adversely affect our business.

● Our business may be materially adversely affected by geopolitical and other risks associated with global operations. As we continue to expand
internationally, including within emerging markets, we may become more susceptible to these risks.

● Cyberattacks and security vulnerabilities could result in material harm to our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations, and
unauthorized disclosure, destruction or modification of data, through cybersecurity breaches, computer viruses or otherwise, or disruption of our services,
could expose us to liability and/or damage our reputation.
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● Our systems and our third-party providers’ systems may be subject to system failures or capacity constraints, and resulting interruptions in the availability
of our platform, products, or services, including the accessibility of our solutions through mobile devices, could materially harm our business.

● Our business is subject to laws, rules, regulations, policies and legal interpretations in the markets in which we operate, including (but not limited to)
those governing cross-border and domestic money transmission, foreign exchange, privacy, data protection, banking secrecy, deposit taking, factoring,
stored value and payment services (including payment processing and settlement services). The legal and regulatory requirements applicable to us are
extensive, complex, frequently changing, and increasing in number, and may impose overlapping and/or conflicting requirements or obligations.

● As a significant portion of our revenue is generated from China, any negative impact to our ability to serve customers based in China could materially
adversely affect our results and exacerbate the other risks set forth herein.

● Failure to comply with anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, economic and trade sanctions regulations and similar laws, could subject us to penalties and
other material adverse consequences.

● The trading market for our common stock may be volatile, and the market price and trading volume of our common stock may fluctuate materially.

The summary risk factors described above should be read together with the text of the full risk factors below and in the other information set forth in this Annual
Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, as well as in other documents that we file with the SEC. If any such risks and
uncertainties actually occur, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. The risks summarized above
or described in full below are not the only risks that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us, or that we currently deem to be immaterial
may also materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our business depends on our strong and trusted brand, and failure to maintain and protect our brand, or any damage to our reputation, or the reputation
of our partners, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We have developed a strong and trusted brand that has contributed significantly to the success of our business. We believe that maintaining and promoting our
brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our products and services and expanding our base of customers.

Maintaining and promoting our brand will depend largely on our ability to continue to provide useful, reliable, secure, and innovative products and services, as well
as our ability to maintain trust and remain a global payments leader. We may introduce, or make changes to, features, products, services, privacy practices, pricing, or
terms of service that customers do not like, which may materially adversely affect our brand. Our brand promotion activities may not generate customer awareness or
increase revenue, and even if they do, any increase in revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and
maintain our brand or if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, our business could be materially adversely affected.

We rely on relationships with marketplaces and enterprises to obtain and maintain customers. Our ability to acquire new customers could be materially harmed if
we are unable to enter into or maintain these relationships on terms that are commercially reasonable to us, or at all.

Harm to our brand can arise from many sources, including failure by us or our partners and service providers to satisfy expectations of service and quality,
inadequate protection or misuse of personally identifiable information (“PII”), compliance failures and claims, litigation and other claims, and misconduct by our
partners or other counterparties. We have been, from time to time and, may in the future be, the target of incomplete, inaccurate, and misleading or false statements
about our company and our business that could damage our brand and deter customers from adopting our services. Any negative publicity about our industry or our
company, the quality and reliability of our products and services, our compliance and risk management processes, changes to our products and services, our ability to
effectively manage and resolve customer complaints, our privacy, data protection, and information security practices, litigation, regulatory licensing and infrastructure,
and the experience of our customers with our products or services could adversely affect our reputation and the confidence in and use of our products and services. If
we do not successfully maintain a strong and trusted brand, our business could be materially adversely affected.
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Our success depends on our ability to develop products and services to address or adapt to the rapidly evolving markets that we serve, and if we are not
able to implement successful enhancements and new features for our platform, products and services, we could lose customers or have trouble
attracting new customers, and our ability to grow may be limited.

The markets for our products and services are characterized by constant and rapid technological changes, frequent introduction of new products and services,
and increasing customer expectations. Our ability to update our platform, to enhance our current products and services and to develop and introduce innovative
products and services can significantly affect our future success. We may not be successful in developing, marketing or selling new products and services or in
updating our platform in a way that meets these demands or achieve market acceptance. We must anticipate and respond to these changes in order to remain
competitive within our relevant markets. For example, our ability to provide innovative technology to our customers could have an impact on our pricing and the
continued use of our platform, and new services and technologies that we develop may be impacted by industry-wide solutions and standards related to safety and
security technologies and various regulatory requirements.

If we are unable to anticipate or respond or adapt to technological or regulatory changes or evolving industry standards and demands on a timely basis, our ability
to remain competitive could be materially adversely affected. In addition, the success of certain of our products and services relies, in part, on marketplaces and other
third parties offering or allowing the use of our products and services by their customers. If we are unsuccessful in offering products or services that gain market
acceptance and compete effectively, or if marketplaces cease to offer or allow our products and services to their merchants or refuse to pay their merchants through
our products and services, it would likely have a material adverse effect on our ability to retain existing customers, to attract new ones and to grow profitably.

Substantial and increasingly intense competition in the worldwide financial services and payments industry, including on pricing and payment
alternatives, could materially adversely affect our margins, business and results of operations. Competitive activity by our partners and enterprise
customers that insource payment services or directly compete against our services could materially adversely affect our business.

The global payments industry is highly competitive, rapidly changing, highly innovative, and increasingly subject to regulatory scrutiny and oversight. We compete
against a wide range of businesses, including those that are larger than we are, serve consumers as well as businesses to increase revenues, have greater name
recognition, longer operating histories, or a dominant or more secure position, or offer other products and services to customers that we do not offer, as well as
smaller or younger companies that may be more agile in responding quickly to regulatory and technological changes. Many of the areas in which we compete evolve
rapidly with changing and disruptive technologies, shifting user needs, and frequent introductions of new products and services. Competition also may intensify as
businesses enter into business combinations and partnerships, which may include periods of exclusivity, and established companies in other segments expand to
become competitive with different aspects of our business.

In addition, our competitors that are financial institutions or are affiliated with financial institutions may not incur banking fees in connection with providing services
similar to ours. Accordingly, these competitors may be able to offer more attractive fees to our current and prospective customers or other services that we do not
provide. Competition could result in a loss of existing customers, and greater difficulty attracting new customers. Furthermore, if competition causes us to reduce the
fees we charge in order to attract or retain customers, there is no assurance we can successfully control our costs in order to maintain our profit margins. One or more
of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

There are a number of payment service providers that offer global payment services, including global treasury banks that serve large corporate accounts; small
local banks that focus on serving local SMBs; FX companies that focus on serving SMB importers and exporters; global digital payment platforms like PayPal, Ant
Group or Wise; global card networks; Neobanks; SMB-focused business-to-business (“B2B”) payment providers like Bill.com; mass payout service providers that
specialize in providing services to enterprises and marketplaces, SMB AP/AR SaaS providers; merchant service providers that sell services to marketplaces like
Adyen, Braintree and Stripe; and local payment service providers that focus on enabling SMBs in one or more local markets to sell on digital marketplaces globally. In
addition, in certain locations, such as China, we face competition from a number of local payment providers.

We are also facing competitive pressure from non-traditional payment service providers and other parties entering the payments industry, such as Google, Apple,
Alibaba, Amazon and Facebook, who compete in one or more of the functions performed on our payment platform. These companies have significant financial
resources and robust networks and are highly regarded by consumers. If these companies gain a greater share of total e-commerce payment transactions or if we are
unable to successfully react to changes in the industry spurred by the entry of these new market participants, it could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. In addition, cryptocurrencies like Bitcoin and Ethereum; blockchain based payment systems like
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Ripple; and central bank digital currencies, all have the potential to be used to support cross-border payments and could offer alternatives to businesses and other
users and become more significant competition in the future.

If we are not able to differentiate our products and services from those of our competitors, provide added-value to our customers, or effectively and efficiently align
our resources with our goals and objectives, we may not be able to compete effectively in the market.

If we are unable to renew marketplace and enterprise customer contracts or to adjust certain contract components at favorable terms or we lose a
significant enterprise or marketplace customer, or if an e-commerce marketplace were to prevent our customers from using our services to receive
payments from such marketplace, our results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

A portion of our revenues is derived from SMBs that sell on or through large marketplaces and enterprise customers ecosystems. The loss of business associated
or connected with a large marketplace or ecosystem could materially harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. For example, the payments our
customers received from Amazon marketplaces around the world generated 25% of our revenues during the year ended December 31, 2023, and accordingly,
should Amazon change its requirements, impose restrictions on sellers on its platform, or alter our status as an approved payment service provider, our financial
condition and results of operations may be materially adversely impacted. For more information, please see Note 2 – Significant Accounting Policies, “Concentration
of Risks”, to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8-Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this report.

To the extent we renew our existing marketplace and enterprise customer contracts or are required to adjust certain terms or components in existing contracts,
such renewals or adjustments may be on less favorable terms than our existing contracts, which can materially impact revenue, expenses, profitability, and earnings.
For example, in some cases, including arrangements with large enterprise customers, we earn fees at a prescribed rate for only a portion of the contract term and
may renegotiate the rate of fees for the remainder of the term. Additionally, with certain of our enterprise customers, we utilize certain incentive structures to
compensate the marketplace or enterprise for customer acquisition. As a result, the nature and profitability of these arrangements can vary throughout the periods of
their term. Due to the variety of our arrangements with customers, and the different components, variability exists which can materially impact revenue, expenses,
profitability, and earnings.

Our growth to date has been partially driven by the growth of our customers’ businesses. Should the rate of growth of our customers’ business slow or decline,
this could have a material adverse effect on volumes processed and therefore on our results of operations. In addition, we experience customer attrition as a result of
several factors, including business closures, transfers of customer accounts to our competitors and account closures that we initiate. We cannot predict the level of
attrition in the future and our revenues could decline as a result of higher than expected attrition, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Furthermore, should we not be successful in selling additional solutions, we may fail to achieve our desired rate of growth.

We have a history of net losses, and we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

While we recorded net income for the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred net losses of $12.0 million and $34.0 million in the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. We intend to continue to make significant capital and marketing investments in our business to support and drive growth. Each initiative
may not result in increased revenue or growth on a timely basis or at all. Such initiatives include increasing spending on new and existing products and services. If we
are unable to generate adequate revenue growth and manage our expenses, our results of operations and operating metrics may fluctuate and we may incur material
losses, which could cause the market price of our common stock to materially decline.

We are subject to risks associated with changes in interest rates, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

A portion of our earnings are derived from interest income earned on both corporate funds and customer funds. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors
that are beyond our control, including general economic conditions and the policies of various governmental and regulatory agencies and, of particular relevance for
us, the Federal Reserve. Between 2022 and 2023, the Federal Reserve raised the benchmark interest rate by 525 basis points, which benefitted our earnings during
the year ended December 31, 2023. Any future decline in interest rate levels (as currently anticipated by investment professionals and the Federal Reserve to begin
occurring in 2024) and/or customer balances may reduce our ability to earn interest income on customer balances and/or corporate funds. While any such decline in
interest rates may, generally speaking, be expected to encourage growth in economic activity, including consumer and business spending, this may not be sufficient
to offset any adverse effect on our results of operations.
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Our failure to manage our customer funds properly could materially harm our business.

We hold a substantial amount of funds belonging to our customers, including balances in customer accounts and funds in process of being remitted, at third party
financial institutions. We hold, and in certain jurisdictions are required to hold and segregate, eligible liquid assets equal to at least 100% of the aggregate amount of
all customer funds held by our licensed entities. Our ability to manage and accurately account for the assets underlying our customer funds and comply with
applicable liquid asset requirements and applicable regulations requires a high level of internal controls. As our business continues to grow and we expand our
product offerings, we must continue to strengthen our associated internal controls. Our success requires our customers’ confidence in our ability to properly manage
customer balances and handle large and growing transaction volumes and amounts of customer funds. Any failure to maintain the necessary controls or to
appropriately manage our customer funds in compliance with applicable regulatory requirements could result in reputational harm, lead customers to discontinue or
reduce their use of our products, and result in significant penalties and fines and additional restrictions, which could materially harm our business.

Since we hold the funds underlying our customer balances with multiple banks globally, we are also subject to the risk described elsewhere in this Risk Factor
section that relates to the reliance on services provided by third parties

In addition, since we transfer large amounts of funds for our customers, our trustworthiness and reputation are fundamental to our business. The occurrence of
any operational disruptions or errors due to, for example, software defects, service disruptions, employee misconduct, security breaches, or other similar actions,
omissions or errors on our platform could result in material financial losses to our business and our customers, damage to our reputation, or termination of our
agreements with financial institutions and partners, each of which could result in loss of customers; lost or delayed market acceptance and sales of our platform; legal
claims against us; regulatory enforcement action; or diversion of our resources, including through increased service expenses or financial concessions, and increased
insurance costs. There can be no assurance that the insurance we maintain will be available or sufficient to cover any losses. If we suffer significant losses or
reputational harm as a result, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Declines in e-commerce utilization generally, and any factors that reduce cross-border trade or cross-border digital commerce, make such trade or
commerce more difficult or diminish e-commerce sales and/or limit activity of e-commerce marketplaces, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We generate significant portions of our volume by processing online payments from marketplaces and e-commerce platforms to merchants and from merchants’
utilization of the payments they receive. Any decline in e-commerce utilization could materially adversely affect our business. The extent of such impact will depend
on a variety of highly uncertain factors that could lead to a decrease in e-commerce utilization, including general macroeconomic trends and global economic
conditions, such as inflation and recessionary conditions impacting business and consumer spending, changes in government regulation, users’ access to the
internet, user preference, consumer behavior, actual or perceived online security concerns or the effects of widespread health epidemics. For example, the COVID-19
pandemic drove a shift in buying patterns from brick and mortar stores to e-commerce, while the reopening of economies, coupled with inflation, supply chain
disruptions and consumer purchasing behavior changes, drove a softening in e-commerce growth rates.

In addition, cross-border trade (i.e., transactions where the merchant and buyer are in different countries) is imperative to our business as a source of revenue
and profits. Cross-border transactions generally provide payment providers higher revenues and operating income than similar transactions that take place within a
single country or market. Cross-border trade also represents our primary (and in some cases, our only) presence in certain important markets. Cross-border trade is
subject to, and may be negatively impacted by, foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations as well as other macro-economic conditions and governmental and other
actions that restrict or otherwise impact such cross-border trade. In addition, the interpretation and application of laws of multiple jurisdictions (e.g., the jurisdiction of
the merchant and of the buyer) are often extremely complicated in the context of cross-border trade and foreign exchange. Changes to or the interpretation and/or
application of laws and regulations applicable to cross-border trade and foreign exchange could further impose additional requirements and restrictions, increase
costs, and present conflicting obligations. Any factors that increase the costs of cross-border trade for us or our customers or that restrict, delay, or make cross-border
trade more difficult or impractical, such as trade policy or higher tariffs, and general macroeconomic trends and global economic conditions, could reduce our cross-
border transactions and volume, materially and negatively impact our revenues and profits and materially harm our business.
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Inflation can have a material adverse effect on our business and our customers.

Inflation can have a major impact on our operations. Inflation decreases the value of money and can erode the purchasing power of individuals and businesses,
making it more difficult for them to afford goods and services, and requiring them to spend a larger share of their wallet on essential purchases. Therefore, the growth
in the e-commerce market and cross border-trading may be adversely affected by a high inflation environment, such as the one seen in the U.S. in recent years, and
subsequently the volumes flowing through our platforms and earnings can be materially adversely impacted. Additionally, high or rapidly increasing inflation can also
lead to uncertainty and instability in financial markets in general, which can materially adversely impact our financial performance.

Global pandemics and other major public health crises may materially impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

 Global pandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, and other global public health issues may adversely and variably impact our operations and the operations 
of our customers and business partners locally and globally, and therefore our business, results of operations, and financial condition. For example, during the height 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, we were adversely affected by a decline in global travel and volatile global economy, while at the same time benefited from an increase in 
e-commerce transactions. The extent and materiality of such impact will depend on developments that are highly uncertain and difficult to predict, including, but not 
limited to, the duration, location and spread of an outbreak or crises, its severity, the actions to contain the pandemic or crises or treat its impact, the way an outbreak 
and the remedial measures taken in response affect consumer sentiment and spending behavior, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating 
conditions can resume. 

As our revenue has increased, our growth rate has slowed at times in the past and may slow or decline in the future. Future revenue growth depends on
our ability to retain existing customers, attract new customers, and increase sales to both new and existing customers.

Our rate of revenue growth has slowed at times in the past and may decline in the future, and it may slow or decline more quickly or materially than we expect for
a variety of reasons, including as a result of the risks described herein. Our customers have no obligation to continue to use our services, and we cannot assure you
that they will. The difficulty and costs associated with switching to a competitor may not be significant for many of the services we offer. Our customers’ payment
processing activity with us may decrease for a variety of reasons, including customers’ level of satisfaction with our products and services, our pricing and the pricing
and quality of competing products or services, the effects of global economic conditions, or reductions in the level of buyers transacting with our customers.

In addition, the growth of our business depends in part on existing customers expanding their use of our products and services. If we are unable to encourage
customers to broaden their use of our services, our growth may slow or stop, and our business may be materially adversely affected. The growth of our business also
depends on our ability to attract new customers, to encourage larger customers to use our products and services, and to introduce successful new products and
services. We have invested and will continue to invest in improving our platform in order to offer better or new features, products and services, but if those features,
products and services fail to be successful, our growth may materially slow or decline.

Failure to effectively deal with bad, fraudulent or fictitious transactions and material internal or external fraud could materially negatively impact our
business.

We have been, and may in the future be, subject to liability for fraudulent transactions, including electronic payments and card transactions or credits initiated by
customers. Examples of fraud include when a party knowingly uses a stolen or counterfeit credit, debit or prepaid card, card number or other credentials to record a
false sales transaction, processes an invalid card or intentionally fails to deliver the merchandise or services sold in an otherwise valid transaction. In addition, we are
subject to the risk that our employees, counterparties or third-party service providers commit fraudulent activity against us or our customers. Criminals are using
increasingly sophisticated methods to engage in illegal activities such as counterfeiting, account takeover and fraud. It is possible that incidents of fraud could
increase in the future. Failure to effectively manage risk and prevent fraud, or otherwise effectively administer our chargeback responsibilities, would increase our
chargeback liability, exposure to fines or other liabilities. Increases in chargebacks, fines or other liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.
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Use of our payment services for illegal purposes could materially harm our business.

Our payment system is susceptible to potentially illegal or improper uses, including money laundering, terrorist financing, illegal online gambling, fraudulent sales
of goods or services, illegal sales of marijuana and related business products, pharmaceuticals, cigarettes, weapons, obscene or pornographic materials, or the
facilitation of other illegal activity. The use of our payment system for illegal or improper uses has and may from time to time subject us to fines, claims, or government
and regulatory investigations, inquiries, or requests that could result in liability and reputational harm for us. Moreover, certain activity that may be legal in one
jurisdiction may be illegal in another jurisdiction, and a customer may be found responsible for intentionally or inadvertently importing or exporting illegal goods,
resulting in liability for us. Changes in applicable laws and regulations have increased the penalties for intermediaries providing payment services for certain illegal
activities, and government authorities may consider additional payments-related proposals from time to time. Owners of intellectual property or government authorities
may seek to bring legal action against providers of payments solutions, including Payoneer, that may provide payment services in connection with the sale of products
that actually or allegedly infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate intellectual property. Any threatened or resulting claims could result in reputational harm, and
any resulting liabilities, loss of transaction volume, or increased costs could materially harm our business.

Because we rely on third parties to provide services, including financial institutions and payment service providers, we could be materially adversely
impacted if they fail to fulfill their obligations or if our arrangements with them are terminated and suitable replacements cannot be found on
commercially reasonable terms or at all.

We depend on third-party service providers and vendors for certain products and services, including components of our computer systems, software, data
centers, risk tools and telecommunications networks, to conduct our business. Any changes in these systems that degrade the functionality of our products and
services, impose additional costs or requirements, or give preferential treatment to competitors’ services, including their own services, could materially adversely
affect usage of our products and services. We are also dependent on our relationships with a number of third-party financial institutions and payment processors for
services such as payment, processing and clearing and settlement for the transactions we service. In the event our agreement with a third-party financial institution or
non-financial institution is terminated, or if upon its expiration we are unable to renew the contract on terms favorable to us, or at all, it may be difficult for us to replace
these services which may materially adversely affect our operations and profitability. Some of these organizations and third-party service providers provide similar
services and technology to our competitors, and we do not have long-term or exclusive contracts with them.

Our systems and operations or those of our third-party service providers and software providers could be exposed to damage or interruption from, among other
things, fire, natural disaster, power loss, telecommunications failure, unauthorized entry, computer viruses, denial-of-service attacks, cyber attacks, acts of terrorism,
human error, vandalism or sabotage, financial insolvency, bankruptcy and similar events. In addition, we may be unable to renew our existing contracts with our most
significant service providers or they may stop providing or otherwise supporting the products and services we obtain from them, and we may not be able to obtain
these or similar products or services on the same or similar terms as our existing arrangements, if at all. The failure of our third-party service providers to perform their
obligations and provide the products and services we obtain from them in a timely manner for any reason could materially adversely affect our operations and
profitability due to, among other consequences: loss of revenues; loss of customer data, including PII; fines imposed by payment networks; harm to our business or
reputation resulting from negative publicity; exposure to fraud losses or other liabilities; additional operating and development costs; or diversion of management,
technical and other resources.

In addition, we depend on counterparty financial institutions and payment service providers to support our operations. We have significant amounts of cash, cash
equivalents, receivables and other current assets outstanding, including assets underlying our customer balances and other investments on deposit or in accounts
with banks or other financial institutions in the United States and other countries in which we operate. We regularly monitor our exposure to counterparty credit risk,
and actively manage this exposure to mitigate the associated risk. Despite these efforts, we may be, and have been, exposed to the risk of default by, or deteriorating
operating results or financial condition or failure of, these counterparty financial institutions. The risk of counterparty default, deterioration, or failure may be
heightened during economic downturns and periods of uncertainty in the financial markets. If one or more of our counterparties were to become insolvent or file for
bankruptcy, our ability to recover losses incurred as a result of default or to access or recover our assets that are deposited, held in accounts with, or otherwise due
from, such counterparty may be limited by the counterparty’s liquidity or the applicable laws governing the insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings, as has previously
occurred, and we could incur significant losses or suffer reputational damage, which could materially and negatively impact our results of operations and financial
condition.
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If we fail to comply with the applicable rules and policies of the payment network card schemes or the terms of a payment network card scheme license,
they could seek to fine us, suspend us or terminate our participation license, which could materially adversely affect our business.

Payoneer (through our subsidiaries), is licensed by Mastercard as a card issuer and is engaged with other Mastercard-licensed card issuers and is registered as
a card program manager. Payoneer is also (through subsidiaries) registered as a payment facilitator with Mastercard and Visa and is engaged and registered with
several acquirers as a merchant. As such, we are subject to card association and network rules that could subject us to a variety of fines or penalties that may be
levied by the card associations or networks for certain acts or omissions by us. In addition, we are subject to the Payment Card Industry (“PCI”) Data Security
Standard enforced by the major card brands, and are listed with Mastercard as an SDP compliant service provider.

The failure to comply with these rules can result in the imposition of monetary fines, which could be material, and our member registrations or certifications could
be suspended or terminated. The suspension or termination of our member registrations or certifications, or any changes to the association and network rules, that we
do not successfully address, or any other action by the card networks to restrict our ability to process transactions over such networks, could limit our ability to provide
transaction processing services to customers and result in a reduction of revenue or increased costs of operation, which, in either case, could have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Our removal from networks’ lists of Data Security Standard compliant service providers could mean that
existing customers, partners or other third parties may cease using or referring our services. Also, prospective customers, partners or other third parties may choose
not to consider us for their processing needs. In addition, the card networks could refuse to allow us to process through their networks. Any of the foregoing could
materially adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Changes to these network rules or how they are interpreted could have a material impact on our business and financial results. For example, from time to time,
card associations and debit networks, including the card networks which we operate under, increase the processing and other fees (including what is commonly
known as “interchange fees”) that they charge. It is possible that competitive pressures will result in us absorbing a portion of such increases in the future, or result in
us not being able to increase our own fees, which would increase our operating costs, reduce our profit margin, limit our growth, and may materially adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the various card associations and networks prescribe certain capital requirements. Any
increase in the capital level required would further limit our use of capital for other purposes. Future changes to or interpretations of the network rules that are
inconsistent with the way we currently operate may require us to make changes to our business that could be costly or difficult to implement. If we fail to make such
changes, the networks could pass on fines and assessments in respect of fraud or chargebacks related to our customers or disqualify us from processing transactions
if satisfactory controls are not maintained, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to comply with the applicable requirements of our counterparty financial institutions and banking partners, they could seek to suspend or
terminate our accounts, which could materially adversely affect our business.

We rely on agreements and relationships with banks and other financial institutions in jurisdictions in which we serve customers to collect, hold and disburse our
customers’ funds. These agreements and relationships with banks and financial institutions may give them substantial discretion in approving certain aspects of our
business practices, including our application and qualification procedures for customers and require us to comply with certain legal and operational requirements.

Our financial institution partners’ discretionary actions under these agreements and relationships could impose material limitations to, or have a material adverse
effect on, our business, financial condition and results of operations. Without these relationships, we would not be able to process payments or settle transactions in
relevant markets, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, our financial results could
be materially adversely affected if our costs associated with such relationships materially change or if any penalty or claim for damages is imposed as a result of our
breach of the agreement with them or their other requirements.
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Our business may be materially adversely affected by geopolitical and other risks associated with global operations. As we continue to expand
internationally, including within emerging markets, we may become more susceptible to these risks.

Our business is subject to risks associated with doing business internationally. Operating in or providing services to customers in foreign countries, including
Israel, Greater China and other Asian countries, Ukraine and other European countries, subjects us to multiple risks that may have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, including:

● geopolitical events, including acts of war, nationalism and terrorism, natural disasters, public health issues (such as the COVID-19 pandemic and its variants),
social unrest or human rights issues;

● differing local product preferences and product requirements;

● partial or total expropriation of international assets;

● economic sanctions and trade protection measures, including tariffs or import-export restrictions, or boycott;

● differing enforceability and protection of intellectual property and contract rights;

● different, uncertain, or more stringent user protection, data protection, privacy, and other laws; and

● potentially negative consequences from changes in or interpretations of tax laws or policies.

For example, the war in Ukraine and the subsequent economic sanctions imposed on Russia, Belarus and certain territories in Ukraine have, and may continue to
negatively impact our revenue derived from services provided to customers from impacted countries. In addition, our banking partners ceased their operations in
Russia, and subsequently we ceased to provide services to customers in Russia, and we have limited our payment services to Belarus customers. It is not possible to
predict the broader consequences of this conflict, but the continuation or further escalation of the conflict, along with any expansion to surrounding areas, may have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Additionally, approximately 60% of our global employee base, including certain management members and approximately 80% of our research and development
resources, are employed by our Israel subsidiary, Payoneer Research & Development Ltd. Accordingly, political, economic, military, and regional conflict conditions in
Israel and the surrounding region may directly affect our business and operations. In October 2023, in response to Hamas’ attack on Israel from the Gaza Strip, Israel
declared war on Hamas. Concurrently, hostilities between Israel and Hezbollah ensued in the northern border. The evolving conflict is likely to impact economic
activity in the region and could impact revenues from customers located in the region. Our operations could also be disrupted by the prolonged absence of a large
number of employees due to Israel military service call-ups. The situation in the region remains highly uncertain and there is the possibility that the conflict could
worsen or expand which could, in turn, further impact economic conditions in Israel and in the broader region. While revenues derived from customers based in Israel
were insignificant for the year ended December 31, 2023 and at this time, an insignificant portion of our Israeli workforce have been called to military reserve duty;
and while we have business continuity plans in place, including contingencies to cover impacted roles and technology infrastructure redundancy—any further
escalation, expansion, or prolonged continuation of the ongoing conflict has the potential to impact our operations as well as the broader global economy and may
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Violations of the complex foreign and United States laws, rules and regulations that apply to our international operations, including violations of any sanctions, can
result, as applicable, in fines, criminal actions, or sanctions against us, our officers, or our employees, or other enforcement actions; prohibitions or limits on the
conduct of our business; the diversion of operational resources; and damage to our reputation. Our policies and procedures may not be effective in preventing
violations by our employees, contractors, vendors or agents. These risks are inherent in our international operations and their expansion may increase our costs of
doing business internationally, and could materially harm our business, results, and reputation. In addition, we may from time to time undertake projects and make
investments in countries in which we have little or no previous investment or operating experience. We may not be able to fully or accurately assess the risks of
investing in such countries, or may be unfamiliar with the laws and regulations in such countries governing its investments and operations. As a result, we may be
unable to effectively implement our strategy in new jurisdictions. Investment opportunities in certain jurisdictions also may be restricted by legal limits on foreign
investment in local assets or classes of assets.
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We are dependent upon consumers’ continued and unimpeded access to the internet, and upon their willingness to use the internet for commerce.

Our success depends upon the general public’s ability to access the internet and its continued willingness to use the internet as a means to pay for purchases,
communicate, research and conduct commercial transactions, including through mobile devices. The adoption of any laws or regulations that adversely affect the
growth, popularity or use of the internet, including changes to laws or regulations impacting internet neutrality, could decrease the demand for our products and
services, increase our operating costs, or otherwise materially adversely affect our business. Given uncertainty around these rules, we could experience
discriminatory or anticompetitive practices that could impede both our and our merchants’ growth, increase our costs or materially adversely affect our business. If
consumers or merchants become unable, unwilling or less willing to use the internet for commerce for any reason, including lack of access to high-speed
communications equipment, congestion of traffic on the internet, internet outages or delays, disruptions or other damage to merchants’ and consumers’ computers,
increases in the cost of accessing the internet and security and privacy risks or the perception of such risks, our business could be materially adversely affected.

Cyberattacks and security vulnerabilities could result in material harm to our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations, and
unauthorized disclosure, destruction or modification of data, through cybersecurity breaches, computer viruses or otherwise, or disruption of our
services, could expose us to liability and/or damage our reputation.

We are subject to a number of legal requirements, regulations, contractual obligations and industry standards regarding security, data protection and privacy and
any failure to comply with these requirements, regulations, obligations or standards could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial
condition and operating results.

In conducting our business, we collect, process, transmit, store, use and share sensitive business information and PII about our customers, financial institution
partners, vendors, and other parties. This information may include account access credentials, credit and debit card numbers, bank account numbers, social security
numbers, passport/ID numbers, driver’s license numbers, names and addresses and other types of sensitive business information or PII, including copies of
documents thereof. Some of this information is also collected, processed, stored, used, shared and transmitted by our software and financial institution partners, third-
party service providers to whom we outsource certain functions and other vendors. We have certain responsibilities to payment networks and their member financial
institutions for any failure, including the failure of our associated third-party service providers, to protect this information. Information security risks for financial and
technology companies such as ours have significantly increased in recent years in part because of the proliferation of new technologies, the use of the Internet and
telecommunications technologies to conduct financial transactions, and the increased sophistication and activities of organized crime, hackers, terrorists and other
external parties. Because of our position in the payments value chain, we believe that we are likely to continue to be a target of such threats and attacks. Additionally,
geopolitical events and resulting government activity could also lead to information security threats and attacks by affected jurisdictions and their sympathizers. As
artificial intelligence capabilities continue to evolve, they may be used to identify vulnerabilities and craft sophisticated cybersecurity attacks. Vulnerabilities may be
introduced from the use of artificial intelligence by us, our customers, vendors and other business partners and third-party providers. If these attempts are successful
it could lead to the compromise of sensitive or confidential business information or PII.

In addition, our products, services and customers may themselves be targets of cyberattacks that attempt to sabotage or otherwise disable them, and the
defensive and preventative measures we take ultimately may not be able to effectively detect, prevent, or protect against or otherwise mitigate losses from all
cyberattacks. Any such breach or attack could compromise our platform, creating system disruptions or slowdowns and exploiting security vulnerabilities of our
products and services. Additionally, in case of such breach, the information stored on our platform could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost, or stolen, which could
subject us to substantial liability and cause us material financial harm. These breaches, or any perceived breach, may also result in damage to our reputation,
negative publicity, loss of key business relationships and sales, increased costs to remedy any problem (including repairing system damage, increasing security
protection costs by deploying additional personnel and modifying or enhancing our protection technologies and investigating and remediating any information security
vulnerabilities), regulatory inquiries and investigations, customer complaints and costly litigation and legal expenses, and may therefore adversely impact market
acceptance of our products and materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We have in the past, and may in the future, be the target of malicious third-party attempts to identify and exploit system vulnerabilities, and/or penetrate or bypass
our security measures, in order to gain unauthorized access to our platform and systems. If these attempts are successful it could lead to the compromise of sensitive
or confidential business information or PII. The systems and procedures we have in place to defend against intrusion and attack and to protect our data may not be
sufficient to counter all current and emerging technology threats.
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Our computer systems and the computer systems of our third-party service providers and software partners have been, and in the future could be, subject to
breaches, and our data protection measures may not prevent unauthorized access. While we believe the procedures and processes we have implemented to handle
an attack are adequate, the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently and are often difficult
to detect. In addition, increased remote operations creates an additional risk of attack while decreasing our ability to monitor. Threats to our systems and associated
third-party systems can originate from human error, fraud or malice on the part of employees or third-parties, or simply from accidental technological failure. Computer
viruses and other malware can be distributed and could infiltrate our systems or those of third-party service providers. In addition, denial of service attacks, phishing
scams, social engineering, ransomware theft, cyber-attacks created through or due to use of artificial intelligence or other attacks could be launched against us or our
customers for a variety of purposes, including to interfere with our services or create a diversion for other malicious activities. Our defensive measures and training
may not prevent unplanned downtime, unauthorized access or unauthorized use of sensitive business data or PII. While we maintain cyber errors and omissions
insurance coverage that covers certain aspects of cyber risks, our insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all losses. The successful assertion of one or more
large claims against us in this regard that exceed our available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium
increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our reputation and our business, financial
condition and results of operations. We also cannot ensure that our existing insurance coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or will be available
in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims related to a security incident or breach, or that the insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim.
Further, while we select our third-party service providers carefully, we do not control their actions. Any problems experienced by these third-parties, including those
resulting from breakdowns or other disruptions in the services provided by such parties or cyber-attacks and security breaches, could materially adversely affect our
ability to service our customers or otherwise conduct our business.

Further, use of technologies based on artificial intelligence by our employees, whether authorized or unauthorized, may increase the risk that PII, our intellectual
property and other proprietary information will be unintentionally disclosed, compromised, or that we may infringe on the intellectual property rights of others. We
could also be subject to liability for claims relating to misuse of PII, such as unauthorized marketing purposes and violation of consumer protection or data privacy
laws. In addition, federal, state and foreign rules and regulations may require us to notify individuals of data security incidents involving certain types of PII or
information technology systems. We cannot provide assurance that the contractual requirements related to security and privacy that we impose on our service
providers who have access to customer data will be followed or will be adequate to prevent the unauthorized use or disclosure of such data. In addition, we have
agreed in certain agreements to take certain protective measures to ensure the confidentiality of customer data. The costs of systems and procedures associated with
such protective measures may increase and could adversely affect our ability to compete effectively. Any failure to adequately enforce or provide these protective
measures could result in liability, protracted and costly litigation, governmental and card network intervention and fines and, with respect to misuse of PII of our
customers, lost revenue and reputational harm.

Any type of security breach, attack or misuse of data, whether experienced by us or an associated third-party, could harm our reputation or deter existing or
prospective customers from using our services, increase our operating expenses in order to contain and remediate the incident, expose us to unbudgeted or
uninsured liability, disrupt our operations (including potential service interruptions), divert management focus away from other priorities, increase our risk of regulatory
scrutiny, result in the imposition of penalties and fines under state, federal and foreign laws or by card schemes and adversely affect our regulatory licenses and
banking relationships. Further, if we were to be removed from networks’ lists of Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, our existing customers and financial
institution partners or other third parties may cease using our services.

Failure to protect, enforce and defend our intellectual property rights may diminish our competitive advantages or interfere with our ability to market and
promote our products and services and claims that we infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate third parties’ intellectual property rights could have a
material adverse effect on our business. We also use open-source software and may be subject to claims from licensors related to ownership and use
rights.

Our trademarks, trade names, trade secrets, know-how, proprietary technology and other intellectual property are important to our future success. We believe our
trademarks and trade names are widely recognized and associated with quality and reliable service. While it is our policy to protect and defend our intellectual
property rights vigorously, we cannot predict whether the steps we take to protect our intellectual property will be adequate to prevent infringement, misappropriation,
dilution or other potential violations of our intellectually property rights. We also cannot guarantee that others will not independently develop technology with the same
or similar functions to any proprietary technology we rely on to conduct our business and differentiate ourselves from our competitors. Unauthorized parties may also
attempt to copy or obtain and use our technology to develop applications with the same functionality as our solutions, and policing unauthorized use of our technology
and intellectual property rights is difficult and may not be effective.
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Furthermore, we have in the past and may in the future face trademark registration objections, or claims of infringement, misappropriation or other violation of third-
party intellectual property rights that could interfere with our ability to market and promote our brands, products and services. The risk of future claims of infringement
or misappropriation may increase as we deploy artificial intelligence capabilities within our platform. Any litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights or defend
ourselves against claims of infringement of third-party intellectual property rights, even those without merit and regardless of the outcome, could be costly, divert
attention of management and may not ultimately be resolved in our favor. Moreover, if we are unable to successfully defend against claims that we have infringed the
intellectual property rights of others, we may be prevented from using or required to redesign certain intellectual property, pay substantial amounts to satisfy
judgments or settle claims or lawsuits, obtain a license to continue commercializing or using the applicable technologies, products and services, pay substantial
royalty or licensing fees, satisfy indemnification obligations that we have with certain parties with whom we have commercial relationships, or may be liable for
damages, which in turn could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

While software and other of our proprietary works may be protected under copyright law, we have chosen not to register any copyrights in these works, and
instead, primarily rely on protecting our software as a trade secret. In order to bring a copyright infringement lawsuit in the United States, the copyright must be
registered with the United States Copyright Office. Accordingly, the remedies and damages available to us for unauthorized use of our software may be limited.

We attempt to protect our intellectual property and proprietary information by requiring our employees, consultants and certain of our contractors to execute
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements. However, we may not obtain these agreements in all circumstances, and individuals with whom we have these
agreements may not comply with their terms. The assignment of intellectual property rights under these agreements may not be self-executing or the assignment
agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership
of what we regard as our intellectual property. In addition, we may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical know-how or other trade
secrets by the parties to these agreements despite the existence generally of confidentiality agreements and other contractual restrictions. Monitoring unauthorized
uses and disclosures is difficult and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to protect our proprietary technologies will be effective.

In addition, we use open-source software in connection with our proprietary software and expect to continue to use open-source software in the future. Some
open-source licenses require licensors to provide source code to licensees upon request, prohibit licensors from charging a fee to licensees or require licensors to
make available any derivative works of the open-source code on unfavorable terms or at no cost, and we may be subject to such terms. While we try to insulate our
proprietary code from the effects of such open-source license provisions, we cannot guarantee we will be successful. Accordingly, we may face claims from others
claiming ownership of, or seeking to enforce the license terms applicable to such open-source software, including by demanding release of the open-source software,
derivative works or our proprietary source code that was developed or distributed with such software. In addition to risks related to license requirements, use of
certain open-source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open-source licensors generally do not provide warranties or
controls on the origin of software. There is little legal precedent in this area and any actual or claimed requirement to disclose our proprietary source code or pay
damages for breach of contract could materially harm our business and could help third parties, including our competitors, develop products and services that are
similar to or better than ours.

These claims could also result in litigation, require us to purchase a costly license or require us to devote additional research and development resources to
change our software, any of which could have a material negative effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, if the license terms for the open-
source code change, we may be forced to re-engineer our software or incur additional costs.

Our products and services may not function as intended due to errors in our or our third-party providers’ software, hardware, and systems, product
defects, or due to security breaches or human error in administering these systems, which could materially adversely affect our business.

Our services are based on sophisticated software and computer systems and we may encounter delays when developing new applications and services. Further,
our or our third-party providers’ software may contain undetected vulnerabilities, errors or defects. In addition, we may experience difficulties in installing or integrating
our technology on systems or with other programs used by our third-party providers. Defects in our or our third-party providers’ software, errors or delays in the
processing of electronic transactions or other difficulties could result in interruption of business operations, delay in market acceptance, additional development and
remediation costs, diversion of technical and other resources, loss of customers or customer data, negative publicity or exposure to
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liability claims. Although we attempt to limit our potential liability through disclaimers and limitation of liability provisions in our license and other agreements, we
cannot be certain that these measures will successfully limit our liability.

Additionally, electronic payment products and services, including ours, have been, and could continue to be in the future, specifically targeted and penetrated or
disrupted by hackers, as described elsewhere in this section. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to data, products, and services and to
disable, degrade, or sabotage them change frequently and may be difficult to detect or remediate for long periods of time, we and our customers may be unable to
anticipate these techniques to implement adequate preventative measures to stop them. If we, our customers or third-party service providers are unable to anticipate
or prevent these attacks, our customers’ businesses may be harmed, our reputation could be damaged, and we could incur significant liability.

Our systems and our third-party providers’ systems may be subject to system failures or capacity constraints, and resulting interruptions in the
availability of our platform, products, or services, including the accessibility of our solutions through mobile devices, could materially harm our business.

Our systems and those of our third-party providers, including data center facilities, may experience service interruptions, cyberattacks and other security
incidents, including as a result of human error, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, other natural disasters, power losses, disruptions in telecommunications
services, fraud, military or political conflicts, terrorist attacks and other geopolitical unrest, computer viruses, changes in social, political or regulatory conditions or in
laws and policies, or other changes or events. Our systems and facilities are also subject to break-ins, sabotage, and acts of vandalism. Some of our systems are not
fully redundant, and our disaster-recovery planning is not sufficient for all eventualities. In addition, as a provider of payments solutions and other financial services,
we are subject to increased scrutiny by regulators that may require specific business continuity and disaster recovery plans and more rigorous testing of such plans.
This increased scrutiny may be costly and time-consuming and may divert our resources from other business priorities.

We have experienced and will likely continue to experience denial-of-service and other cyberattacks, system failures, security incidents, and other events or
conditions that interrupt the availability or reduce the speed or functionality of our products and services. These events may result in material loss of revenue. In
addition, they could result in significant expense to repair or replace damaged equipment and remedy resultant data loss or corruption. A prolonged interruption in the
availability or reduction in the speed or other functionality of our products or services could materially harm our reputation and business. Frequent or persistent
interruptions in our products and services could cause customers to believe that our products and services are unreliable, leading them to switch to our competitors or
to avoid our products and services, and could permanently harm our reputation and business. Moreover, to the extent that any system failure or similar event results
in damages to customers or their businesses, these customers could seek compensation from us for their losses, and those claims, even if unsuccessful, would likely
be time-consuming and costly for us to address.

A significant natural or man-made disaster could have a material adverse impact on our business. The insurance we maintain may not be sufficient to
compensate us for the potentially significant losses that could result from disruptions to our services. Significant natural or other disasters could also have a material
adverse impact on our sellers, which, in the aggregate, could in turn materially adversely affect our results of operations.

Our risk management framework, including our counterparty risk management, may not be fully effective in mitigating our risk exposure against all types
of risks.

We operate in a rapidly changing industry. Accordingly, our risk management policies and procedures may not be fully effective to identify, monitor and manage
risks our business encounters due to the likelihood and velocity of existing risks occurring and the rise of new risks. In addition, when we introduce new services,
focus on new business types, or begin to operate in markets where we have a limited history of fraud loss, we may be less able to forecast and reserve accurately for
those losses. If our policies and procedures are not fully effective or we are not successful in identifying and mitigating all risks to which we are or may be exposed,
we may suffer uninsured liability, harm to our reputation or be subject to litigation or regulatory actions that could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations. For example, if our security measures prove insufficient, our business may be materially adversely affected. In addition, bad actors
around the world use increasingly sophisticated methods to engage in illegal activities involving personal data, such as unauthorized use of another’s identity or
payment information, account takeover, unauthorized acquisition or use of credit or debit card details and other fraudulent use of another’s identity or information.
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We offer our payment services to a large number of customers. We are responsible for vetting and monitoring these customers and determining whether the
transactions we process for them are lawful and legitimate. When our products and services are used to process illegitimate transactions, and we settle those funds to
recipients and are unable to recover them, we suffer losses and liability. These types of illegitimate, as well as unlawful, transactions can also expose us to
governmental and regulatory sanctions in various jurisdictions (including U.S. anti-money laundering and economic sanctions violations). The highly automated nature
of, and liquidity offered by, our payment services make us a target for illegal or improper uses, including fraudulent or illegal sales of goods or services, money
laundering, and terrorist financing. Identity thieves and those committing fraud using stolen or fabricated credit card or bank account numbers, or other deceptive or
malicious practices, including the hacking of bank accounts, can potentially steal significant amounts of money from businesses like ours. In configuring our services,
we face an inherent trade-off between security and customer convenience. Our risk management policies, procedures, techniques, and processes may not be
sufficient to identify all of the risks to which we are exposed, to enable us to mitigate the risks we have identified, or to identify additional risks to which we may
become subject in the future. As a greater number of larger merchants and customers use our services, we expect our exposure to material or significant losses from
a single merchant or customer, or from a small number of merchants or customers, to increase. Moreover, we rely on third-party service providers, such as non-
financial institutions and payment service providers, and our risk management policies and processes may not be sufficient to monitor compliance by such third
parties with applicable laws and regulations, including anti-money laundering laws. We may incur significant costs with respect to monitoring third-party service
providers. Furthermore, if our risk management policies and processes contain errors or are otherwise ineffective, we may suffer large financial losses, we may be
subject to civil and criminal liability, and our business may be materially adversely affected.

Our results of operations may be materially adversely affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

We are subject to risks related to changes in currency rates as a result of our international operations and from revenues generated in currencies other than the
United States dollar. Our results of operations may be materially adversely affected by such international operations as a result of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates.

From time to time, we may utilize foreign currency forward contracts and other hedging instruments to mitigate the market value risks associated with foreign
currency-denominated transactions and investments. These hedging strategies may not, however, eliminate all of the risks related to foreign currency translation, and
we may forgo the benefits we would otherwise experience if currency exchange rates were to change in our favor.

In addition, our ability to optimize foreign exchange revenues as part of the payment delivery process may be adversely affected due to foreign exchange market
and regulatory conditions outside of our control, as a result of which revenue and profit may materially decrease as compared to prior periods. In addition, we may
become subject to exchange control regulations that restrict or prohibit the conversion of our foreign revenue currencies into United States dollars. Any of these
factors could decrease the value of revenues and earnings we derive from our international operations and have a material adverse effect on our business.

Changes and evolving requirements in tax laws or their interpretation, including as applied to us and our customers, could have a material adverse affect
on our business.

As a multinational organization operating in multiple jurisdictions, including but not limited to the U.S., the EU, the UK, Israel and Hong Kong, we are subject to
increasingly complex tax laws and regulations in several jurisdictions, the application of which can be uncertain. The amount of taxes we are required to pay in these
jurisdictions could increase substantially as a result of changes in the applicable tax principles, including increased tax rates, new tax laws, or revised interpretations
of existing tax laws, potential disputes around transfer prices implemented and precedents, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Such
material adverse effect may include the value of any tax loss carryforwards, tax credits recorded on our balance sheet, the amount of our cash flow, our liquidity,
financial condition and results of operations.

An increasing number of jurisdictions have enacted, or are planning to enact, tax legislation consistent with the Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development’s (“OECD”) proposal for a global minimum tax of 15% on reported profits (Pillar Two of the OECD Model Rules). Such legislation is intended to increase
revenues from taxes and is generally effective for tax years beginning in January 2024. Our effective tax rate and cash tax payments may be adversely affected in
future years as a result of these changes. Many of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business have detailed transfer pricing rules, which require contemporaneous
documentation establishing that all transactions with non-resident related parties be priced using arm’s length pricing principles. Tax authorities in these jurisdictions
could challenge our related party transfer pricing policies and, consequently, the tax treatment of corresponding expenses and income. If any tax authority were to be
successful in challenging our transfer pricing policies, we may be
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liable for additional corporate income tax, withholding tax, indirect tax and penalties and interest related thereto, which may have a material impact on our results of
operations and financial condition.

We are subject to regular review and audit by the relevant tax authorities in the jurisdictions in which we operate and as a result, the authorities in these
jurisdictions could review our tax returns and may impose additional significant taxes, interest and penalties, challenge the transfer pricing policies adopted by us,
claim that our operations constitute a taxable presence in different jurisdictions and/or that various withholding requirements apply to us or our subsidiaries or assert
that benefits of tax treaties are not available to us or our subsidiaries, any of which could materially affect our income tax provision, net income, or cash flows in the
period or periods for which such determination is made.

In addition, tax benefits we currently receive in certain jurisdictions require us to meet several conditions and may be challenged, terminated or reduced in the
future, which would increase our taxes, possibly with a retroactive effect.

Furthermore, companies in the electronic payments industry, including us, may become subject to incremental taxation in various tax jurisdictions. The cost to
comply with such laws or regulations could be significant. Taxing jurisdictions have not yet adopted uniform positions on this topic. We could be required to collect
additional sales, use, value added, digital services, equalization levy or other similar taxes, either direct or indirect, or be subject to other liabilities that may increase
the costs our customers would have to pay for our products and services and materially adversely affect our results of operations. If we are required to be responsible
for payment of such additional taxes and are unable to pass such taxes or expenses through or collect them from our customers, our costs would increase, and our
net income (loss) may be materially reduced.

In addition, the failure by our customers to comply with reporting obligations in connection with transactions on our platform could result in regulatory inquiry,
reputational damage and potential enforcement actions and additional reporting and withholding requirements.

We are subject to risks relating to our Working Capital products, including risk of losses and risks associated with the availability of capital for our
Working Capital products.

We fund our Working Capital product offering through a mix of balance sheet cash and borrowings under our warehouse financing facility. Our warehouse
financing facility contains certain financial covenants and restrictions, and future warehouse facilities (if any) may contain similar covenants and restrictions. Our
failure to comply with such restrictions could result in an event of default, which could adversely affect our access to liquidity to support our Working Capital activity.

The Working Capital products we provide are generally in the form of “merchant capital advances,” i.e., purchase of future unsecured receivables from our
customers. There is no economic recourse to us in the event that the future receivables are not generated. Adverse changes in macroeconomic conditions or
performance of our customers’ business could cause some of our customers who utilize our Working Capital products to cease operating or to experience a decline in
their payment receipts, thereby rendering the receivables lower than the amount advanced and/or causing the repayment period to be extended beyond the original
settlement term. With a merchant capital advance, the speed of settlement determines our effective yield, so any extension of settlement periods would be expected
to reduce the effective yield we receive on such product. Further, we devote resources to collecting, and from time to time are unable to recover, some purchased
receivables. In addition, adverse changes in macroeconomic conditions could lead to a decrease in the number of our customers who are eligible for our Working
Capital products.

Merchant capital advances are subject to limited regulatory scrutiny in most jurisdictions, but some regulatory bodies may take a view that merchant capital
advances should be subject to licensing requirements. Under such circumstances, or if the terms upon which we are able to offer merchant capital advances were
required to be changed in order to comply with any requirements imposed by a regulatory body, we may need to pursue changes to the current model or pursue an
alternative model for providing our Working Capital products. Substantial changes of the model may lead to a loss or modification of our financing facilities and as a
result this portion of our business may be materially adversely affected.

Our current and future indebtedness may restrict our current and future operations, which could adversely affect our ability to respond to changes in our
business and to manage our operations.

We and our subsidiaries may incur substantial indebtedness in the future. Agreements evidencing or governing any future indebtedness, and our existing
Warehouse Facility (as described in greater detail under the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
— Liquidity”, and Note 11 (Debt) to our audited consolidated financial
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statement included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K), contain or may contain financial restrictions on us and our subsidiaries. If we are unable to service
our debt and other obligations from cash flows, we may need to refinance or restructure all or a portion of such obligations prior to maturity. Our ability to refinance or
restructure our debt and other obligations will depend upon the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such time, including interest rates, which
could increase the cost of refinancing debt and incurring new debt. Any refinancing or restructuring may also require us to comply with more onerous covenants,
which could further restrict our business operations. If our cash flows are insufficient to service our debt and other obligations, we may not be able to refinance or
restructure any of these obligations on commercially reasonable terms or at all and any refinancing or restructuring could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, or financial condition.

Climate change and environmental issues could materially adversely affect our operations, business, customers and partners.

Concerns over the risks associated with climate change and environmental matters have been growing in recent years, and are at the center of rapidly evolving
rule-making in the United States and abroad. Customers, investors, partners, and other stakeholders are increasingly focused on environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) practices. While, to date, we have not identified a material impact on our results and operations, we acknowledge that physical events, such as
extreme weather and natural disasters, could disrupt our operations or those of our customers, partners, or third parties on which we rely, and may result in market
volatility, shift in customer purchasing behaviors and travel patterns, and materially adversely impact our business. In addition, current and emerging ESG-related
regulations, such as mandated disclosures or requirements to reduce carbon footprint, may result in increased compliance requirements, which may increase our
costs.

Regulatory Risks Related to Payoneer

Our business is subject to laws, rules, regulations, policies and legal interpretations in the markets in which we operate, including (but not limited to)
those governing cross-border and domestic money transmission, foreign exchange, privacy, data protection, banking secrecy, deposit taking, factoring,
stored value and payment services (including payment processing and settlement services). The legal and regulatory requirements applicable to us are
extensive, complex, frequently changing, and increasing in number, and may impose overlapping and/or conflicting requirements or obligations.

Financial and political events have increased the level of regulatory scrutiny on the payments industry, and regulatory bodies may view matters or interpret laws
and regulations differently than they have in the past and in a manner adverse to our business. Our success and increased visibility may result in increased regulatory
oversight and tighter enforcement of rules and regulations that may apply to our business. Governments and regulators may impose new regulatory requirements in a
range of areas that, among other things, may:

● Prohibit, restrict, and/or impose taxes or fees on our services, including to or from certain countries or with certain individuals, and entities;

● Impose additional customer identification and due diligence requirements;

● Impose additional reporting or record keeping requirements, or require enhanced transaction monitoring;

● Limit the types of entities capable of providing money transmission services, or impose additional licensing or registration requirements;

● Impose minimum capital or other financial requirements;

● Limit or restrict the revenue that may be generated from transmitting money, processing payments, or factoring receivables, including interest earned on
customer funds, transaction fees, and revenue generated from foreign exchange transactions;

● Require enhanced disclosures to customers;

● Limit the number or principal amount of money transmission transactions that may be sent to or from a jurisdiction, whether by an individual or in the
aggregate; and

● Restrict or limit the ability of firms to process transactions using a centralized record keeping system located outside of the jurisdiction in which the customer
is located, requiring that data associated be localized in the same jurisdiction as the customer.
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Any failure or perceived failure to comply with existing or new laws and regulations (including changes to or expansion of the interpretation of those laws and
regulations), including those discussed in this risk factor, may subject us to significant fines, penalties, criminal and civil lawsuits, forfeiture of significant assets, and
other enforcement actions in one or more jurisdictions; result in additional compliance and licensure requirements; increase regulatory scrutiny of our business;
restrict our operations; force us to change our business practices, make product or operational changes or delay planned product launches or improvements. The
foregoing could, individually or in the aggregate, expose us to significant liability, impose significant costs, require us to expend substantial resources, increase the
cost and complexity of compliance, damage our brand and business, make our products and services less attractive, result in the loss of customers, limit our ability to
grow the business, materially adversely affect our results of operations, and harm our reputation. The complexity of existing U.S. federal and state and foreign
regulatory and enforcement regimes, coupled with the global scope of our operations and the evolving U.S. and international regulatory environment, could result in a
single event giving rise to a large number of overlapping investigations and legal and regulatory proceedings and enforcement actions by multiple government
authorities in different jurisdictions. We have implemented policies and procedures designed to help ensure compliance with applicable laws, and regulations, but
there can be no assurance that our employees, contractors, or agents will not violate such laws and regulations.

We have obtained licenses to operate in multiple jurisdictions around the world. We hold licenses in the United States, Europe, the United Kingdom, Japan,
Australia, Hong Kong, and Singapore. From time to time, we interact with our regulators concerning the interpretation or application of certain regulatory requirements.
In addition, we are obligated to self-report when we exceed the parameters or constraints of our licenses. In the past, these matters have not had a material adverse
effect on our business, but no assurance can be given that future disagreements or disputes will not have a material adverse effect on our business.

In the United States, we provide our services through Payoneer Inc. Payoneer Inc. is licensed as a money transmitter (or its equivalent) in the states where it is
required, as well as in the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. As a licensed money transmitter, Payoneer Inc. is subject to restrictions with respect to its investment
of customer funds, reporting requirements, bonding requirements and inspection by state regulatory agencies. Accordingly, if Payoneer Inc. violates these laws or
regulations, we could be subject to liability and/or additional restrictions, forced to cease doing business with residents of certain states, forced to change our business
practices or be required to obtain additional licenses or regulatory approvals that could impose substantial costs.

We provide our services to customers in the European Economic Area through our Irish subsidiary, Payoneer Europe Limited (“Payoneer Europe”). Payoneer
Europe is licensed by the Central Bank of Ireland as an Electronic Money Institution and has completed the “passport” notification processes in all European
Economic Area countries. Payoneer Europe is subject to significant fines or other enforcement action if it violates the disclosure, reporting, anti-money-laundering,
capitalization, funds management, corporate governance, privacy, data protection, information security, banking secrecy, taxation, sanctions, or other requirements
imposed on Irish e-money institutions. The regulators in any country in which we provide services could seek to persuade the regulators that have granted us a
license to require us to operate through a local branch. In addition, European Union laws and regulations are typically subject to different and potentially inconsistent
interpretations by the countries that are members of the European Union. Such actions can make compliance more costly and operationally difficult to manage.

In the United Kingdom, Payoneer Payment Services (UK) Ltd. (“Payoneer United Kingdom”) is licensed by the Financial Conduct Authority as an Electronic
Money Institution. In Japan, Payoneer Japan Ltd. (“Payoneer Japan”) is licensed as a Registered Fund Transfer Service Provider. In Australia, Payoneer Australia
Pty. Ltd. (“Payoneer Australia”) is licensed by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission as a provider of a non-cash payment products. In Hong Kong,
Payoneer Hong Kong Limited (“Payoneer Hong Kong”) is licensed as a Money Service Operator. In Singapore, Payoneer Singapore Pte Ltd (“Payoneer Singapore”)
is licensed as a Major Payment Institution License by the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, these entities are subject to significant fines or other
enforcement action if any of the entities violate the product disclosure, reporting, anti-money laundering, capitalization, privacy, corporate governance or other
requirements imposed by their respective regulators.

In India, we are registered as an Online Payment Gateway Service Provider, approved by the Reserve Bank of India, for the purpose of facilitating certain import
and export payments for Indian residents.

In many of the markets in which we do business, we serve our customers through a company licensed in a different jurisdiction. It is unclear and uncertain
whether our services are subject to regulatory oversight only in the jurisdictions in which they are licensed or if our services are subject to the laws of the jurisdiction in
which our customer is based. We have been and expect to continue to be required to apply for various licenses, certifications and regulatory approvals in countries
other than ones in which we have already obtained a license. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain such licenses in the future, and the failure to
obtain such licenses could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we can obtain such licenses, there are substantial costs and
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potential product changes involved in maintaining such licenses, and we could be subject to fines or other enforcement action if we are found to violate disclosure,
reporting, anti-money laundering, capitalization, corporate governance or other requirements.

In many countries it may not be clear whether we are required to be licensed as a payment services provider, financial institution or otherwise. In such markets,
we may rely on local banks or licensed payment service providers to process payments and conduct foreign exchange transactions in local currency. Local regulators
may use their power to slow or halt payments to our customers in those jurisdictions. Such regulatory actions or the need to obtain licenses, certifications or other
regulatory approvals could impose substantial costs and involve considerable delay in the provision or development of our services in a given market, or could require
significant and costly operational changes, or prevent us from providing any services in a given market.

As we expand and localize our international activities, we are increasingly becoming obligated to comply with the laws of the countries or markets in which we
operate. In addition, because our services are accessible worldwide and we facilitate sales of goods and services and provide services to customers worldwide, one or
more jurisdictions may claim that we or our customers are required to comply with their laws.

As a significant portion of our revenue is generated from China, any negative impact to our ability to serve customers based in China could materially
adversely affect our results and exacerbate the other risks set forth herein.

Our services to customers from Greater China generated approximately 35% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. This geographic
concentration in our business creates exposure to local economic and political conditions. We are vulnerable to economic downturns or changing political landscapes
in China, the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and Taiwan. Any unforeseen events or circumstances that negatively affect these areas could materially
adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

We currently support customers based in China through our partnerships with banks and licensed payment providers that are regulated by the People’s Republic
of China and are licensed by the People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”) and the State Administration of Foreign Exchange. We do not currently hold a license to
operate in China, but understand that recent PBOC and Chinese legislation will require foreign companies that provide certain services to Chinese customers to have
a local license, and a failure by us to have acquired such a license by the time the PBOC may require Payoneer to have such a license could have a material adverse
effect on our business. Accordingly, we have been working to obtain a local license through an acquisition of a local licensed entity. The closing of the acquisition is
subject to governmental registrations and approvals and to customary closing conditions. Even if we can obtain such license, there are substantial costs and potential
product changes involved in maintaining such license, and we could be subject to fines or other enforcement action if we are found to violate disclosure, reporting,
anti-money laundering, capitalization, or corporate governance requirements. Any change in regulation or legal requirements in China that restricts the services we
can provide to customers operating in China may lead to a decrease in revenue and materially adversely affect our results of operation and financial condition.

Failure to comply with anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, economic and trade sanctions regulations and similar laws, could subject us to penalties and
other material adverse consequences.

We are subject to various anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, economic and trade sanctions regulations and similar laws, and our failure to comply with such laws
and regulations could subject us to penalties and other material adverse consequences.

U.S. and other regulators globally continue to increase their scrutiny of compliance with these obligations, which requires us to continually monitor and update our
compliance program, including the procedures we use to verify the identity of our customers and to monitor international and domestic transactions. Many countries in
which we operate also have anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing laws and regulations, and we have been and continue to be required to make
changes to our compliance program in various jurisdictions in response. The European Commission, for example, from time to time introduces revisions to the Anti-
Money Laundering Directives, which make compliance more costly and operationally difficult to manage. Regulators regularly re-examine the transaction volume
thresholds at which we must obtain and keep applicable records or verify identities of customers and any change in such thresholds could result in greater costs for
compliance.

We rely on technical programs and third-party providers to monitor our compliance with the laws and regulations to which we are subject. Such technical
programs require us to timely update the programs to account for any relevant changes in laws or regulations. If we fail to update the technical programs correctly or
in a timely manner, the technical programs may fail to flag conduct that
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violates existing laws or regulations, which may subject us to government investigation, fines or reputational damage and could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We routinely report to the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) on payments we have rejected or blocked pursuant to
OFAC sanctions regulations and on any possible violations of those regulations. Any transactions we process in violation of OFAC sanctions regulations could result
in claims or actions against us including litigation, injunctions, damage awards, fines or penalties, or require us to change our business practices that could result in a
material loss, require significant management time, result in the diversion of significant operational resources or otherwise materially harm our business. Violation of
OFAC sanctions regulations that OFAC determines to be egregious can result in significant statutory penalties in addition to harm to our reputation. We have made in
the past, and may make in the future, disclosures related to potential violations of OFAC sanctions regulations. For example, in February 2016, we submitted a
disclosure to OFAC about certain payments to the Crimea region of Ukraine and other OFAC target countries, and have subsequently entered into settlements
relating to the foregoing matter which included monetary settlements.

We may provide services to customers in foreign countries where companies often engage in business practices that are prohibited by United States and other
regulations applicable to us. We are subject to anti-corruption laws and regulations, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and other laws that prohibit
the making or offering of improper payments to foreign government officials and political figures, including anti-bribery provisions enforced by the Department of
Justice. These laws prohibit improper payments or offers of payments to foreign governments and their officials and political parties by United States persons or
companies for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. We have implemented policies, procedures, systems, and controls designed to identify and address
potentially impermissible transactions under such laws and regulations; however, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, consultants and agents,
including those that may be based in or from countries where practices that violate U.S. or other laws may be customary, will not take actions in violation of our
policies, for which we may be ultimately responsible.

Our business is subject to complex and evolving regulations and oversight, in relation to privacy and data protection. Failure to comply with applicable
data protection laws and regulations could subject us to fines and reputational harm and could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

As part of our business, we process PII, also referred to under certain regulations as personal data or personal information, and other potentially sensitive and/or
regulated data from our employees, customers, the vendors we work with and others. Laws and regulations in the United States, Europe and around the world restrict
how personal information is collected, processed, stored, transferred, used and disclosed, as well as set standards for its security, implement notice requirements
regarding privacy practices, and provide individuals with certain rights regarding the use, disclosure and sale of their protected personal information. Several foreign
jurisdictions, including the European Economic Area (EEA) member states and the United Kingdom, have laws and regulations which are more restrictive in certain
respects than those in the United States. For example, the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which came into force on May 25, 2018, implemented
stringent operational requirements for the processing of personal data. In addition, the European e-Privacy Directive requires EEA member states to regulate
marketing by electronic means and the use of web cookies and other tracking technology. Each EEA member state has transposed the requirements of these
directives into its own national data privacy regime, and therefore the laws may differ between jurisdictions. This directive is under reform and is expected to be
replaced in the future by a regulation which should provide consistent requirements across the EU.

The GDPR (and GDPR as it forms part of retained European law (as defined in the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018) (UK GDPR)), introduced more 
stringent requirements (which are and will continue to be interpreted through guidance and decisions over the coming years) on organizations to erase or rectify an 
individual’s information upon request, implement mandatory data breach notifications and applies obligations on service providers and strict protections on how data 
may be transferred outside of the EEA. Legal developments in Europe in recent years have created complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data 
from the EEA to the United States, which ultimately led to the European Commission’s July 2023 adequacy decision for the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework, which 
was designed to address concerns previously raised by the Court of Justice of the European Union in relation to trans-Atlantic data flows between the EEA and the 
United States, however such decision is expected to be challenged in the future and the outcome of such potential challenges may again impact such data flows.

In the United States, both the federal and various state governments have adopted or are considering, laws, guidelines or rules for the collection, distribution, use
and storage of information collected from or about consumers or their devices, including the State of California which enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act, or
CCPA, which was amended and replaced by the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) as of January 1, 2023 and which requires disclosures to California
consumers, imposes new rules for collecting
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or using information about minors, and affords consumers new abilities to opt out of certain disclosures of personal information. The CPRA provides for civil penalties 
for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that may increase data breach litigation in the future. 

In addition, the Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (PIPL) became effective November 1, 2021. The PIPL regulates data
processing in China, and the protection of the privacy and personal information of Chinese citizens. The PIPL applies to Chinese organizations, as well as foreign
organizations engaging with customers from China, and requires such organizations to take necessary measures, as applicable, in order to ensure compliance.

As these and other laws and regulations may continue to evolve and be enacted, or new interpretation of existing laws and regulations apply, it may require us to
modify our data processing practices, agreements and policies and to incur substantial costs in order to comply with this ever-evolving regulatory landscape.
Restrictions on the collection, use, sharing or disclosure of PII or additional requirements and liability for security and data integrity could require us to modify our
solutions and features, possibly in a material manner, could limit our ability to develop new services and features and could subject us to increased compliance
obligations and regulatory scrutiny. We take a variety of technical and organizational security measures and other measures to protect the data we process, including
data pertaining to our customers, employees and business partners. Despite measures we put in place, we may be unable to anticipate or prevent unauthorized
access to such data.

Non-compliance with data protection and privacy requirements may result in regulatory fines (which for certain breaches of the GDPR are up to the greater of 20
million Euros or 4% of total global annual turnover), regulatory investigations, reputational damage, orders to cease/change our processing of our data, enforcement
notices, and/or assessment notices (for a compulsory audit). We may also face civil claims including representative actions and other class action type litigation
(where individuals have suffered harm), potentially amounting to significant compensation or damages liabilities, as well as associated costs, diversion of internal
resources, and reputational harm. Any of the foregoing may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

General Risks Related to Payoneer

We may be subject to various legal proceedings which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We are involved in various litigation matters from time to time. Such matters can be time-consuming, divert management’s attention and resources and cause us
to incur significant expenses. Our insurance or indemnities may not cover all claims that may be asserted against us, and any claims asserted against us, regardless
of merit or eventual outcome, may harm our reputation. If we are unsuccessful in our defense in these litigation matters, or any other legal proceeding, we may be
forced to pay damages or fines, enter into consent decrees or change our business practices, any of which could be material and materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

The failure to attract and retain key personnel could materially harm our overall business and results of operations.

We depend on the experience, skill and contributions of our senior management and other key employees. If we fail to attract, motivate and retain highly qualified
management and key personnel, including (but not limited to), technical, compliance and sales employees, particularly in light of the intensified and expanded
competition for talent, our future success could be harmed. Our senior management provides strategic direction for our company, and if we lose members of our
leadership team, our management resources may have to be diverted from other priorities to address this loss. Our products and services require sophisticated
knowledge of the financial services industry, applicable regulatory and industry requirements, computer systems, and software applications, and if we cannot hire or
retain the necessary skilled personnel, we could suffer delays in new product development, experience difficulty complying with applicable requirements or otherwise
fail to satisfy our customers’ demands.

Acquisitions, joint ventures or other strategic transactions create certain risks and may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

We regularly evaluate potential strategic transactions such as acquisitions, investments, joint ventures, partnerships, dispositions, and strategic alternatives as
part of our strategy. We may not be successful in identifying targets or assessing opportunities and we may incur significant costs, and management’s attention may
be diverted, as we consider such transactions. Additional risks may arise from a number of reasons, including: we may need to borrow money or sell equity or debt
securities to the public to finance a transaction and the terms of these financings may be adverse to us; changes in accounting, tax, securities or other regulations
could
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increase the difficulty or cost for us to complete a transaction; we may incur unforeseen obligations or liabilities in connection with a transaction; and we could enter
markets where we have minimal prior experience. Further, in the event that we consummate a transaction, we may not realize the anticipated benefits, which may
materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations, and the process of integrating acquisitions may disrupt our business and divert our
resources.

In addition, transactions outside of the United States often involve additional or increased risks including, for example: managing geographically separated
organizations, systems and facilities; integrating personnel with diverse business backgrounds and organizational cultures; complying with non-U.S. regulatory
requirements; fluctuations in currency exchange rates; enforcement and protection of intellectual property in some non-U.S. countries; difficulty entering new non-U.S.
markets due to, among other things, consumer acceptance and business knowledge of these new markets; and general economic and political conditions.

We cannot ensure that any acquisition, investment, partnership, joint venture, disposition, or other strategic transaction we make will not have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, we may be unable to accurately or timely report our financial condition or results
of operations, which may materially adversely affect our business.

As a public company, we have significant requirements for enhanced financial reporting and internal controls, and must maintain internal controls over financial
reporting to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The process of designing, implementing and maintaining effective internal
controls is a continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environments. In this regard, we
continue to dedicate internal resources, engage outside consultants, implement a detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over
financial reporting, take steps to improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing whether such controls are functioning as documented, and
implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to maintain appropriate disclose controls or
internal controls and procedures over financial reporting, it could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations on a timely basis, result in material misstatements in
our consolidated financial statements and materially adversely affect our operating results.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The trading market for our common stock may be volatile, and the market price and trading volume of our common stock may fluctuate materially.

The trading price of our common stock has been, and will likely continue to be volatile and subject to wide price fluctuations, and the trading volume in our
common stock may fluctuate and cause significant variation to occur, in response to various factors, including:

● market conditions in the broader stock market in general, or in our industry in particular;

● actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial and operating results;

● accuracy of our earnings guidance or other forward-looking statements regarding our financial performance;

● introduction of new products and services by us or our competitors;

● issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;

● sales of large blocks of our stock;

● additions or departures of key personnel;

● regulatory developments;

● litigation and governmental investigations; and

● geopolitical and other economic and political conditions or events  (such as the war in Ukraine and the war between Israel and Hamas).
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These and other factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate materially, which may limit or prevent investors from readily
selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock, or your ability to resell your shares at or above the
purchase price. In addition, in the past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have instituted securities class action litigation against
the company that issued the stock. If any of our stockholders brought a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs defending the lawsuit. Such a lawsuit
could also divert the time and attention of our management from our business.

The scope and contents of reports published by investment analysts, including short reports or any projections in those reports that differ from our actual
results, could materially adversely affect the price and trading of our common stock.

The trading market for our securities depends in part on the research and reports that analysts publish about our business. We do not have any control over these
analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the price of our
common stock would likely decline. If few analysts cover us, demand for our common stock could decrease and our common stock price and trading volume may
decline. Similar results may occur if one or more of these analysts stop covering us in the future or fail to publish reports on us regularly. In addition, securities
research analysts may establish and publish their own periodic projections for us. These projections may vary widely and may not accurately predict the results we
actually achieve. Our share price may decline if our actual results do not match the projections of these securities research analysts.

If a substantial number of shares become available for sale and are sold in a short period of time, the market price of our common stock could materially
decline.

If our existing stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the market price of our common stock could decrease significantly.
The perception in the public market that our existing stockholders might sell shares of common stock could also depress our market price. A decline in the price of
shares of our common stock might impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of our common stock or other equity securities.

Anti-takeover provisions in our certificate of incorporation and Delaware law could delay or prevent a change in control, limit the price investors may be
willing to pay in the future for our common stock and could entrench management.

Provisions within our amended and restated certificate of incorporation (our “certificate of incorporation”) and amended and restated bylaws (or “bylaws”) may
delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that a stockholder may consider favorable by permitting our Board of Directors to issue one or more series of preferred stock,
requiring advance notice for stockholder proposals and nominations and placing limitations on convening stockholder meetings. Further, our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws include provisions creating a classified board of directors whose members serve staggered three-year terms. These provisions may also
discourage acquisition proposals or delay or prevent a change in control, which could materially harm our stock price.

Additionally, our certificate of incorporation contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider to be in their
best interests. These provisions include the ability of our Board of Directors to (i) prevent the transfer of capital stock, or the exercise of rights with respect to our
capital stock, under certain circumstances, including if the effect of such transfer or exercise of rights would result in a stockholder holding more than 9.9% of the total
outstanding shares of our capital stock on a fully diluted basis, and (ii) designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred shares, which may make more difficult
the removal of management and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing market prices for our securities.
These defenses could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of the Company. These provisions could also discourage proxy
contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and cause us to take corporate actions other than those you
desire.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for certain stockholder
disputes, subject to limited exceptions, which could discourage stockholder lawsuits or limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in any judicial
forum that they find favorable for disputes against our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware (or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, the federal district court of the State of Delaware) will, to the fullest extent permitted by
law, be the exclusive forum for any stockholder to bring (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a
fiduciary duty owed by any
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current or former director, officer, other employee or stockholder of ours to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of
the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), the certificate of incorporation or the bylaws (as either may be amended or restated) or as to which the DGCL
confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the law of the
State of Delaware. The federal district courts of the United States shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising
under the federal securities laws. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of
and consented to the forum provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws.

This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors,
officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum
provision contained in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with
resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could materially harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management

Cybersecurity risk management is an integral part of Payoneer’s control infrastructure and is included as an overall risk in our enterprise risk management
program. Payoneer’s cybersecurity risk management program is designed to align with industry best practices like National Institute of Standards and Technology
(NIST) and Control Objectives for Information Technology (COBIT) which help provide a framework for handling cybersecurity threats and incidents, including threats
and incidents associated with the use of applications developed and services provided by third-party service providers, and facilitate coordination across different
departments of our company. This framework includes steps for assessing the severity of a cybersecurity threat, identifying the source of a cybersecurity threat
including whether the cybersecurity threat is associated with a third-party service provider, implementing cybersecurity countermeasures and mitigation strategies and
informing management and our Risk Committee of the Board of Directors (“Risk Committee”) of material cybersecurity threats and incidents. Our cybersecurity team is
responsible for assessing our cybersecurity risk management program considering industry best practice and aligning to regulatory requirements and engages with
third-party security experts for advisement on cybersecurity risk assessments and system enhancements. In addition, our cybersecurity team provides training to
employees on a periodic basis.

Our Board of Directors has overall oversight responsibility for our risk management, and delegates cybersecurity risk management oversight to the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is responsible for reviewing our cybersecurity and the protection of data integrity policies and practices, including making
recommendations for improvements in these areas. The Risk Committee oversees that management has processes in place designed to identify and evaluate
cybersecurity risks to which the company is exposed and implement processes and programs to manage cybersecurity risks and mitigate cybersecurity incidents. The
Risk Committee also reports material cybersecurity risks to our Audit Committee and material cybersecurity incidents would be reported to the full Board of Directors
by management and/or the Risk Committee.

Management is responsible for identifying, considering and assessing material cybersecurity risks on an ongoing basis, establishing processes to ensure that
such potential cybersecurity risk exposures are monitored and escalated appropriately, putting in place appropriate mitigation measures and maintaining
cybersecurity programs. Our cybersecurity programs are under the direction of our Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”), who receives reports from our
cybersecurity team and monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents. Our CISO and dedicated personnel are experienced
information systems security professionals and information security managers with many years of experience. Management, the CISO and our cybersecurity team,
periodically update the Risk Committee on the Company’s cybersecurity programs, material cybersecurity risks and mitigation strategies and provide cybersecurity
reports quarterly that cover, among other topics, third-party assessments of the Company’s cybersecurity programs, developments in cybersecurity and updates to the
Company’s cybersecurity programs and mitigation strategies.
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Despite our efforts, we cannot eliminate all risks from cybersecurity threats, or provide assurances that we have not experienced an undetected cybersecurity
incident. For more information about these risks, please see “Risk Factors” in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive office is located in New York City. In addition to our New York office, we also have offices in the greater metropolitan areas of Tel Aviv,
Dublin, London, Bangalore, Singapore, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Hong Kong as well as 16 offices in 12 other countries. We lease or pay membership
fees for each of our office spaces. We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our immediate needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time we are a party to various litigation matters incidental to the conduct of our business. We are not presently party to any legal proceedings that we
believe to be material to our results of operations.

For information on risks related to litigation, see Note 16 - Commitments and Contingencies, to our audited financial statements as of December 31, 2023. See
also “Risk Factors - General Risks Related to Payoneer - We may be subject to various legal proceedings which could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations.”

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock and warrants trade on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbols “PAYO” and “PAYOW,” respectively.

Holders

As of February 21, 2024, there were 225 holders of record of our common stock, 1 holder of record of our private warrants, and 1 holder of record of our public
warrants. Such numbers do not include beneficial owners holding our securities through nominee names.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date. The payment of cash dividends in the future will depend on our revenues and earnings, if
any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends will be within the discretion of the Board at such time.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Part III, Item 12 of this Form 10-K and Note 19, Stock-Based Compensation of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional
information required.

Stock Price Performance

The graph above compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return on the Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) 600
Information Technology Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 in our common stock at the market close on June
28, 2021, which was our initial trading day. Data for the above indices assume reinvestment of dividends. Total return equals stock price appreciation plus
reinvestment of dividends, where applicable.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Offerings

None for the quarterly period ending December 31, 2023.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Repurchases of our common stock

The following table provides information with respect to repurchases made by the Company during the three months ended December 31, 2023. All repurchases
listed below were made in the open market.

Period Total Number of Shares
Purchased1

Average Price Paid Per
Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced Plans
or Progreams2

Approximate Dollar Value of
Shares That May Yet Be

Purchased Under the Plans
or Programs2

October 1, 2023 - October 31, 2023  835,344  $5.88  835,344 $ 40,463,126
November 1, 2023 - November 30, 2023  1,067,640  $5.50  1,067,640 $ 34,594,358
December 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023  2,222,593  $5.09  2,222,593 $ 240,179,033
Total  4,125,577  4,125,577
________________________________________
(1) No shares were repurchased other than through a publicly announced plan or program.
(2) On May 7, 2023, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program that provides for the repurchase of up to $80 million of our common stock,
including any applicable excise tax, over a period of 24 months. On December 7, 2023, our Board of Directors authorized an amendment to the above program to
increase the authorized amount of repurchases to an aggregate amount not to exceed $250 million. The $250 million authorization amended the previous repurchase
authorization, and includes the amount that remains available as of December 7, 2023 to repurchase common stock under, but not any prior repurchases effected
pursuant to, the previous authorization. The amended authorization expires December 31, 2025. These share repurchases may take place from time to time, in the
open market, through privately negotiated transactions or other means, including in accordance with Rule 10b-18 and/or Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. The timing and total amount of repurchases is subject to the Company’s discretion.

Item 6. Reserved.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Throughout this section, unless otherwise noted, “we”, “us”, “our”, “Payoneer”, and the “Company” refer to Payoneer Inc. for the period prior to the Closing Date
(as defined below) and to Payoneer Global Inc. for the period thereafter.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with other sections of this Annual Report,
including “Item 1. Business,” and the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included elsewhere in this Report. Some of the information
contained in this discussion and analysis, including information with respect to our future performance, liquidity and capital resources, and general and administrative
functions, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the sections titled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” for a discussion of forward-looking statements and important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations focuses on a discussion of 2023 results as compared to 2022
results. For a discussion of the 2022 results as compared to 2021 results, refer to Part I, Item 7 of our Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023.

Overview

Payoneer is a financial technology company purpose-built to enable the world’s small and medium-sized businesses (“SMB(s)”) to grow and operate their
businesses around the world by reliably and securely connecting them to the global digital economy. Payoneer’s financial stack makes it easier for millions of SMBs,
particularly in emerging markets, to access global demand and supply, pay and get paid, and manage their cross border and other needs from a single platform. Our
financial stack provides a full suite of cross-border accounts receivable (AR) and accounts payable (AP) capabilities, and includes services such as working capital
and the provision of data-driven insights. Payoneer’s core value proposition is that we remove the complexity and barriers of doing business across borders for our
customers. With a multi-currency Payoneer Account, businesses around the world can serve and transact with their overseas customers, suppliers, vendors, and
partners as if they were local.

We primarily generate revenues when Payoneer customers use the funds in their Payoneer account to make a payment, make a purchase or to withdraw the
funds locally. For our B2B and DTC customers, we also in certain circumstances generate revenue on their AR, such as when they invoice a customer or collect
payments via their webstore. Additionally, as interest rates have risen throughout 2022 and 2023, interest earned on customer funds held on our platform has been a
significant source of revenue. Our long-term strategy is centered on growing the number of customers on our platform who fit our ideal customer profile, who are
customers that have on average over $500 a month in volume and were active over the trailing twelve-month period, and on increasing the revenue we earn from
each customer. We believe that successful execution of this strategy will drive revenue growth as (i) adding new customers who meet our ideal customer profile,
improving retention, and increasing our product offerings to capture more wallet share will drive greater ad valorem volume of transactions processed through the
Payoneer platform; and (ii) introducing new products and services and increasing customer adoption of additional products and services will improve our monetization
of customers over time. Volume is one of the primary drivers for our revenue growth. See “Key Metrics and Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information.

Our customers have trusted the Payoneer platform to process $66.0 billion, $59.7 billion, and $55.4 billion in volume during the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022, and 2021, respectively.

Looking forward, we intend to continue to invest actively to enhance our global platform, deliver new products, extend our regulatory footprint, further automate
our operations, increase new customer growth and make more acquisitions to accelerate our ability to deliver more value to customers around the world.
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Key Development and Trends

Repurchase Program

On May 7, 2023, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $80 million of our common stock, including any
applicable excise tax. On December 7, 2023, the Board authorized an amendment to the program to increase the authorized amount of repurchases to an aggregate
amount not to exceed $250 million, including the amount that remained available as of December 7, 2023 to repurchase common stock under, but not any prior
repurchases effected pursuant to, the previous authorization. The amended authorization expires December 31, 2025.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased 11,064,692 shares of our common stock under the program for approximately $56.9 million at a 
weighted average cost of $5.13 per share. As of December 31, 2023, a total of approximately $240.2 million remained available for future repurchases of our common 
stock under the program. 

2023 Israel – Hamas War

In October 2023, in response to Hamas’ attack on Israel from the Gaza Strip, Israel declared war on Hamas. Concurrently, hostilities between Israel and
Hezbollah ensued in the Israeli northern border. Despite the ongoing war, we have continued to operate our business and serve our customers around the world and,
to date, our ability to support customers has not been materially impacted. We are monitoring the situation closely and benefit from our broad geographic footprint,
partially outsourced operations model, and a robust business continuity plan. Additionally, our technology infrastructure has redundancy in place outside of Israel.
Approximately 60% of our global employee base is located in Israel, including approximately 80% of our research and development resources. At this time, an
insignificant portion of our Israeli workforce have been called to military reserve duty and we have contingencies in place to cover impacted roles and responsibilities.

The evolving conflict is likely to impact economic activity in the region and could impact revenues from customers located in Israel. Our revenue derived from
customers based in Israel was insignificant for the year ended December 31, 2023 and is included within revenues from Europe in Note 17 to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The situation in the region remains highly uncertain and there is the possibility that the conflict could worsen or expand which could, in turn, further impact
economic conditions in Israel and in the broader region. At this time, it is difficult to assess the impact the war may have on our future results of operations. Any
further escalation, expansion, or prolonged continuation of the ongoing conflict has the potential to impact our operations locally as well as to negatively impact the
broader global economy and may have a material effect on our results of operations.

Workforce Reduction Plan

On July 10, 2023, we announced a plan to reduce our workforce by approximately 9% of our then-current total headcount (the “Plan”). The Plan was designed to
enhance productivity and efficiency as well as streamline our organizational structure to better align operations with our growth objectives. We are reinvesting some
savings from the Plan into future growth initiatives, and continuing to hire for roles essential to those initiatives in areas such as research and development.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred costs of $4.5 million related to severance and other employee termination benefits.

Impact of the War in Ukraine

During 2022, a geopolitical and armed conflict between Ukraine and Russia, which developed into an ongoing war, resulted in economic sanctions on Russia,
Belarus, and certain territories in Ukraine. We provide services to customers in Ukraine and in jurisdictions that are or may be impacted by these economic sanctions.
We have developed and implemented a robust transaction monitoring program designed to comply with imposed sanctions and to monitor the impact the conflict may
have on our results of operations. During 2022, we ceased to provide services to customers in Russia and have limited our payment services to Belarus customers,
while at the same time revenues in Ukraine have remained relatively stable. For the year ended December 31, 2023, Ukraine and Belarus, combined, accounted for
less than 10% of our revenue, of which Belarus accounted for less than 1% of our revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2022, Ukraine, Russia and Belarus,
combined accounted for slightly less than 10% of our
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revenue, of which Russia and Belarus, combined accounted for less than 3% of our revenue. Further escalation of the conflict may have a material effect on our
results of operations.

Macroeconomic Conditions

Macroeconomic conditions, including geopolitical and other global events, that impact consumer and business spending and behavior, such as, but not limited to,
the interest rate environment, inflation, local political instability, global health crises, supply chain dislocations, regional and other conflicts, including the ongoing war
in Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war, disruptions and instability in the banking sector, may impact our customers, providers, banking partners and ultimately the
amount of volume processed on our platform which may affect our results of operations. While we have not been materially affected by the volatility and uncertainty in
the banking sector experienced early in 2023, we have commercial arrangements with multiple banks globally and could be impacted by future disruptions in the
banking sector. In 2023, we saw a significant increase in the interest income revenue we earn on our customer funds as the U.S. Federal Reserve raised the
benchmark interest rate by 525 basis points since 2022. While there remains a great deal of uncertainty around the future timing and magnitude of interest rate cuts,
we do expect to see a negative impact from declining interest rates over the medium-term.

Seasonality

Given the diverse nature of our customers and their businesses, Payoneer’s revenues experience seasonal fluctuations as a result of consumer and business
spending patterns. Historically, we have seen revenues increase in the fourth quarter of every year, primarily as a result of higher e-commerce sales during the
holiday season.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

Continued Growth of Digital Commerce.  We have continued to see growth in digital commerce, as businesses of all sizes increasingly look to access the 
global digital economy and as the market for goods, labor, and services becomes more global and more distributed. In 2020 and 2021, we saw a significant 
acceleration in digital commerce adoption as consumers and businesses shifted activity to online channels due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2022 and 2023, we saw 
e-commerce growth rates normalizing to pre-pandemic levels as (i) consumers shifted from goods to services consumption following the loosening pandemic 
restrictions, (ii) rising inflation in many economies and the impact of higher interest rates set by many central banks impacted consumer and business spending 
behavior and (iii) ongoing supply chain disruptions impacted the pricing and availability of goods. While at the same time, we saw a significant rebound in global 
travel, as restrictions were eased globally. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, total volume increased by 11%, 8% and 27% on a year-over-year 
basis, respectively.

Multiple Acquisition Channels Allow Us to Add Customers, Including Those That Meet Our Ideal Customer Profile.  We operate a two-sided network, 
providing services to buyers and suppliers, businesses and contractors, marketplaces and marketplace sellers, and connecting them via a single platform. 

We benefit from a strong brand in the markets in which our customers operate, and especially in key e-commerce markets such as China. We continue to make 
investments both in our brand and in our go-to-market infrastructure, including in our local go-to-market teams. Our financial performance will depend in large part on 
our ability to continue to add customers, including customers who meet our ideal customer profile. 

We leverage our unique relationships with various marketplace platforms to cost-effectively acquire and serve new customers and look to add new marketplace 
relationships, which drives increased volumes on our platform and broadens our global reach. 

We enter from time to time into various agreements with marketplaces and e-commerce platforms. These agreements govern how we provide services to SMBs 
and individuals receiving payments from those marketplaces, or how we provide services to the marketplace directly, or a combination of both. Some agreements 
have exclusivity arrangements with a defined term length. Some agreements have fee structures that are defined only partly through the contract’s term while the 
remaining fee structure is subject to market competitive rates and good faith negotiation with the marketplace. In addition, in a few instances, we compensate the 
marketplace with structured incentives tied to the overall economics of the relationship. These incentive structures can apply throughout the contract term or through 
only a portion of the term. While the revenues we generate directly from our marketplace relationships are not significant, material changes to the terms that govern 
these relationships or the termination of those relationships could materially impact our revenues, expenses, and earnings. 
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We benefit from a local presence and significant expertise in the markets in which our customers operate. We collaborate with many partners around the world, 
including local logistics firms, accounting firms, marketing companies and others, and these serve as a valuable acquisition channel for our business. We also 
integrate our services into software platforms, including accounting software providers, and with banks and other local payment providers. These partnerships enable 
us to offer better service to our customers and to cost-effectively acquire new customers. Our ability to innovate and grow is dependent, in part, on our ability to 
maintain and grow our partnership base. 

Expanding our Addressable Market and Driving Increased Adoption of Higher Take Rate Products and Services.  SMBs doing business in the global 
economy have many of the same complex needs as larger enterprises but lack internal resources and are underserved by the legacy financial system. Our financial 
stack is designed to meet the end-to-end AR and AP needs of SMBs with cross-border business. 

We will continue to make significant investments in both existing and new products and services, including for those customers who operate B2B and direct-to-
consumer models. We remain focused on increasing our penetration in these markets through new customer acquisition and from driving increased adoption of these 
and other services, such as our card product, with our existing customers. 

As we meet more of the needs of our customers, we expect to grow the revenues we earn from customers and to drive improved retention. Our ability to continue 
to grow our revenues is dependent on our ability to continue to grow our customer base and to drive increased adoption of our B2B, Checkout, and other differentiated 
offerings. 

Macroeconomic Trends. Our results are impacted by the relative strength of the overall global economy and its effect on business investment, unemployment, 
consumer spending behavior, and business and consumer demand. Our revenues are also impacted by the level of customer funds held on our platform and by the 
interest rate we are able to earn on those funds. 

Our customers are also impacted by the macroeconomic and geopolitical environment, both the global environment and specific regional or local factors. For
example, the war between Ukraine and Russia that began in 2022 and the related economic sanctions imposed on Russia, Belarus and certain territories in Ukraine,
have and may continue to impact our services to customers in such countries. Subsequent to the outbreak of the conflict, in 2022, we ceased to provide services to
customers in Russia and have limited our payment services to Belarus customers. It is not possible to predict the broader consequences of the conflict, but the
continuation or escalation of the conflict, along with any expansion to the surrounding areas, may have a significant effect on our results of operations.

M&A. In 2023, we entered into an agreement to acquire a licensed China-based payment service provider to support Payoneer’s China business. We also
acquired the assets of a real-time data platform to support underwriting decisions in our working capital business.

We believe there are additional opportunities to leverage our global platform, regulatory and compliance infrastructure, technology, brand and team to deliver
additional value to more customers more quickly by supplementing our organic product development with targeted acquisitions that add new capabilities or deeper
geographic penetration.

Components of Results of Operations

The period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations have been prepared using the historical periods included in our consolidated financial statements.
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this document.

Revenue

The majority of our revenues are generated from transaction fees, which vary based on the type of service the customer utilizes. Transaction fee revenue 
principally consists of revenue generated when customers use their funds, either to withdraw their funds from our platform to a local banking institution or to use the 
funds to make payments. Some services, such as virtual commercial cards, typically generate higher transaction fees from a dollar of volume than if that same dollar 
was withdrawn to a customer’s bank account. We also earn revenues in certain instances from volumes coming into the platform related to our services to B2B 
customers and through our Checkout offering. 
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We generate significant revenues from interest earned on customer funds held on our platform. To a lesser extent, we generate revenue through the collection of
fees, mainly fees charged when payments are made into a customer’s account, and bank transfer fees, which are fees charged when one of Payoneer’s enterprise
customers uses Payoneer to send a payment directly into the bank account of a small business or individual that does not have an account on our platform. The
majority of our revenue is recognized and collected upon the completion of the underlying transaction. In some cases, revenues are collected through intermediaries.
For more information on our revenue recognition policies, see note 2r. of our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs mainly consist of fees paid to the banks, processors and networks that process payments to and from the Payoneer platform, costs to acquire
currencies, card supply costs, losses related to certain of our services, and expenses related to the outstanding balance associated with the Warehouse Facility (as
described in greater detail under “— Liquidity”). These costs are net of any rebate programs with banks and processors, such as volume rebates. Transaction costs
are primarily driven by volume and number of transactions and generally increase as volume and number of transactions increase, while certain of our products and
services, such as our commercial card or checkout product and certain markets drive higher transaction costs.

We are exposed to potential transaction losses such as credit cards collections losses, Electronic Funds Transfer returns, card negative balances and
chargebacks and capital advance losses. These costs are included in transaction costs. We also record an allowance for estimated losses arising from doubtful
capital advances.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses mainly include compensation for our employees and subcontractors, who support customer service calls, customer onboarding costs,
banking infrastructure implementations, transaction monitoring and liquidity management as well as indirect costs incurred for fraud detection, compliance operations,
regulatory services and maintenance costs related to our customer call center infrastructure.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of employee compensation and related costs, professional services and consulting expenses, and non-
capitalized costs associated with the development of new technologies. Such non-capitalized costs are charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income (loss) as incurred.

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist of costs for business development, customer success, product launch costs, marketing and advertising costs, retention
costs and certain customer acquisition costs and includes employee compensation and related costs.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation, benefits and overhead expenses associated with corporate management. This also
includes, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, internal and external accounting and legal and administrative resources,
including audit and legal fees.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization consist primarily of amortization of intangible assets, internally developed software, and depreciation of our investments in property,
equipment, and software. We depreciate and amortize our assets on a straight-line basis in accordance with our accounting policies. The useful lives are 3-5 years for
computers, software and peripheral equipment, 6-16 years for furniture and office equipment, and the shorter of the asset useful life or remaining lease term for
leasehold improvements. Internal use software and acquired developed technology assets are amortized over the period of estimated benefit, using the straight-line
method and estimated useful lives of 3-6 years.
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Financial income, net

Financial income, net includes gains (losses) from foreign exchange fluctuations. We conduct transactions worldwide and settle accounts with our financial
intermediaries in various currencies. Interest income (expense) from corporate cash and cash equivalents deposited in our accounts is also included under financial
income, net, which vary based on cash and cash equivalents balances, and based on market rates. In addition, as a result of the reverse recapitalization transaction
we completed with FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp. (“FTOC”) in 2021 (the “Reorganization”, further description in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere within this Annual Report on Form 10-K), we acquired warrants that are exercisable for shares of our common stock. These warrants are
classified as a liability and remeasured at period end and the corresponding mark-to-market adjustment is included in financial income, net.

Income tax

We are in a taxable income position in the U.S. and in certain foreign jurisdictions, for which there are income taxes recorded. In addition, we record expenses
associated with uncertain income tax positions.

Share in losses of associated company

Investment in entities where we have the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control, over the investee and investment in joint ventures, are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting. As of December 31, 2022, we had a joint venture with assets and operations located in China. In January 2023, through
our subsidiary Payoneer Research and Development Ltd., we acquired all remaining interests in the joint venture from other partners, and intend to dissolve the
entity. For the periods prior to full ownership and consolidation, our share in the results of operations is included as share in losses of associated company on our
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for the years indicated, and the changes between periods.

    Year ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
(in thousands) 2023     2022     2021     2023     2022
Revenues $  831,103 $  627,623 $  473,403  32 %  33 %
Transaction costs (Exclusive of depreciation and amortization
shown separately below)(1)   122,291   110,165   101,476  11 %  9 %
Other operating expenses   160,609   149,199   124,649  8 %  20 %
Research and development expenses   119,197   115,041   80,760  4 %  42 %
Sales and marketing expenses   196,654   164,564   114,331  20 %  44 %
General and administrative expenses   100,929   90,010   64,399  12 %  40 %
Depreciation and amortization   27,814   20,858   17,997  33 %  16 %

Total operating expenses   727,494   649,837   503,612  12 %  29 %
Operating income (loss)   103,609   (22,214)   (30,209) ** %  (26)%
Financial income (expense):      
Gain from change in fair value of Warrants  17,359  33,963  11,824 (49)% 187 %
Other financial income (expense), net  11,568  (10,131)  (6,854) ** % 48 %

Financial income, net  28,927  23,832  4,970 21 % 380 %
Income (loss) before taxes on income and share in losses of
associated company   132,536   1,618   (25,239) ** %  ** %
Taxes on income   39,203   13,586   8,711  189 %  56 %
Share in losses of associated company   —   2   37  ** %  (95)%

Net income (loss) $  93,333 $  (11,970) $  (33,987) ** %  (65)%

** Not meaningful

(1) In 2023, 2022, and 2021 interest expense and fees associated with related party transaction were $1.8, $1.5, and $0.2 million respectively.
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Year ended December 31, 2023 Compared to the year ended December 31, 2022

Revenues

Revenues were $831.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $203.5 million, or 32%, compared to $627.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. Volume grew by $6.3 billion, or 11% compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in revenues was primarily driven by interest
income earned on customer balances resulting from rising interest rates and an increase in customer balances held on our platform. The remaining increase was
driven by a combination of growth in the number of customers on our platform, ongoing growth in high take rate regions, certain monetization initiatives and continued
adoption of our high value services.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs were $122.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $12.1 million, or 11%, compared to $110.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2023 were impacted by an increase in chargebacks and other transaction losses of
$3.4 million and an increase in Capital Advance losses.

Excluding the impact of these non-volume related costs, transaction costs increased by $6.5 million, or 6%, while volume increased by 11% compared to the prior
year period. Transaction costs grew at a lower rate than volume due to improved commercial terms with banking and other providers, internal platform optimizations,
and cost structure benefits from increased transaction volume.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses were $160.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $11.4 million, or 8%, compared to $149.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was driven primarily by an increase of $10.7 million in third-party contractors and consulting expenses. In addition,
there was an increase of $4.7 million in information technology expenses partially offset by various cost savings of $3.0 million.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses were $119.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $4.2 million, or 4%, compared to $115.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was driven primarily by an increase of $19.4 million in employee compensation, benefits and other employee-
related expenses as a result of an increase in average employee headcount, which was partially offset by the impact of our workforce reduction plan discussed
above. Expenses were also impacted by a $5.9 million increase in information technology expenses, and the impact of a $2.5 million increase in third party contract
and consultancy expenses. This was offset by an increase of $25.4 million in the amount of payroll and third-party related costs capitalized as internal use software.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, we also incurred $1.6 million in severance related costs for research and development employees related to the
workforce reduction plan discussed above.

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses were $196.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $32.1 million, or 20%, compared to $164.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was driven mainly by an increase of $19.2 million in marketplace partner commissions, an increase of $9.1 million
in employee compensation, benefits and other employee-related expenses as a result of an increase in average employee headcount, which was partially offset by
the impact of our workforce reduction plan discussed above, and an increase of $3.0 million in third party contract and consultancy expenses. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, we also incurred $2.0 million in severance related costs for sales and marketing employees related to the workforce reduction plan discussed
above.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses were $100.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $10.9 million, or 12%, compared to $90.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was driven mainly by an increase of $8.3 million in compensation, benefits and other employee-related
expenses as a result of an increase in employee headcount, an increase of $2.4 million in indirect taxes and fees and an increase of $2.3 million in expense related to
the fair value adjustment of a liability related to our 2020 acquisition of optile that positively impacted the prior period and did not recur. This was offset by a decrease
of $2.4 million in third-party contractors and consulting expenses.
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Depreciation and amortization expenses

Depreciation and amortization expenses were $27.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $6.9 million, or 33%, compared to $20.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was driven primarily by an increase in amortization of internal use software costs.

Financial income, net

Financial income, net was $28.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $5.1 million, or 21%, compared to $23.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. This increase was primarily driven by an increase of $11.9 million in interest income on corporate cash balances and $9.2 million from
revaluation of foreign currency balances, partially offset by the gain from revaluation of warrant liabilities that was $16.6 million less in the current period compared to
the prior period.

Income tax

Income tax expense was $39.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $25.6 million, or 189%, compared to $13.6 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2022. The increase was driven by current tax expense increase of $37.5 million due to higher profitability in the U.S. primarily from interest 
income, as well as the impact of certain share-based compensation and research and development expenses which are nondeductible for U.S. tax purposes. Such 
increase was offset by a deferred tax benefit of $11.1 million, $10.5 million of which related to the release of the Company’s valuation allowance on deferred tax 
assets related to our U.S. operations. 

Net income (loss)

For a discussion regarding our net income position in 2023 and net loss position in 2022, please refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources section below.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following discussion of our liquidity and capital resources is based on the financial information derived from our audited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from operating activities will be sufficient to meet our operating working capital, share
repurchase and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months. Our future financing requirements will depend on many factors including our
growth rate, the timing and extent of spending to support development of our platform and the ongoing expansion needs of sales and marketing activities. We have in
the past and may in the future enter into agreements with third parties with respect to investments in, or acquisitions of, businesses or technologies, which could also
require us to seek additional equity or debt financing.

Sources of Liquidity

As of December 31, 2023, we had $617.0 million of cash and cash equivalents.

As a result of the Reorganization, we raised gross proceeds of $874.5 million including the contribution of $574.5 million of cash held in FTOC’s trust account from
its initial public offering, which is net of redemptions of FTOC’s Common Stock held by FTOC’s public stockholders prior to the Reorganization. These proceeds were
mostly applied to transaction-related consideration to employees and investors as well as other transaction costs. We also raised $300.0 million of private investment
in public equity (“PIPE”) at $10.00 per share of Payoneer Global Inc.’s Common Stock.

On October 28, 2021, Payoneer Early Payments Inc. (“PEPI”), our wholly-owned second tier subsidiary and its subsidiary (the “Borrower”) entered into a multi-
party Receivables Loan and Security Agreement (the “Warehouse Facility”) with, inter alia, affiliates of Viola Ventures. The objective was to provide access to external
financing for our capital advance activity. See Note 11 and Note 22 to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for more information.
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Effective July 1, 2023, the Warehouse Facility interest rate was updated to the sum of the Daily Simple SOFR and 0.26161% plus 9% annually and has a
revolving maturity of 36 months from the commencement date with a payback period of an additional 6 months after the revolving maturity date. The initial borrowing
commitment is $25 million subject to increases at our request and the lender’s discretion up to $100 million. Additional commitments will carry interest rates ranging
from 7% to 7.75% in addition to the benchmark rate. In addition, pursuant to the Warehouse Facility, PEPI entered into an amendment on June 8, 2022, whereby
creating a condition that the total interest rate shall not exceed 10.5% per annum for all outstanding balances.

The Warehouse Facility is secured by eligible capital advance receivables at an initial rate of 80% of the total value of the underlying capital advance receivable
outstanding. We are subject to financial covenants including minimum tangible equity, solvency and unrestricted cash requirements that are assessed based on our
consolidated financial statements.

Current and Future Cash Requirements

On May 7, 2023, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program that provides for the repurchase of up to $80 million of our common stock,
including any applicable excise tax. On December 7, 2023, the Board authorized an amendment to the program to increase the authorized amount of repurchases to
an aggregate amount not to exceed $250 million, including the amount that remained available as of December 7, 2023 to repurchase common stock under, but not
any prior repurchases effected pursuant to, the previous authorization. The amended authorization expires December 31, 2025.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased 11,064,692 shares of our common stock for approximately $56.9 million, of which $1.5 million was
not yet settled at period end. As of December 31, 2023, a total of approximately $240 million remained available for future repurchases of our common stock under
the program.

Cash Flows

The following table presents a summary of cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the following comparative periods.

    Year ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023     2022     2021
Net cash provided by operating activities $  159,489 $  83,960 $  20,015
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   (44,254)   5,734   10,156
Net cash provided by financing activities   511,954   1,461,312   1,396,195
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   4,458   (2,719)   (1,222)
Change in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and customer funds $  631,647 $  1,548,287 $  1,425,144

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $159.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $75.5 million compared to $84.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022. This increase is primarily driven by a $105.3 million increase in net income in the current year compared to the prior year, as well as
increased non-cash expenses and lower non-cash gain from change in the fair value of warrant liabilities. These increases were offset by lower trade payable
balances, increased capital advance extensions net of collections, and non-cash income related to deferred taxes.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we had $93.3 million of net income, which includes non-cash expenses of $65.8 million related to stock-based
compensation and $27.8 million related to depreciation and amortization, as well as a $17.4 million non-cash gain from change in the fair value of warrant liabilities
and non-cash income of $11.1 million related to deferred taxes. Net income was also adjusted for changes in current assets and liabilities, including net inflows of
$13.6 million related to other payables and $10.2 million related to operating lease right-of-use assets. These inflows were offset by outflows of $8.3 million related to
capital advances, $8.3 million related to trade payables and $6.1 million related to other miscellaneous items.

Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $12.0 million after considering non-cash charges primarily consisting of stock-based compensation of
$52.1 million and $20.9 million in depreciation and amortization, as well as other non-cash items, offset by a $34.0 million gain from the change in fair value of
warrants.
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Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $44.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, a decrease of $50.0 million compared to cash provided by
investing activities $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This change was predominantly related to an increase of $33.0 million in the balance of
customer funds in transit at the current period end compared to the prior year period and an increase of $21.0 million in capitalization of internal use software, partially
offset by a cash inflow of $6.0 million related to our acquisition of the remaining interest in a joint venture, as described in Note 8 to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $512.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, a decrease of $949.4 million compared to $1.46 billion for the
year ended December 31, 2022, primarily driven by a lower increase in customer balances during the current year compared to the prior year. Additionally,
approximately $55.4 million was used in the year ended December 31, 2023 to finance our share repurchase program which began in 2023.

Lease Commitments

We have entered into various non-cancelable leases for certain offices and vehicles with contractual lease periods expiring between 2024 and 2035.

    Payments due by period
Less than More than

(in thousands) Total       1 year     1-3 years     3-5 years       5 years
Operating leases $  31,491 $  7,050 $  8,223 $  3,846 $  12,372

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of the balance sheet dates of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined by
Regulation S-K, that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Key Metrics and Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Our management uses a variety of financial and operating metrics to evaluate our business, analyze our performance, and make strategic decisions. We believe
these metrics and non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same
manner as management. However, certain of these measures are not financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as
substitutes for financial measures that have been calculated in accordance with GAAP. We primarily review the following key performance indicators and non-GAAP
measures when assessing our performance:

Volume

Volume refers to the total dollar value of transactions successfully completed or enabled by our platform, not including orchestration transactions. For a customer
that both receives and later sends payments, we count the volume only once. Volume serves as a key metric for overall business activity, as growing volume is one of
the primary drivers for our revenue growth.

    Year ended December 31,
(in millions) 2023     2022     2021
Volume $  66,020 $  59,729 $  55,381

Note: we have updated our methodology to adjust for previously disclosed limited exceptions where both received and sent payments were counted in volumes,
such that we count volume only once for a customer that both receives and later sends payments. The updated methodology has no impact on revenue and had, for
all periods presented, less than a 3% impact on volume. The update has been applied to all periods reflected in the table above and we have updated the definition of
volume accordingly.

Volume grew 11% for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, driven by a combination of continued growth with 
our largest digital commerce marketplaces, strong travel demand, and customer acquisition. 
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Revenue

We generate revenues mainly from transaction fees, which vary based on the type of service the customer utilizes. Transaction fee revenue principally consists of
fees for withdrawals and usage. We also earn revenues in certain instances from volumes coming into the platform related to our B2B services and through our
Checkout offering. We generate significant revenues from interest earned on customer funds held on our platform. In addition, we generate revenue from non-
volume-based products and services which are based on a fixed fee. We believe that Revenue demonstrates our ability to monetize volume activity on our platform.
Our revenues can be impacted by the following:

(i) Mix in customer size, products, and services;

(ii) Mix between domestic and cross-border transactions;

(iii) Geographic region or country in which a transaction occurs; and

(iv) Pricing and other market conditions, including interest rates.

Management closely monitors volume and revenue to ensure that we continue to grow funds and business activity that enters into the platform, expanding our
overall scale and the reach of our business.

Adjusted EBITDA

In addition to our financial results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe Adjusted EBITDA, as a non-GAAP measure, is useful in evaluating our
operating performance. We use Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes. We believe that this non-
GAAP financial measure, when taken together with the corresponding GAAP financial measures, provides meaningful supplemental information regarding our
performance by excluding certain items that may not be indicative of our business, results of operations or outlook. In particular, we believe that the use of Adjusted
EBITDA is helpful to our investors as it is a metric used by management in assessing our operating performance. However, non-GAAP financial information is
presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial
information presented in accordance with GAAP. In addition, other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate similarly-titled non-GAAP measures
differently or may use other measures to evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial measure as a tool for
comparison. A reconciliation is provided below for our non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with
GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measure and the reconciliation of this non-GAAP financial measure to their most directly
comparable GAAP financial measures, and not to rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

Adjusted EBITDA

    Year ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023     2022     2021
Net income (loss) $  93,333 $  (11,970) $  (33,987)
Depreciation and amortization   27,814   20,858   17,997
Taxes on income   39,203   13,586   8,711
Other financial (income) expense, net   (11,568)   10,131   6,854
EBITDA   148,782   32,605   (425)
Stock based compensation expenses(1)   65,767   52,150   37,012
Reorganization related expenses (2)  —  —  5,087
Share in losses of associated company  —  2  37
M&A related expenses (income) (3)   3,468   (2,323)   (1,721)
Gain from change in fair value of Warrants (4)  (17,359)  (33,963)  (11,824)
Restructuring charges(5)  4,488  —  —
Adjusted EBITDA $  205,146 $  48,471 $  28,166

(1) Represents non-cash charges associated with stock-based compensation expense, which has been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a
significant recurring expense in our business and an important part of our compensation strategy.
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(2) Represents the non-recurring reorganizational costs that were not recorded as a reduction of additional paid in capital. The amounts relate to legal and
professional services associated with the Reorganization.

(3) Amounts for the year ended December 31, 2023 relate to M&A-related third-party fees, including related legal, consulting and other expenditures. Amounts
for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 relate to a non-recurring fair value adjustment of a liability related to our 2020 acquisition of optile.

(4) Changes in the estimated fair value of the warrants are recognized as gain or loss on the statements of comprehensive income (loss). The impact is removed
from EBITDA as it represents market conditions that are not in our control.

(5) We initiated a plan to reduce our workforce during the year ended December 31, 2023 and had non-recurring costs related to severance and other employee
termination benefits. Please refer to Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere within this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
additional information.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the report amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses as well as related disclosures. On an ongoing
basis, we evaluate these estimates and the assumptions used. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that the accounting estimates discussed in this section are critical based on the subjectivity and judgement involved in the underlying assumptions,
and the materiality to our consolidated financial statements. Our significant accounting policies are described within Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for Capital advance (CA) losses:

We have established an allowance for CA losses (ALCAL), which represents our estimate of current expected credit losses inherent in our portfolio. Since the
adoption of ASC 326, Current Expected Credit Losses, as of January 1, 2022, we estimate ALCAL based on historical lifetime loss data as well as macroeconomic
forecasts applied to the portfolio, which is segmented by program. Loss rates are generated using historical loss data for each portfolio which are applied to segments
of each portfolio. We then apply macroeconomic factors such as market unemployment rate, current and forecasted GDP, S&P yield, risk free rate and inflation rate,
which are sourced externally, using a single scenario that we believe is most appropriate to the economic conditions applicable to a particular period. Expected credit
loss rates, incorporating historical loss data and macroeconomic factors, are applied to the principal amount of our CA receivables.

Determining appropriate current expected credit loss allowances for CA receivables is an inherently uncertain process and ultimate losses may vary from current
estimates. We regularly update our allowance estimates as new facts become known, and events occur that may impact the settlement or recovery of losses. The
allowances are maintained at a level we deem appropriate to adequately provide for current expected credit losses at the balance sheet date after incorporating the
impact of externally sourced macroeconomic forecasts.

Goodwill:

The valuation of assets acquired in a business combination require the use of significant estimates and assumptions. The acquisition method of accounting for
business combinations requires us to estimate the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in an acquired business to
properly allocate purchase price consideration between assets that are depreciated or amortized and goodwill. Our estimates are based upon assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These valuations require the use of management’s assumptions, which do not reflect
unanticipated events and circumstances that may occur.
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Goodwill is tested annually for impairment at the reporting unit level in the third quarter, or sooner when circumstances indicate an impairment may exist. The
impairment evaluation for goodwill utilizes a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that goodwill is impaired. The qualitative factors
may include, but are not limited to, macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, operating environment, financial performance and other relevant
events, which are inherently subject to estimation. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that goodwill is impaired, then we are required to perform a
quantitative goodwill impairment test, which requires us to estimate the fair value of our reporting units. The fair value of the reporting unit is estimated using a
discounted cash flow method. The discounted cash flow method, a form of the income approach, uses expected future operating results and a market participant
discount rate. Estimation is inherent in calculating the discount rate to apply and involves the use of third-party specialists.

Revenue recognition:

Application of the accounting principles in U.S. GAAP related to the measurement and recognition of revenue requires us to make judgments and estimates.
Complex arrangements with nonstandard terms and conditions may require significant contract interpretation to determine the appropriate accounting. Specifically,
the determination of whether we are a principal to a transaction (gross revenue) or an agent (net revenue) can require considerable judgment. Further, we provide
incentive payments to customers, including marketplace platforms, and merchants, which require judgment to determine whether the payments should be recorded as
a reduction to gross revenue. Changes in judgments with respect to these assumptions and estimates could impact the amount of revenue recognized.

Income taxes:

Calculating our tax provision requires us to make estimates regarding the timing and amount of taxable and deductible items which will adjust pretax income
earned in various tax jurisdictions. We are required to interpret complex tax legislation in the jurisdictions in which we operate, and although we believe that our
estimates and judgments discussed herein are reasonable, actual results may be materially different than the estimated amounts.

The measurement of deferred tax assets is reduced, if necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be
realized. Valuation allowances are established for deferred tax assets when the likelihood of the deferred tax assets not being realized exceeds the more likely than
not criterion. Assessing the likelihood of realizing deferred tax assets involves significant judgement and assumption. Management considers whether it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of
future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible.

We follow the guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires us to estimate whether it is more likely than
not (greater than 50%) that the tax position will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position; otherwise, no benefit can
be recognized. The tax benefits recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. Additionally, we accrue interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have been established consistent with
jurisdictional tax laws. Interest and penalties are classified as taxes on income in the consolidated financial statements.

In addition to aforementioned changes, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 also included a mandatory one-time tax on accumulated earnings of foreign
subsidiaries, and as a result, all previously unremitted earnings for which no U.S. deferred tax liability had been accrued were subject to U.S. taxation.
Notwithstanding the U.S. taxation of these amounts, we intend to continue to invest most or all of these earnings, as well as our capital in these subsidiaries,
indefinitely outside of the U.S. and do not expect to incur any significant, additional taxes related to such amounts.
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Loss contingencies:

We are a party to certain legal and regulatory proceedings with respect to a variety of matters. We evaluate the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome of all legal or
regulatory proceedings to which we are a party and accrue a loss contingency when the loss is probable and reasonably estimable. These judgments are subjective
based on the status of the legal or regulatory proceedings, the merits of its defenses and consultation with in-house and external legal counsel. Because of
uncertainties related to these matters, accruals are based only on the best information available at the time. As additional information becomes available, we reassess
the potential liability related to pending claims, litigation, or other enforcements and may revise our estimates. Due to the inherent uncertainties of the legal and
regulatory process in the multiple jurisdictions in which we operate, our judgments may differ materially from the actual outcomes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

A description of recently issued accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position, result of operations or cash flows is disclosed in
Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks.

We have operations both within the United States and globally, and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including the effects of
interest rate changes and foreign currency fluctuations. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about these market risks is described below.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Our cash and cash equivalents as well as customer funds as of December 31, 2023, were held in cash deposits and money market funds. The fair value of our
cash and cash equivalents as well as customer funds would not be significantly affected by either an increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the short-
term nature of these instruments. However, as of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, a hypothetical 1% increase or decrease in interest
rates could have a material effect on our revenues and earnings.

Any future borrowings incurred under our Warehouse Facility would accrue interest at a floating rate based on a formula tied to certain market rates at the time of
incurrence (as described above), not to exceed 10.5% per annum for all outstanding balances.

Foreign Currency Risk

While most of our revenue is earned in U.S. dollars, our foreign currency exposure includes currencies held in the countries in which our operations are located as
well as currencies in which our customer funds are held and may be subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in
the Euro, Japanese Yen, Chinese Yuan, Australian Dollar, Canadian Dollar, New Israeli Shekel, Philippine Peso, Indian Rupee, Bangladeshi Taka, Pakistani Rupee,
UAE Dirham, Pound Sterling, Indonesian Rupiah, South Korean Won, Mexican Peso, Polish Zloty, Vietnamese Dong and Hong Kong Dollar. As of the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, a hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in current exchange rates could have a material impact on our financial results.

In addition, some of our services include the opportunity for Payoneer to generate revenues from foreign exchange transactions as part of the payment delivery
process. Our ability to generate such revenues is partially dependent on external factors such as market conditions, applicable regulations and our ability to negotiate
with third party financial institutions. The impact of these efforts to optimize foreign exchange can be material to revenues and earnings.



Table of Contents

F-1

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

(a) Documents filed as part of this report
(a)(1) Financial Statements
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Payoneer Global Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  (PCAOB name: Kesselman & Kesselman C.P.A.s and PCAOB ID 1309 ) F-4
Consolidated balance sheets F-7
Consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss ) F-8
Consolidated statements of changes in redeemable preferred stock, redeemable convertible preferred stock and shareholders’ equity F-9
Consolidated statements of cash flows F-10
Notes to consolidated financial statements F-12

(2) Financial Statement Schedule
Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required or not applicable or the information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits: The exhibits to this report are listed in the exhibit index below.

(3)(b) Description of Exhibits
Exhibit Index
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Payoneer Global Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Payoneer Global Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), of changes in redeemable preferred stock, redeemable convertible preferred stock and
shareholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December
31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
appearing under item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.



Table of Contents

F-5

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical
audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Allowance for Capital Advances receivables

As described in Notes 2(h) and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, as of December 31, 2023, the Company recorded Capital Advances receivables of $45.5
million, net of allowance of $5.1 million. The allowance for Capital Advances receivables is based on probability of default methodology that includes macroeconomic
forecasts, which is segmented by programs. Management applies macroeconomic factors such as market unemployment rates, current and forecasted GDP, S&P
yields and inflation rates, which are sourced externally to reflect the economic conditions.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the allowance for Capital Advances receivables is a critical audit matter are
(i) the high degree of auditor subjectivity and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating to the models used which apply macroeconomic
forecasts to estimate expected credit losses; and (ii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the Company’s allowance estimation process, which included controls over
certain models which apply macroeconomic forecasts to estimate expected credit losses. These procedures also included, among others, the involvement of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in testing management’s process for determining the allowance for Capital Advances receivables
including evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology and models, testing the data used in the estimate and evaluating the reasonableness of significant
assumptions. Evaluating the assumptions used in the models involved evaluating the reasonableness of management’s application of macroeconomic forecasts to
estimate expected credit losses.

Uncertain Tax Positions

As described in Notes 2(aa) and 20 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has recorded liabilities for uncertain tax positions of $24.8 million as of
December 31, 2023. The estimate of the Company’s tax liabilities relating to uncertain tax positions requires management to assess uncertainties and to make
judgments about the application of complex tax laws and regulations. The Company operates on a global basis and is subject to tax laws and regulations in the US as
well as numerous foreign jurisdictions. The Company’s income tax filings are regularly under audit in multiple jurisdictions around the globe and income tax audits may
require an extended period of time to reach resolution and may result in significant income tax adjustments when interpretation of tax laws or the transfer pricing
between entities within the consolidated group is disputed.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to uncertain tax positions is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment
by management when determining the uncertain tax positions; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating
management’s timely identification and accurate measurement of the uncertain tax positions; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized
skill and knowledge to assist in evaluating the audit evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the identification and recognition of the liability for uncertain tax positions, and
controls addressing completeness of the uncertain tax positions, as well as controls over measurement of the amount recorded. These procedures also included,
among others, (i) testing the information used in the calculation of the liability for uncertain tax positions, related to filing positions and the related final tax returns; (ii)
testing the calculation of the liability for uncertain tax positions by jurisdiction, including management’s assessment of the technical merits of tax positions and
estimates of the amount of tax benefit expected to be sustained; (iii) testing the completeness of management’s assessment of both the identification of uncertain tax
positions and possible outcomes of each uncertain tax position; and (iv) evaluating the status and results of income tax audits with the relevant tax authorities.
Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of the completeness and measurement of the Company’s uncertain tax
positions, including evaluating the reasonableness of management’s assessment of whether tax positions are more-likely-than-not of being sustained and the amount
of potential benefit to be realized, and the application of relevant tax laws.

/s/ Kesselman & Kesselman
Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)
A member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited

Tel Aviv, Israel
February 28, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005.
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PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA

December 31, 
    2023     2022

Assets:       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents $ 617,022 $ 543,299
Restricted cash  7,030  2,882
Customer funds  6,390,526  5,838,612
Accounts receivable (net of allowance of $ 385 in 2023 and $ 246 in 2022)  7,980  12,878
Capital advance receivables (net of allowance of $ 5,059 in 2023 and $ 5,311 in 2022)  45,493  37,155
Other current assets  40,672  36,278

Total current assets  7,108,723  6,471,104
Non-current assets:     

Property, equipment and software, net  15,499  14,392
Goodwill  19,889  19,889
Intangible assets, net  76,266  45,444
Restricted cash  5,780  4,848
Deferred taxes  15,291  4,169
Investment in associated company  —  6,429
Severance pay fund  840  1,095
Operating lease right-of-use assets 24,854 15,260
Other assets  15,977  12,021

Total assets $ 7,283,119 $ 6,594,651

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:     
Current liabilities:     

Trade payables $ 33,941 $ 41,566
Outstanding operating balances  6,390,526  5,838,612
Other payables  117,508  97,334

Total current liabilities  6,541,975  5,977,512
Non-current liabilities:

Long-term debt from related party (refer to Notes 11 and 22 for further information)  18,411  16,138
Warrant liability  8,555  25,914
Other long-term liabilities  49,905  29,831

Total liabilities 6,618,846 6,049,395
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)     

Shareholders’ equity:     
Preferred stock, $ 0.01 par value, 380,000,000 shares authorized; no shares were issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022.  —  —
Common stock, $ 0.01 par value, 3,800,000,000 and 3,800,000,000 shares authorized; 368,655,185 and 352,842,025 shares issued and
357,590,493 and 352,842,025 shares outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.  3,687  3,528
Treasury stock at cost, 11,064,692 and 0 shares at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. ( 56,936 ) —
Additional paid-in capital  732,894  650,433
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  ( 176 )  ( 176 )
Accumulated deficit ( 15,196 ) ( 108,529 )

Total shareholders’ equity 664,273 545,256
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 7,283,119 $ 6,594,651

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA

    Year ended December 31
    2023     2022     2021

Revenues $ 831,103 $ 627,623 $ 473,403

Transaction costs (Exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below and inclusive of
$ 1,781 , $ 1,491 , and $ 220 interest expense and fees associated with related party transactions in
2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively, refer to Notes 11 and 22 for further information)  122,291  110,165  101,476
Other operating expenses  160,609  149,199  124,649
Research and development expenses  119,197  115,041  80,760
Sales and marketing expenses  196,654  164,564  114,331
General and administrative expenses  100,929  90,010  64,399
Depreciation and amortization  27,814  20,858  17,997

Total operating expenses  727,494  649,837  503,612

Operating income (loss)  103,609  ( 22,214 )  ( 30,209 )

Financial income (expense):    
Gain from change in fair value of Warrants 17,359 33,963 11,824
Other financial income (expense), net  11,568  ( 10,131 )  ( 6,854 )
Financial income, net 28,927 23,832 4,970

Income (loss) before taxes on income and share in losses of associated company 132,536 1,618 ( 25,239 )
   

Taxes on income  39,203  13,586  8,711

Share in losses of associated company — 2 37
       

Net income (loss) $ 93,333 $ ( 11,970 ) $ ( 33,987 )

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustments — ( 2,429 ) ( 1,921 )

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — ( 2,429 ) ( 1,921 )

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 93,333 $ ( 14,399 ) $ ( 35,908 )

Per Share Data
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders — Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.26 $ ( 0.03 ) $ ( 0.33 )
— Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.24 $ ( 0.03 ) $ ( 0.33 )

       
Weighted average common shares outstanding — Basic 361,678,893 348,044,831 202,881,911
Weighted average common shares outstanding — Diluted 392,665,718 348,044,831 202,881,911

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED
STOCK AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA

Accumulated
Redeemable convertible Redeemable Additional other

preferred stock preferred stock Common Stock Treasury Stock paid-in comprehensive Accumulated
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount    Shares     Amount   Shares     Amount     capital     income (loss)     deficit     Total

Balance at January 1, 2021  209,529,798 $ 154,800 3,500  $ 10,735 48,608,176 $ 486 — $ — $ 79,706 $ 4,174 $ ( 60,067 ) $ 24,299
Reverse Recapitalization transaction  ( 209,529,798 ) ( 154,800 ) — — 249,792,546 2,498 — — 189,056 —  —  191,554
PIPE financing  — — — — 30,000,000 300 — —  279,885 —  —  280,185
Redemption of Redeemable
Preferred Stock  — — ( 3,500 ) ( 10,735 ) — — — —  ( 29,069 ) —  —  ( 29,069 
Exercise of options and vested RSUs — — — — 11,704,229 117 — — 18,883 — — 19,000
Stock-based compensation  — — — — — — — —  37,012 —  —  37,012
Deferred consideration related to
acquisition of optile  — — — — 279,206 3 — —  ( 3 ) —  —  —
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax  — — — — — — — — — ( 1,921 ) — ( 1,921 
Net loss — — — — — — — —  — —  ( 33,987 )  ( 33,987 

Balance at December 31, 2021 — $ — — $ — 340,384,157 $ 3,404 — $ — $ 575,470 $ 2,253 $ ( 94,054 ) $ 487,073

Balance at January 1, 2022  — $ — —  $ — 340,384,157 $ 3,404 — $ — $ 575,470 $ 2,253 $ ( 94,054 ) $ 487,073
Adoption of ASC 326 — — — — — — — — — — ( 2,505 ) ( 2,505 
Exercise of options and vested RSUs — — — — 11,478,291 114 — — 17,392 — — 17,506
Stock-based compensation — — — — — — — — 53,741 — — 53,741
ESPP shares issued — — — — 979,577 10 — — 3,830 — — 3,840
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — — — — — — — ( 2,429 ) — ( 2,429 
Net loss — — — — — — — —  — —  ( 11,970 )  ( 11,970 

Balance at December 31, 2022 — $ — — $ — 352,842,025 $ 3,528 — $ — $ 650,433 $ ( 176 ) $ ( 108,529 ) $ 545,256

Balance at January 1, 2023  — $ — —  $ — 352,842,025 $ 3,528 — $ — $ 650,433 $ ( 176 ) $ ( 108,529 ) $ 545,256
Exercise of options and vested
RSUs, and shares granted, net of
taxes paid related to settlement of
equity awards — — — — 13,959,542 140 — — 6,329 — — 6,469
Stock-based compensation — — — — — — — — 69,028 — — 69,028
ESPP shares issued — — — — 1,853,618 19 — — 7,104 — — 7,123
Common stock repurchased — — — — — — ( 11,064,692 ) ( 56,936 ) — — — ( 56,936 
Net income — — — — — — — —  — —  93,333  93,333

Balance at December 31, 2023 — $ — — $ — 368,655,185 $ 3,687 ( 11,064,692 ) $( 56,936 ) $ 732,894 $ ( 176 ) $ ( 15,196 ) $ 664,273

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS

Year ended December 31
    2023     2022     2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities          
Net income (loss) $ 93,333 $ ( 11,970 ) $ ( 33,987 )
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:          

Depreciation and amortization  27,814  20,858  17,997
Deferred taxes  ( 11,122 )  731  ( 1,216 )
Stock-based compensation expenses  65,767  52,149  37,012
Share in losses of associated company  —  2  37
Gain from change in fair value of Warrants ( 17,359 ) ( 33,963 ) ( 11,824 )
Transaction costs allocated to Warrants — — 5,087
Foreign currency re-measurement (income) loss  ( 4,359 )  2,752  1,103

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of business combinations:      
Other current assets  ( 4,310 )  ( 11,421 )  ( 14,694 )
Trade payables  ( 8,326 )  24,284  469
Deferred revenue  1,348  224  ( 432 )
Accounts receivable, net  4,898  964  3,933
Capital advance extended to customers  ( 299,139 )  ( 223,819 )  ( 330,510 )
Capital advance collected from customers  290,801  237,834  342,930
Other payables  13,619  16,608  691
Other long-term liabilities  232  ( 3,480 )  ( 4,775 )
Operating lease right-of-use assets 10,248 10,686 9,525
Other assets  ( 3,956 )  1,521  ( 1,331 )

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 159,489 $ 83,960 $ 20,015

Cash Flows from Investing Activities        
Purchase of property, equipment and software  ( 8,459 )  ( 10,504 )  ( 6,891 )
Capitalization of internal use software  ( 39,333 )  ( 18,329 )  ( 14,008 )
Related party asset acquisition (Refer to Notes 7 and 22 for further information) ( 3,600 ) — —
Severance pay fund (contributions) distributions, net  255  628  ( 99 )
Customer funds in transit, net  930  33,939  31,154
Net cash inflow from acquisition of remaining interest in joint venture (Refer to Note 8 for further information)  5,953  —  —

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ ( 44,254 ) $ 5,734 $ 10,156

Cash Flows from Financing Activities        
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection with stock based compensation plan, net of taxes paid related to settlement of
equity awards  13,203  21,346  19,000
Outstanding operating balances, net  551,914  1,437,358  1,054,530
Borrowings under related party facility (Refer to Notes 11 and 22 for further information)  26,855  29,363  17,431
Repayments under related party facility (Refer to Notes 11 and 22 for further information) ( 24,582 ) ( 26,755 ) ( 3,766 )
Repayments under loan and security agreement — — ( 40,025 )
Redemption of redeemable preferred stock — — ( 39,803 )
Proceeds from Reverse Recapitalization, net — — 108,643
Proceeds from PIPE financing, net — — 280,185
Common stock repurchased ( 55,436 ) — —

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 511,954 $ 1,461,312 $ 1,396,195

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents $ 4,458 $ ( 2,719 ) $ ( 1,222 )

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and customer funds  631,647  1,548,287  1,425,144
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and customer funds at beginning of year  6,386,720  4,838,433  3,413,289
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and customer funds at end of year $ 7,018,367 $ 6,386,720 $ 4,838,433

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:        
Cash paid for taxes, net of refunds $ 40,910 $ 9,425 $ 3,689
Cash interest paid $ 1,767 $ 1,466 $ 1,919

Supplemental information of investing and financing activities not involving cash flows:      
Property, equipment, and software acquired but not paid $ 810 $ 109 $ 20
Internal use software capitalized but not paid $ 10,159 $ 4,392 $ 1,560
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 19,842 $ 13,003 $ 3,188
Common stock repurchased but not paid $ 1,500 $ — $ —
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock into Common Stock $ — $ — $ 154,800
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PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS

The below table reconciles cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and customer funds as reported in the consolidated balance sheets to the total of the same
amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows:

As of December 31, 
    2023     2022     2021

Cash and cash equivalents $ 617,022 $ 543,299 $ 465,926
Current restricted cash  7,030  2,882  3,000
Non-current restricted cash 5,780 4,848 5,113
Customer funds(1)  6,388,535  5,835,691  4,364,394

Total cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and customer funds shown in the consolidated
statements of cash flows $ 7,018,367 $ 6,386,720 $ 4,838,433

(1)Excludes $ 1,991 , $ 2,921 and $ 36,860 of customer funds in transit as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Supplemental schedule about Reverse Recapitalization during the year ended December 31, 2021

Cash held by FTOC and cash related to FTOC trust, net of redemptions     $ 574,961
Less cash consideration paid to Legacy Payoneer Shareholders  398,201
Less cash paid associated with transaction costs allocated to Reverse Recapitalization  68,117
Reverse Recapitalization financing  108,643
Cash related to PIPE  300,000
Less cash paid associated with transaction costs allocated to PIPE  19,815
PIPE financing  280,185

Net contributions from Reverse Recapitalization and PIPE financing $ 388,828

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1 – GENERAL OVERVIEW

Unless the context otherwise requires, the “Company”, “Payoneer”, “we,” “our,” “us” and similar terms refer to Payoneer Inc. for the period prior to the Closing Date
(as defined below) and to Payoneer Global Inc., for the period thereafter.

Payoneer, incorporated in Delaware, empowers global commerce by connecting businesses, professionals, countries and currencies with its diversified cross-border
payments platform. Payoneer enables small and medium-sized businesses (“SMB(s)”) around the globe to reach new audiences by reducing the complexity of cross-
border trade, and facilitating seamless, cross-border payments. Payoneer offers its customers the flexibility to pay and get paid globally as easily as they do locally.
The Company offers a suite of services that includes cross-border payments, physical and virtual Mastercard cards, working capital, risk management and other
services. The fully-hosted service includes various payment options with minimal integration required, full back-office functions and customer support offered.

The Company supports customers that come from more than 190 countries and territories and operates in a rapidly evolving regulatory environment. Government
regulations impact key aspects of the Company’s business in markets in which the Company operates.

Payoneer is registered as a Money Service Business with the U.S. Treasury’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) and licensed as a Money Transmitter
under the laws of all U.S. states where such license is necessary, as well as in the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. In 2015, the Company, through Payoneer
Hong Kong Limited, was granted a Money Service Operator License in Hong Kong which enables the Company to offer payment services from Hong Kong. In 2016,
the Company, through Payoneer Japan Limited, was registered as a Funds Transfer Service Provider in Japan. In 2018, the Company, through Payoneer Australia
PTY Limited, was registered as a Financial Services Licensee in Australia. In 2019, the Company, through Payoneer Europe Limited, was granted authorization to
operate as an Electronic Money Institution from the Central Bank of Ireland and was then authorized, pursuant to EU passporting rules, to provide payment services
under its license in all countries in the European Economic Area. Payoneer Europe Limited also holds a license with Mastercard to issue cards, and as of December
31, 2020, was the issuer of the majority of cards issued to Payoneer customers. In January 2021, Payoneer entered into an agreement with an existing card issuing
partner in the United States that enables Payoneer to provide its customers with access to commercial Mastercard cards issued through the card issuing partner to
make online purchases of commercial goods and services. This commercial card provides advantages such as higher acceptance rates. In 2023, the Company,
through Payoneer Payment Services (UK) Limited, was granted authorization as an Electronic Money Institution from the Financial Conduct Authority of the United
Kingdom, and through Payoneer Singapore Pte Ltd., was granted a Major Payment Institution License from the Monetary Authority of Singapore.

On June 25, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Payoneer Inc. (“Legacy Payoneer”) and FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corporation (“FTOC”), consummated the previously
announced business combination pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (the “Reorganization Agreement”), dated February 3, 2021 (as amended),
through a merger of subsidiaries under a newly formed holding company (the “Reverse Recapitalization”).

On the Closing Date, and in connection with the closing of the Reverse Recapitalization, the new combined company changed its name to Payoneer Global Inc. (the
“Company”). Legacy Payoneer was deemed the accounting acquirer in the Reverse Recapitalization based on an analysis of the criteria outlined in Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations. This determination was primarily based on Legacy Payoneer's stockholders prior to the Reverse
Recapitalization having a majority of the voting interests in the combined company, Legacy Payoneer's operations comprising the ongoing operations of the combined
company, Legacy Payoneer's board of directors comprising a majority of the board of directors of the combined company, Legacy Payoneer's senior management
comprising the senior management of the combined company and the assets and revenue of Legacy Payoneer were greater than those of FTOC. As FTOC did not
meet the definition of a “business” for accounting purposes, the Reverse Recapitalization was treated as the equivalent of Legacy Payoneer issuing stock for the net
assets of FTOC, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of FTOC are stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded.
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NOTE 1 – GENERAL OVERVIEW (continued):

While FTOC was the legal acquirer in the Reverse Recapitalization, because Legacy Payoneer was deemed the accounting acquirer, the historical financial
statements of Legacy Payoneer became the historical financial statements of the combined company upon the consummation of the Reverse Recapitalization. As a
result, the financial statements included in this report reflect (i) the historical operating results of Legacy Payoneer prior to the Reverse Recapitalization; (ii) the
combined results of the Company and Legacy Payoneer following the closing of the Reverse Recapitalization; (iii) the assets and liabilities of Legacy Payoneer at their
historical cost; and (iv) the Company’s equity structure for all periods presented.

In accordance with guidance applicable to these circumstances, the equity structure has been retroactively adjusted in all comparative periods up to the Closing
Date to reflect the number of shares of the Company's common stock, at $ 0.01 par value per share, issued to Legacy Payoneer's stockholders in connection with the
Reverse Recapitalization transaction. As such, the shares and corresponding capital amounts and earnings per share related to Legacy Payoneer redeemable
convertible preferred stock and common stock prior to the Reverse Recapitalization have been retroactively adjusted as shares reflecting the exchange ratio
established pursuant to the Reorganization Agreement. In conjunction with the Reverse Recapitalization, the Company’s Common Stock underwent a 1-for-  1.88
conversion. Note that the consolidated financial statements give retroactive effect as though the conversion of the Company’s Common Stock occurred for all periods
presented, without any change in the par value per share.

NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Principles of consolidation, basis of presentation, and accounting principles:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) in the United
States of America (hereafter – U.S. GAAP) and include the accounts of Payoneer Global Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in an entity where the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not
control, over the investee are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. For such investments, the Company’s share of the investee’s results of
operations is shown within Share in losses of associated company on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) and its investment
balance as an investment in associated company on the consolidated balance sheets.

b. Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and
assumptions include, but are not limited to, allowance for capital advance receivables, income taxes, goodwill, revenue recognition, stock-based
compensation, and loss contingencies.

c. Functional currency and translation:

The functional currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar (“dollar” or “$”). Where the Company’s foreign subsidiaries derive their revenue primarily from
services provided to the parent company as well as obtain their financing from the parent company in dollars, the Company has determined the functional
currencies to be the dollar as well.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

Accordingly, monetary accounts maintained in currencies other than the dollar are re-measured into dollars in accordance with the principles set forth in ASC
830, Foreign Currency Translation, in the following manner:

Balances in non-dollar currencies are translated into dollars using historical and current exchange rates for non-monetary and monetary balances,
respectively. For non-dollar transactions reflected in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), the transaction date exchange rates are
used. The resulting transaction gains or losses are recorded as other financial income or expense. The Company recognized $ 5,628 of such transaction
losses during the year ended December 31, 2023. Depreciation, amortization and other changes deriving from non-monetary items are based on historical
exchange rates.

Prior to 2023, the Company was also affected by fluctuations in exchange rates on its investment in an associated company (refer to Note 8 for details around
the acquisition of the remaining interest). The assets and liabilities of the associated company whose functional currency was a foreign currency were
translated at the period-end rate of exchange. The resulting translation adjustment was recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss)
(“OCI”) and is included in shareholders' equity.

Prior to 2023, the Company also had a foreign subsidiary that used the local currency of the respective country as its functional currency. As of January 1,
2023, this subsidiary has changed its functional currency to be that of the Company, the U.S. dollar, due to a shift in the subsidiary’s primary revenue
streams, which are now substantially all from services provided to the Company. In periods prior to 2023, assets and liabilities of the non-U.S. dollar
functional currency subsidiary were translated into U.S. dollars at the period-end rate of exchange. Revenues, costs, and expenses of the non-U.S. dollar
functional currency subsidiary were translated into U.S. dollars using transaction date exchange rates. Gains and losses resulting from these translations
were recorded as a component of OCI. Gains and losses from the remeasurement of foreign currency transactions into the functional currency were
recognized as other financial income or expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

d. Fair value measurement:

The Company applies the provisions of ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”), regarding fair value measurements for assets and
liabilities. ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires certain disclosures about fair value measurements. The
provisions apply whenever other accounting pronouncements require or permit fair value measurements.

Fair value measurements used in the consolidated financial statements are based upon the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy distinguishes between (1) market participant
assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources (observable inputs) and (2) an entity’s own assumptions about market
participant assumptions developed based on the best information available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs). The fair value hierarchy consists of
three broad levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1— Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions about the inputs that
market participants would use in pricing.



Table of Contents

PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS (EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

F-15

NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair values of the Company's cash, cash equivalents, customer funds, restricted cash, accounts receivable, capital
advance receivables, accounts payable, outstanding operating balances, and long-term debt approximated the carrying values of these instruments
presented in the Company's consolidated balance sheets because of their nature. The fair value of the warrants described within Note 15 is determined by
utilizing the publicly available price of the Company’s stock (Level 1). The fair value of long-term debt, when carrying value does not approximate fair value,
is determined using Level 3 unobservable inputs and assumptions by the Company.

e. Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash:

The Company considers cash invested in short-term bank deposits (up to three months from date of deposit) that are not restricted to withdrawal or use and
money market instruments, to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances with various financial institutions. The
Company regularly reviews investment concentrations of these institutions and has relationships with a globally diversified group of banks and financial
institutions.

The Company defines restricted cash as cash held as collateral for the purpose of maintaining compliance with certain agreements, deposits held with
payment processors and issuing banks that assist the Company in executing payment transactions, deposits in connection with regulatory requirements,
deposits for prospective hedging activities, and deposits for property rental in different locations around the globe. The classification of restricted cash
between current and non-current assets depends on the expected duration of the underlying activity.

f. Customer funds:

The Company holds all customer balances, both in the U.S. and internationally, as direct claims against us which are reflected on the consolidated balance
sheets as a liability classified as outstanding operating balances. The Company classifies the assets underlying the customer funds as current based on their
purpose and availability to fulfill the direct obligation of the Company under amounts due to customers. The Company maintains dedicated interest and non-
interest bearing bank accounts for the holding of all customer funds. The Company does not comingle customer funds in accounts dedicated for holding
corporate funds. In certain jurisdictions, the Company may be restricted as to the types of accounts in which customer funds may be maintained and as to the
types of assets that may be held.

Customer funds include funds in transit that have not yet settled with the designated payee bank account or have yet to be loaded to a customer card or
account. These funds are classified on the consolidated statements of cash flows as investing activities.

g. Accounts receivable, net:

The Company records receivables when services are transferred to customers in exchange for a right to receive consideration, conditional only upon the
passage of time. The Company periodically assesses and evaluates the collectability of outstanding receivables and maintains an allowance for expected
credit losses related to accounts receivable.

h. Capital advance (“CA”) receivables, net:

The Company enters into transactions with pre-qualified sellers in which the Company purchases a designated amount of future receivables for an upfront
cash purchase price. The delivery of the future receivables purchased in exchange for the advance cash purchase price is facilitated through the seller’s
payment processing activities with the Company. There is no economic recourse to the seller in the event that the future receivables are not generated.
There is also no fixed period of time in which the seller must deliver the purchased future receivables to the Company, as delivery of the purchased future
receivables is contingent on the sellers’ generation of such receivables.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

Although there is no economic recourse to the seller in the event that the future receivables are not generated, the degree of uncertainty related to this
economic benefit is mitigated by the due diligence performed by the Company prior to purchasing the seller’s future receivables and is further mitigated by
contractual remedies.

The Company’s due diligence includes, but is not limited to, detailed analysis of the seller’s historical processing volumes, transaction count, chargeback
history, growth of the seller, and account longevity with the Company or marketplace.

The Company recognizes revenues associated with these fees over the CA period, adjusting the amount to reflect an effective interest rate. The fees earned
on these receivables are included in revenue on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) and the total fees were not significant to the
Company’s operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

CA receivables, net represents the aggregate amount of CA-related receivables as of the consolidated balance sheet date, net of an allowance for potential
uncollectible amounts in the event of merchant fraud, diversion or default. For the purchased receivables, the Company is generally exposed to potential
advance losses related to uncollectibility, and as such, the Company establishes an allowance for CA losses (“ALCAL”). Changes to the ALCAL are reflected
as transaction costs on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), according to company’s charge-off methodology.

Beginning in 2022, following the Company’s modified retrospective adoption of ASC 326, the ALCAL is primarily based on expectations of credit losses
based on historical lifetime loss data as well as macroeconomic forecasts applied to the portfolio, which is segmented by programs. Loss rates are generated
using historical loss data for each portfolio and are applied to segments of each portfolio. The Company then applies macroeconomic factors such as market
unemployment rate, current and forecasted GDP, S&P yield and inflation rate, which are sourced externally, using a single scenario that the Company
believes is most appropriate to the economic conditions applicable to a particular period. Expected credit loss rates, inclusive of historical loss data and
macroeconomic factors, are applied to the principal amount of the Company’s CA receivables.

Prior to 2022, the Company had implemented a risk-based methodology that was used to estimate future losses based on historical loss experience as well
as qualitative judgment when historical loss data was not available. For product offerings with sufficient historical loss experience, the Company developed
loss estimates based on receivable balance attributes such as account payment status, percentage of collections per day, and length of time from advance to
collection. Based on these attributes, a historical loss rate was applied to calculate the allowance for CA losses. For product offerings that did not have
significant historical loss data to develop a historical loss percentage, the Company estimated losses by evaluating portfolio factors such as average balance
outstanding by customer as well as creating specific identification provisions for known collection risks.

i. Property, equipment and software, net:

Property, equipment, and software are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Additions, renewals, and betterments are capitalized.
Maintenance and repairs that do not extend the useful life of the asset are expensed as incurred.

The Company computes depreciation and amortization using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives as follows:

    Years
Computers, software and peripheral equipment  3 - 5
Furniture and office equipment  6 - 16

Leasehold improvements  
Shorter of useful life of improvement or

lease term
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

j. Internal use software:

The Company accounts for costs incurred to develop or obtain software and other applications for internal use in accordance with ASC 350-40, Internal-Use
Software. Software purchased for internal use is accounted for as the acquisition of an intangible asset and is capitalized at cost. Costs related to developing
software for internal use are expensed or capitalized depending on the project stage in which the costs are incurred. The Company capitalizes costs incurred
during the application development stage, which include costs to design the software, application configuration, interfaces, coding, installation, and testing.
Costs incurred during the preliminary project and post-implementation stages are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized internal use software is presented within intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets. The assets are amortized over the period of
estimated benefit of three years , using the straight-line method, and related amortization is presented under depreciation and amortization on the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). Costs incurred to maintain existing product offerings are expensed as incurred. The capitalization
and ongoing assessment of recoverability of development cost requires considerable judgement by management.

k. Business combinations and asset acquisitions:

The Company evaluates whether a transaction meets the definition of a business. The Company first applies a screen test to determine if substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

If the screen test is met, the transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition. The Company recognizes assets acquired in an asset acquisition based on
the cost to the Company on a relative fair value basis, which includes transaction costs in addition to consideration transferred and liabilities incurred as part
of the transaction. Neither goodwill nor bargain purchase gains are recognized in an asset acquisition.

If the screen test is not met, the Company further considers whether the set of assets or acquired entities have at a minimum, inputs and processes that have
the ability to create outputs which would meet the definition of a business. The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method
when control is transferred to the Company. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net tangible and
intangible assets acquired. The fair value of the assets are considered significant estimates made by the Company. Any residual purchase price is allocated
as goodwill. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. Any contingent consideration connected to
the business combination is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition and each reporting period thereafter. During the measurement period, which
may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the fair value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in the business combination, with the corresponding offset recorded to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final
determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the Company’s
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

l. Deferred transaction costs:

The Company capitalizes certain legal, professional accounting and other third-party fees that are directly associated with in-process equity financing
activities, including the Reverse Recapitalization and the PIPE offering described within Note 3, as deferred costs until such financings are consummated.
Upon consummation of the equity financing activity, these fees are recorded in the stockholders’ equity (deficit) as a reduction of additional paid-in capital
generated as a result of the activity.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

m. Goodwill and intangible assets:

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination and is allocated to the reporting
unit expected to benefit from the business combination. Goodwill is tested for impairment, at a minimum, on an annual basis at the reporting unit level by first
performing a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the
reporting unit does not pass the qualitative assessment, the reporting unit’s carrying value is compared to its fair value. Goodwill is considered impaired if the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value.

The fair value of the reporting unit is estimated using a discounted cash flow method. The discounted cash flow method, a form of the income approach, uses
expected future operating results and a market participant discount rate. Failure to achieve these expected results, changes in the discount rate or market
pricing metrics, may cause a future impairment of goodwill at the reporting unit level.

Intangible assets consist of acquired developed technology and internal use software (refer to note 2j). Intangible assets are amortized over the period of
estimated useful life using the straight-line method and have estimated useful lives ranging from three to six years . No significant residual value is estimated
for intangible assets.

The Company evaluates intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may
not be recoverable. An asset is considered impaired if its carrying value exceeds the future net cash flow the asset is expected to generate.

n. Impairment of long-lived assets:

The Company reviews long-lived assets for their impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may
not be recoverable. If the carrying value of the asset exceeded the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset, a write-down would be recorded to reduce the related asset to its estimated fair value.

o. Leases:

The Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) effective January 1, 2021, using a modified retrospective basis and applied the optional practical
expedients related to the transition, including those related to lease classification and hindsight.

The Company determines whether an arrangement is a lease for accounting purposes at contract inception by determining whether an asset is explicitly or
implicitly identified in the arrangement, and whether the Company obtains the right to control the use of that asset. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
Company had entered into operating leases for office facilities and employee vehicles and did not have any finance leases.

Operating leases are recorded as right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, which are presented as right-of-use assets, and lease liabilities, which are included in other
payables and other long-term liabilities, on the consolidated balance sheets, depending on their classification as short or long-term, respectively.

ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make
lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate; it uses an incremental borrowing rate for specific terms on a
collateralized basis based on the information available on either the ASC 842, Leases, transition date or lease commencement date, as applicable, in
determining the present value of lease payments.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

The ROU asset calculation includes lease payments to be made and excludes lease incentives. The ROU asset and lease liability may include amounts
attributed to options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense for operating
leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In certain instances, the Company may have lease agreements with lease and non-lease
components. In these instances, the Company has elected to apply the practical expedient and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases. The Company applies a single portfolio approach within certain lease classes to account for the ROU assets and lease
liabilities. The Company does not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities arising from short-term leases.

p. Warrant liability

The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’s specific terms and
applicable authoritative guidance in ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The
assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480,
and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’s
own shares of Common Stock and whether the warrant holders could potentially require different settlement value of consideration in a circumstance outside
of the Company’s control, among other conditions for equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at
the time of warrant issuance.

For issued or modified warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional
paid-in capital at the time of issuance. For issued warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as
a derivative liability at their initial fair value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair value of the
warrants are recognized as gain or loss on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). In accordance with ASC 825-10, Financial
Instruments, offering costs attributable to the issuance of the derivative warrant liabilities are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income (loss) as
incurred.

q. Treasury stock:

The Company accounts for repurchases of shares of its common stock as of the trade date, and includes in treasury stock the repurchase price plus any
costs associated with the transaction.

When and if treasury stock is reissued, the Company applies the average cost method to determine the value of the reissued shares, and to the extent that it
remains in an accumulated deficit position, recognizes any related gain or loss in additional paid-in capital. When and if the Company’s accumulated deficit
becomes a retained earnings balance, it will credit gains on reissuances to additional paid-in capital and offset losses against historical gains. Losses in
excess of historical gains will be recognized against retained earnings.  

Treasury stock is included in authorized and issued shares but excluded from outstanding shares.

r. Revenue recognition:

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company
expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

The majority of the Company’s revenue is recognized and collected upon the completion of the underlying transaction.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

Card and Customer Account revenue:

1) Transaction fee revenues - the Company’s transaction fee revenue principally consists of usage fees. Revenue may vary based on the size and
volume of transactions, the payment methods used, the currencies to be ultimately disbursed and the countries to which the funds are transferred.
Transaction fee revenues are recognized at a point in time which is the period when the underlying transactions occur, and at this time the amounts
are known.

2) Collection and loading fees - fees are charged to customers upon withdrawal of funds into a customer’s bank account or utilization of funds loaded or
allocated to cards. Fees are recognized at a point in time which is the period that the underlying withdrawal or load to a customer occurs.

3) Service and maintenance fees - maintenance and service fees are charged either monthly or annually to customers. Fees charged in advance to
customers covering a single reporting period or multiple reporting periods are recognized when the fee is charged as there is no binding contract
term and the fee does not represent a material right to the customer.

4) Cancellations and refunds of fees - the Company records revenue net of transaction cancellation and refunds of fees. Cancellations and refunds of
fees are estimated at the time that the underlying transaction occurs and are provided for in advance of the cancellation or refund.

Capital Advance fees:

The Company offers customers a cash advance in exchange for a fixed amount of their future receivables. Such customers use Payoneer’s payment
services to receive payments from third party online marketplaces for goods and services sold on the marketplaces. For the cash advances in which the
Company retains the right to future receivables, the fee is recognized over the advance period.

Global Bank Transfer Revenue:

Revenues generated from bank transfers are recorded at the time the related funds transfer is executed and delivered to the beneficiary. Revenue is deferred
until it reaches the beneficiary even if it has been collected by the Company at any point during the bank transfer process. The timing of recognition is
dependent on geographic region, and overall reliance on third party processors and financial institutions.

The Company uses third-party processors and financial institutions in executing foreign exchange transactions with third-parties. The Company acts as the
principal in these transactions and recognizes revenue as it relates to these transactions on a gross basis as the Company controls the service to the end
customer and directs third party processors and other financial institutions to perform the specified services on the Company’s behalf. To the extent revenues
are recorded on a gross basis, any commissions or other payments to third-parties are recorded as transaction costs so that the net amount (gross revenue
less transaction costs) is reflected in operating income (loss). The company charges both fixed and variable fees related to global bank transfers. Fixed fees
are generally on a per transaction basis while variable are generally based on volume of transactions where transactions involve funds transferred to the
Company in one currency which are transferred to a beneficiary in another currency.

Interest earned on customer funds balances

As discussed in Note 2f, the Company holds customer funds in both interest and non-interest bearing accounts. Interest earned on these balances is
recognized as revenue.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

Customer acquisition costs

The Company capitalizes certain consideration paid to customers, which include costs associated with customer acquisition rewards, and certain costs to
obtain contracts, which include employee sales commissions that are incremental to the acquisition of customer contracts. These costs are recorded as other
assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company determines whether costs should be deferred based on the incremental nature of the underlying
cost and if the cost would not have occurred absent the customer acquisition.

Customer acquisition rewards primarily refers to incentive payments made to existing customers, third parties and new customers when a new customer is
referred and utilizes the Company’s services, subject to certain conditions. Certain capitalized sales commissions include payments made to employees that
are directly related to new customers’ acquisitions or increased revenue or volume for existing customers.

Amortization of customer acquisition rewards and sales commissions are consistent with the pattern of revenue recognition of each performance obligation.
Incentives earned by customers and third parties for referring new customers are paid in exchange for a distinct service and accounted for as sales and
marketing expenses on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). Any amounts paid in excess of the fair value of the referral service
received are recorded as a reduction of revenue. Fair value of the service is established using amounts paid to vendors for similar services. The Company
has applied the practical expedient in ASC 340-40 to expense costs as incurred for costs to obtain a contract with a customer when the amortization period
would have been one year or less.

The Company recognizes an asset for incremental costs to obtain a contract such as sales commissions and other customer incentives. The asset is
amortized on a systematic basis over the expected customer relationship period, which is estimated as of December 31, 2023 to be 1.84 years. The
amortization is recorded within sales and marketing expense on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

The Company offers various programs to acquire customers. In certain customer acquisition arrangements with existing customers, the payments to the
customer are recorded as a reduction of revenue.

The Company periodically reviews these deferred customer acquisition costs to determine whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred that
could impact the period of benefit. There were no impairment losses recorded during the periods presented.

s. Segments:

The Company determines operating segments based on how its Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) manages the business, makes operating
decisions around the allocation of resources, and evaluates operating performance. The Company’s CODM are its Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, who review its operating results on a consolidated basis. The Company operates in one segment and has one reportable segment.

t. Transaction costs:

Transaction costs consist of fees paid to banks, processors and card networks, costs to acquire currencies, card supply costs and other fees related to the
Company’s services. These costs are net of any rebate programs with banks, processors and networks, such as currency conversion assessment rebates
and volume rebates. These costs are primarily driven by transaction size and volume.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

The Company is exposed to potential transaction losses due to credit or debit card collections, Electronic Funds Transfer returns and card negative balances
and related chargebacks, including charge-offs related to CA. These losses are included in transaction costs. The Company established an allowance for
estimated losses arising from processing customer transactions, which represents an accumulation of the estimated amounts necessary to provide for
transaction losses incurred as of the reporting date, including those for which the Company has not yet identified. The allowance is monitored quarterly and is
updated based on actual claims data. The allowance is based on known facts and circumstances as well as internal factors. As of December 31, 2023 and
2022, the provision for transaction losses, including the allowance for CA totaled $ 7,418 and $ 6,617 , respectively, and was included in other payables, with
the exception of the allowance for CA which is within CA receivables, net on the consolidated balance sheets. Transaction costs also include expenses
related to the outstanding balance associated with the Warehouse Facility and are considered to be related party balances as further described within Notes
11 and 22.

u. Other operating expenses:

Other operating expenses include compensation for the Company’s employees and contingent workforce who support customer service calls, card and
account approval, banking infrastructure implementations, transactions monitoring and liquidity management as well as indirect costs incurred for fraud
detection, compliance operations and maintenance costs related to the Company’s customer call center infrastructure.

v. Sales and marketing expenses:

Sales and marketing include business development and product launch costs, marketing and advertising costs, retention and customer support costs, partner
commissions, and certain customer acquisition costs. This also includes employee compensation and related costs to support the sales and marketing
process. Advertising and certain marketing costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to $ 23,878 , $ 23,985 and $ 9,330 for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

w. Research and development expenses:

Research and development expenses are charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) as incurred and consist primarily of
employee compensation and related costs, professional services and consulting expenses, and non-capitalized costs associated with the development of
new technologies.

x. General and administrative expenses:

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation, benefits and overhead expenses associated with corporate management. This also
includes, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, internal and external accounting and legal and administrative resources,
including audit and legal fees.

y. Stock-based compensation

1. Equity awards granted to employees and non-employees are accounted for using the grant date fair value method. The grant date fair value is
determined as follows: for restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and stock options with an exercise price, using the Black Scholes pricing model, for stock
options or RSUs with market conditions and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), using a Monte Carlo model, and for RSUs and stock
options with no exercise price with service conditions, based on the grant date share price. The fair value of share-based payment transactions is
recognized as expense over the requisite service period. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.

2. The Company measures the compensation cost related to options, RSUs, and ESPP rights awarded on the grant date and recognizes the cost on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the awards. Cost of awards with service conditions and market-based conditions for vesting are
recognized using the graded vesting method. For awards with market conditions, compensation expense is not reversed if the market conditions are
not satisfied.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

3. The Company measures the additional compensation cost of modified awards on the date of modification and recognizes the cost (1) on the
modification date for past service periods and (2) on a straight-line basis over the future related service period.

4. The fair value of an equity instrument issued to a non-employee is measured as of the grant date. The fair value of the awards is recognized over the
vesting period, which coincides with the period that the counter-party provides services to the Company.

5. The Company recognizes a tax benefit of stock-based compensation in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) if the tax benefit
is realized.

6. The Company issues new shares for the ESPP and upon option exercise or RSU vesting.

z. Concentration of risks:

Credit risk concentration

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, customer funds,
restricted cash, and accounts receivable. The Company’s assets are held with financial institutions throughout the world. The Company regularly reviews its
relative exposure to financial and other institutions and has relationships with a globally diversified group of banks and financial institutions. A significant
portion of the Company’s funds are deposited at large depository institutions and global systematically important banks. The vast majority of those cash funds
exceed applicable FDIC coverage insurance limits of $250 or are held with financial institutions in countries that do not offer deposit insurance and are subject
to specific institutional, regional and country risks. The Company is also exposed to transaction losses due to funds blocked with its global bank transfers
processors. See also Note 16.

62 % and 68 % of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and customer funds are concentrated with U.S. financial institutions as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents and customer funds balances denominated in U.S. dollars represent 77 % and 76 % of the balance of the cash, cash equivalents
and customer funds at December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Vendor concentration

The Company issues cards directly under its Mastercard license and utilizes a third-party issuing bank for issuance to customers in the United States and for
its corporate purchasing card service. If the issuing bank ceases to transact with current cardholders, experiences a significant disruption that affects current
cardholder transactions, or ceases to operate as an issuing bank due to circumstances outside of the Company’s control, or if Mastercard revokes the
Company’s license to issue cards, the Company’s financial condition and operating results could be significantly impacted.

Marketplace and customer concentration

In 2023, revenues associated with two individual marketplaces represented 11 % and 25 %, respectively, of total revenue. In  2022, revenues associated
with two individual marketplaces represented 1 3 % and 2 3 %, respectively, of total revenue. In 2021, revenues associated with a single marketplace
represented 3 0 % of total revenue. Note that in 2023, the Company updated its methodology for allocating revenues derived from usage to volumes
attributable to individual marketplaces, which resulted in increased revenue allocated to certain individual marketplaces. Prior period numbers have been
updated to conform to current period presentation.
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

In 2023, 2022 and 2021, revenues generated from customers who reside in Greater China constituted 35 %, 31 % and 34 %, respectively, of total revenues.
This geographic concentration creates exposure to local economic and political conditions, and to economic downturns in the markets serviced by customers
who reside in Greater China. Any unforeseen events or changes in regulation or legal requirements in Greater China that restrict the services the Company
can provide to customers who reside in Greater China could have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Geographical employee concentration

In October 2023, in response to Hamas’ attack on Israel from the Gaza Strip, Israel declared war on Hamas. Approximately 60 % of the Company’s global
employee base is located in Israel, including approximately 80 % of its research and development resources. At this time, an insignificant amount of the
Company’s Israeli workforce have been called to military reserve duty and the Company has contingencies in place to cover impacted roles and
responsibilities.

aa. Income taxes:

Income taxes are accounted for using an asset and liability approach as required under U.S. GAAP. The asset and liability approach requires the recognition
of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized
in the Company’s financial statements or tax returns. The measurement of current and deferred tax liabilities and assets is based on provisions of the
relevant tax law; the effects of future changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipated. Deferred taxes have not been provided on the amount of unremitted
earnings from foreign subsidiaries retained for reinvestment in the Company. The measurement of deferred tax assets is reduced, if necessary, by the
amount of any tax benefits that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized. Valuation allowances are established for deferred tax assets
when the likelihood of the deferred tax assets not being realized exceeds the more likely than not criterion. Deferred tax assets and liabilities, along with any
related valuation allowance, are classified as non-current assets or non-current liabilities on the balance sheets.

The Company follows the guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The guidance provides a comprehensive
model for the recognition, measurement and disclosure in financial statements of uncertain income tax positions that a company has taken or expects to take
on a tax return. Under this guidance, a company can recognize the benefit of an income tax position only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that
the tax position will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position; otherwise, no benefit can be recognized. The
tax benefits recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.
Additionally, the Company accrues interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have been established consistent with
jurisdictional tax laws. Interest and penalties are classified as taxes on income in the consolidated financial statements.

Income tax expense includes U.S. (federal and state) and foreign income taxes. Notwithstanding the U.S. taxation of Section 965 Transition Tax amounts in
2017 and ongoing anti-deferral taxation by the U.S. through provisions such as Subpart F income and Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (“GILTI”), the
Company intends to continue to invest most or all of its earnings, as well as its capital, in its foreign subsidiaries indefinitely and does not expect to incur any
significant, additional taxes related to such amounts.

bb. Contingencies:

Loss contingencies are recognized in the consolidated financial statements when the loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. Gain contingencies
are recognized when realized. Legal costs are expensed as incurred and recorded in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss).
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NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

cc. Recently issued accounting pronouncements:

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) standards adopted during 2023

In 2020, the FASB issued amended guidance, ASU 2020-04, that provides transitional relief for the accounting impact of reference rate reform. For a limited
duration, this guidance provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to certain contract modifications, hedging relationships, and other
transactions that will be impacted by a reference rate expected to be discontinued due to reference rate reform. As of July 1, 2023, the Warehouse Facility (as
defined in Note 11 below) replaced LIBOR with the Daily Simple Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus 0.26161 % as its benchmark rate (see
Note 11 for further discussion). Adoption of this new guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

FASB Standards issued, but not adopted as of December 31, 2023

In 2023, the FASB issued guidance, ASU 2023-07, which modifies the rules on income tax disclosures to require entities to disclose (1) specific categories in
the rate reconciliation, (2) the income or loss from continuing operations before income tax expense or benefit (separated between domestic and foreign) and
(3) income tax expense or benefit from continuing operations (separated by federal, state and foreign). It also requires entities to disclose their income tax
payments (net of refunds received) to international, federal, state and local jurisdictions, among other changes. The guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this new guidance on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.

In 2023, the FASB issued guidance, ASU 2023-09, that requires entities to report incremental information about significant segment expenses included in a
segment’s profit or loss measure as well as the name and title of the chief operating decision maker. The guidance also requires interim disclosures related to
reportable segment profit or loss and assets that had previously only been disclosed annually. The amendments also require entities with a single reportable
segment to provide all disclosures required by these amendments, and all existing segment disclosures. The new standard is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2024 and must be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented
in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this new guidance on our consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures.

NOTE 3 – REVERSE RECAPITALIZATION AND BUSINESS COMBINATION

Reverse Recapitalization

On the Closing Date, Legacy Payoneer and FTOC consummated the Reverse Recapitalization in accordance with the Reorganization Agreement, with Legacy
Payoneer and FTOC surviving the merger as wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Immediately prior to the closing of the Reverse Recapitalization, all shares
of outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock of Legacy Payoneer were converted into 209,529,798 shares of Common Stock of Legacy Payoneer (note that
the number of shares is after the 1: 1.88 conversion, which took place after the Reverse Recapitalization transaction). Upon the consummation of the Reverse
Recapitalization, among other things, holders of Common Stock of Legacy Payoneer generally received a mix of cash and Company stock as consideration for their
Legacy Payoneer holdings. The total cash consideration paid to holders of Legacy Payoneer shares of Common Stock upon consummation of the Reverse
Recapitalization was $ 398,201 .

Upon the closing of the Reverse Recapitalization, the Company’s certificate of incorporation was amended and restated to, among other things, increase the total
number of authorized shares of all classes of capital stock to 4,180,000,000 shares, of which 3,800,000,000 shares were designated Common Stock, $ 0.01 par
value per share, and of which 380,000,000 shares were designated preferred stock, $ 0.01 par value per share.
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NOTE 3 – REVERSE RECAPITALIZATION AND BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued):

In connection with the execution of the Reorganization Agreement, the Company entered into separate subscription agreements (each, a “Subscription Agreement”)
with a number of investors (each a “Subscriber”), pursuant to which the Subscribers agreed to purchase, and the Company agreed to sell to the Subscribers, an
aggregate of 30,000,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company (the “PIPE Shares”), for a purchase price of $ 10.00 per share and an aggregate purchase price
of $ 300,000 , in a private placement pursuant to the Subscription Agreements (the “PIPE”). The PIPE investment closed simultaneously with the consummation of
the Reverse Recapitalization.

In addition, according to the Reorganization Agreement, the Company was initially obligated to issue to Legacy Payoneer stockholders up to an additional 30,000,000
shares of common stock (the “Earn-Out Shares”), (a) 50 % of which would have been issued if at any time during the first 30 months following the Closing Date, the
closing trading price of the shares of the Company’s common stock was greater than or equal to $ 15.00 over any 20 trading days within any 30 trading days period,
which threshold did not occur and as a result the right to these shares was forfeited, and (b) the remaining 50 % of which will be issued if at any time during the first
60 months following the Closing Date, the closing trading price of shares of the Company’s common stock will be greater than or equal to $ 17.00 over any 20 trading
days within any 30 trading days period. The Company accounts for the Earn-Out Shares as an equity instrument as it meets the definition of an equity instrument and
is considered a free-standing instrument that is indexed to the Company’s own equity in accordance with ASC 815.

Additionally, prior to the Reverse Recapitalization, the Company approved and adopted a management bonus plan (the “Transaction Bonus Pool”), to be effective as
of and conditioned upon the occurrence of the Reverse Recapitalization which provided for a pool consisting of 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock,
with such shares to be allocated by the Company to executives and management of the Company.

On the Closing Date, the existing warrant agreement governing the warrants that were exercisable for shares of FTOC’s Class A ordinary shares was amended to
reflect that the warrants will be exercisable for shares of the Company’s Common Stock. As of the Closing Date, the total value of the liability associated with the
warrants was $ 71,701 measured at fair value based on the quoted price and therefore is considered to be a Level 1 measurement. The Company evaluated that the
warrants met the definition of a liability and have been classified as such on the balance sheet in accordance with the accounting policy described within Note 2p.

The Company incurred $ 64,271 in costs directly related to the Reverse Recapitalization and the PIPE offering such as third-party legal, accounting services and
other professional services. Upon consummation of the Reverse Recapitalization, these costs, which had been capitalized on the Company’s balance sheet, were
recorded as a reduction to additional paid in capital, with the exception of $ 5,087 , which were expensed as they represent the allocation of the transaction costs
associated with the warrants. Transaction costs were allocated to the warrants based on the fair value of the warrants out of the total consideration. There were also
deferred underwriting costs related to FTOC totaling $ 28,934 that were paid as part of the closing of the Reverse Recapitalization.
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NOTE 3 – REVERSE RECAPITALIZATION AND BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued):

The number of shares of Common Stock issued immediately following the consummation of the Reverse Recapitalization were as follows:

    Number of
shares

Common Stock outstanding at April 1, 2021  49,697,982
Common stock issued through options and warrants exercises between April 1, 2021 and June 25, 2021  8,854,131
Common Stock outstanding prior to the Reverse Recapitalization (1)  58,552,113
Conversion of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (1)  209,529,798
Less: Legacy Payoneer Stock subject to cash out (2)  ( 36,818,547 )
Common Stock attributable to FTOC conversion (3)  77,081,295
Shares attributable to Reverse Recapitalization  308,344,659
Common Stock attributable to PIPE  30,000,000
Total shares of Common Stock as of close of Reverse Recapitalization and PIPE transaction  338,344,659

(1) After the close of the transaction, but prior to December 31, 2021, the Company issued 2,850,098 shares through the exercise of options.
(2) Existing Payoneer Shareholders — represents the number of Company shares issued to Legacy Payoneer stockholders, based on (i) 111,452,020 preferred shares; (ii) 31,143,179
outstanding common shares as of the Closing Date; and (iii) 1,562 RSUs vested at the Closing Date, the sum of which is reduced by 19,584,328 shares that were subject to the cash
consideration, and multiplied by the Exchange Ratio of 1.88 .
(3) FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp: based on outstanding shares, as of the Closing Date, of 59,611,310 FTOC Class A ordinary shares (following the redemption of 18,033,066 shares);
5,823,328 FTOC Class B ordinary shares which are not subject to restrictions; and 11,646,656 FTOC Class B ordinary share (the "Founder Shares") which are subject to restriction per
section 1.2 of the Sponsor Share Surrender and Share Restriction Agreement. According to such restriction, holders of Founder Shares shall not Transfer, or permit the Transfer of, (a) a
number equal to 50 % of the Founder Shares, until such time that the Company’s common stock closing trading price equals or is greater than $ 15.00 per share for any 20 trading days within
any 30 trading days period; and (b) a number equal to 50 % of the Founder Shares, until such time that the Company’s common stock closing trading price equals or is greater than $ 17.00
per share for any 20 trading days within any 30 trading days period, subject to certain exemptions.

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ADVANCE (“CA”) RECEIVABLES

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has purchased and collected the following principal amounts associated with CA receivables,
including foreign exchange adjustments:

December 31,
2023 2022

Beginning CA receivables, gross     $ 42,466     $ 56,101
CA extended to customers  298,467  237,825
Change in revenue receivables  420  ( 9 )
CA collected from customers  ( 285,530 )  ( 248,932 )
Charge-offs, net of recoveries  ( 5,271 )  ( 2,519 )
Ending CA receivables, gross $ 50,552 $ 42,466
Allowance for CA losses  ( 5,059 )  ( 5,311 )
CA receivables, net $ 45,493 $ 37,155

The outstanding gross balance at December 31, 2023, consists of the following current and overdue amounts:

Total     Current     1-30 days overdue     30-60 overdue     60-90 overdue     Above 90 overdue
50,552 47,332 1,977 692 276 275



Table of Contents

PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS (EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

F-28

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ADVANCE (“CA”) RECEIVABLES (continued):

The outstanding gross balance at December 31, 2022, consists of the following current and overdue amounts:

Total     Current     1-30 days overdue     30-60 overdue     60-90 overdue     Above 90 overdue
42,466  39,945  986  380  104  1,051

The following are current and overdue balances from above that are segregated into the timing of expected collections at December 31, 2023:
Due in less than Due in more than

Total     Overdue     30 days     Due in 30-60 days     Due in 60-90 days     90 days
50,552 3,220 10,841 13,696 17,462 5,333

The following are current and overdue balances from above that are segregated into the timing of expected collections at December 31, 2022:
        Due in less than             Due in more than

Total     Overdue     30 days     Due in 30-60 days     Due in 60-90 days     90 days
42,466  2,521  7,354  12,553  14,427  5,611

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has applied a range of loss rates to the portfolio of 1.58 % to 1.85 % for the allowance for CA losses with the weighted
average loss rate applied being 1.75 %. The Company applied a range of loss rates to the portfolio of 1.59 % to 1.86 % for the allowance for CA losses with the
weighted average loss rate applied being 1.75 % as of December 31, 2022.

Below is a rollforward for the ALCAL for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31, 
    2023     2022

Beginning balance $ 5,311 $ 2,426
Adjustment for adoption of ASC 326 — 2,505
Provisions  5,227  4,357
Recoveries ( 208 ) ( 1,458 )
Charge-offs ( 5,271 ) ( 2,519 )
Ending balance $ 5,059 $ 5,311

NOTE 5 - OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Composition of other current assets, grouped by major classifications, is as follows:

December 31, 
    2023     2022

Prepaid expenses $ 16,656 $ 12,155
Income receivable 12,844 11,162
Prepaid income taxes  8,136  7,671
Other  3,036  5,290
Total other current assets $ 40,672 $ 36,278
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NOTE 6 – PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND SOFTWARE

Composition of property, equipment and software, grouped by major classifications, is as follows:

December 31, 
    2023     2022

Computers, software and peripheral equipment $ 39,453 $ 34,328
Leasehold improvements 9,678 9,741
Furniture and office equipment 5,674 4,418
Property, equipment and software  54,805  48,487
Accumulated depreciation  ( 39,306 )  ( 34,095 )
Property, equipment and software, net $ 15,499 $ 14,392

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were $  8,056 , $ 8,285 and $ 7,057 , respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company disposed of certain long-lived assets which were fully depreciated and had a cost of $  2,915 and
$ 7,477 , and certain assets with net book value of $  11 and $ 43 , respectively.

The following table presents the Company’s property, equipment and software, net of depreciation, by geographic region:

December 31, 
    2023     2022

Israel $ 11,933 $ 10,518
United States  1,676  1,036
All other countries  1,890  2,838

$ 15,499 $ 14,392

NOTE 7 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

The Company conducted the annual impairment test of goodwill as of September 30, 2023. The Company elected to directly perform a quantitative analysis of fair
value of the reporting unit compared to the carrying value of the reporting unit. Based on the results of this analysis, the Company determined that goodwill was not
impaired. The Company has not recognized an impairment charge in any of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, or 2021. No triggering events have occurred
since the annual impairment assessment that would change the Company’s assessment.

The following table presents goodwill balance and adjustments to those balances during the year ended December 31, 2023:

            Foreign             Foreign     
Currency Currency 

December 31, Goodwill Translation December 31, Goodwill Translation December 31, 
2021 Acquired Adjustments 2022 Acquired Adjustments 2023

Total goodwill  $ 21,127 —  ( 1,238 ) $ 19,889 —  —  $ 19,889
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NOTE 7 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued):

Intangible assets

Composition of intangible assets, grouped by major classifications, is as follows:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

    

Gross
Carrying

Value     
Accumulated
Amortization     

Net Carrying
Value     

Gross
Carrying

Value     
Accumulated
Amortization     

Net Carrying
Value

Internal use software $ 122,001 $ ( 54,804 ) $ 67,197 $ 75,195 $ ( 38,607 ) $ 36,588
Acquired developed technology  17,915  ( 8,846 )  9,069  14,365  ( 5,509 )  8,856
Total $ 139,916 $ ( 63,650 ) $ 76,266 $ 89,560 $ ( 44,116 ) $ 45,444

On August 2, 2023, Payoneer Inc. and Payoneer Research & Development Ltd., wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, purchased certain assets and intellectual
property of Spott Incredibles Technologies Ltd. (“Spott”) for a total consideration of $  3,600 , and committed to $  400 of future payments contingent on Spott’s former
employees’ continued employment with Payoneer Research & Development Ltd. Spott’s intellectual property provides real-time e-commerce data and analytics for
more informed and faster business decision-making. Note that a member of the Board of Directors of the Company has an indirect interest in Spott and serves on its
board – refer to Note 22 for related party considerations.

The Company determined that this transaction is an asset acquisition under ASC 805, Business Combinations, as substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
of Spott are concentrated in a group of similar intangible assets. The intangible assets will be amortized over a period of three years .

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $  19,434 , $ 11,959 and $ 10,826 , respectively.

At December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company evaluated internal use software for impairment and determined to impair internal use software assets no longer
in use.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $  293 in impairment of intangibles acquired through the acquisition of the remaining interest in
a joint venture as described in Note 8. The acquired intangibles were determined to have no use to the Company post-acquisition. The Company also recognized an
insignificant amount of additional impairment related to other intangible assets. The Company recognized an impairment of internal use software in the amount of $
614 and $ 114 in the years ended 2022 and 2021, respectively, related to the abandonment of specific projects. The impairment is presented under Depreciation and
amortization expenses.

Expected future intangible asset amortization as of December 31, 2023, excluding capitalized internal use software of $  24,164 not yet placed in service as of that
date, was as follows:

Fiscal years   
2024 $ 24,387
2025 19,729
2026 7,986
2027 and thereafter —
Total $ 52,102
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NOTE 8 – INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATED COMPANY

In July 2019, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Payoneer Research and Development Ltd., entered into an agreement for the establishment of a
joint venture company in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The objective of the joint venture was to apply for a local payment service provider license in
accordance with PRC laws. The Company’s share in the Joint Venture was 46 %, and the remaining ownership interest was held by two local partners. Initial funds in
the amount of $ 6,501 were contributed. The investment in the joint venture was presented as an investment in associated company in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets as the Company did not have control over the joint venture.

In January 2023, the Company, through Payoneer Research and Development Ltd., acquired all remaining interests from other partners in the joint venture for cash
consideration of $ 7,961 . As part of the agreement, the acquiring company assumed responsibility for all expenses and income incurred or earned through the date
of acquisition related to the joint venture.

As substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets of the joint venture are concentrated in a group of similar assets (cash and cash equivalents and restricted
deposits in the amount of $ 13,914 ), the Company accounted for the transaction as an asset acquisition. As such, the Company’s basis in the acquired assets is
valued at the amount of consideration transferred.

NOTE 9 – LEASES

The Company’s lease expense was as follows:

December 31,
    2023     2022     2021

Short-term lease expense $ 1,501 1,430 309
Operating lease expense 10,122 11,224 10,420
Total lease expense $ 11,623 $ 12,654 $ 10,729

The operating cash flows associated with operating leases were $  10,248 , $ 10,686 and $ 9,525 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. Additional balance sheet information related to leases was as follows:

December 31,
 2023  2022

Operating lease right-of-use assets  $ 24,854  $ 15,260

Operating lease liabilities within other payables 7,171 8,360
Operating lease liabilities within other long-term liabilities 17,836 6,514
Total operating lease liabilities 25,007 14,874

Weighted average remaining lease term – operating leases 7.11 years 1.99 years
Weighted average discount rate – operating leases 6.06 % 2.67 %

Operating lease amounts include minimum lease payments under the Company’s non-cancelable operating leases primarily for office facilities and employee
vehicles. The amounts presented are consistent with contractual terms and are not expected to differ significantly from actual results under the Company’s existing
leases.
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NOTE 9 – LEASES (continued):

The Company leases its facilities under various operating lease agreements, which expire on various dates. The minimum lease commitments due as of the year
ended under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

As of December 31, 2023     
2024 $ 7,050
2025 5,364
2026 2,859
2027 1,923
2028 1,923
Thereafter 12,372
Total 31,491
Less present value discount ( 6,484 )
Lease liability  $ 25,007

NOTE 10 - OTHER PAYABLES

Composition of other payables, grouped by major classifications, is as follows:

December 31, 
    2023     2022

Employee related compensation $ 67,837 $ 64,464
Commissions payable  23,695  12,159
Accrued expenses  12,358  10,001
Lease liability 7,171 8,360
Income tax payable 2,410 —
Other  4,037  2,350
Total other payables $ 117,508 $ 97,334

NOTE 11 – DEBT

On October 28, 2021, Payoneer Early Payments Inc. (“PEPI”), a wholly-owned second tier subsidiary of the Company and its subsidiary (the “Borrower”) entered into
a Receivables and Loan Security Agreement (the “Warehouse Facility”) with Viola Credit VI, L.P. (currently known as Viola Credit ALF II, L.P.), Viola Credit Alternative
Lending FNX SPV, L.P. (the “Lenders”) and Viola Credit Alternative Lending Management 2018 L.P. (collectively, the “Parties”) for the purpose of external financing
of Capital Advance activity. The Company notes that the Lenders are related parties through the Company’s Board of Directors’ chairman’s ownership interest in the
Lenders. Refer to Note 22 for further information regarding related party considerations.

In accordance with the Warehouse Facility agreement, the Lenders will make available to the Company an initial committed amount of $  25,000 , which may be
increased at the request of the Company, and with the consent of the Lenders, in $ 25,000 increments up to $ 100,000 . The associated borrowings will be secured
by the assets of the Borrower, which consist primarily of capital advance receivables as well as a pledge of the equity of the Borrower. The recourse under the
Warehouse Facility agreement is limited to Borrower's assets, and no other Payoneer entity guarantees repayment by the Borrower. At December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, $ 32,468 and $ 25,906 was pledged as collateral and included within Capital advance receivables on the consolidated balance sheets.

The Warehouse Facility agreement stipulates a borrowing base calculated at an advance rate of 80 % out of the eligible portfolio outstanding receivables balance.
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NOTE 11 – DEBT (continued):

As of July 1, 2023, the Warehouse Facility bears interest at the sum of the Daily Simple SOFR and 0.26161 % plus:

● 9.00 % per annum if the commitment amount is $ 25,000 ;
● 7.75 % per annum if the commitment amount is $ 50,000 ;
● 7.50 % per annum if the commitment amount is $ 75,000 ;
● 7.00 % per annum if the commitment amount is $ 100,000 .

Prior to July 1, 2023, interest on the facility was calculated as the greater of 0.25 % or LIBOR plus the additional percentage amounts per annum based on
commitment amount noted above.

On June 8, 2022, the Warehouse Facility agreement was amended to create a condition that the total interest rate, calculated as the sum per above, shall not exceed
10.5 % per annum for all outstanding balances.

The revolving period of the facility is 36 months from the closing date and the maturity date is 42 months from the date the Warehouse Facility agreement was
entered into.

The Company recorded expenses included in transaction cost in the total amount of $  1,781 , $ 1,491 and $ 220 for the years ended at December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the outstanding associated balance was $  18,411 , due within 2025, with $  168 of accrued expenses included in
Other payables. As of December 31, 2022, the outstanding associated balance was $ 16,138 with $ 153 of accrued expenses included in Other payables.

The Warehouse Facility agreement includes certain affirmative and negative covenants that must be maintained by the Company and includes certain financial
measures such as minimum tangible equity and minimum unrestricted cash at the Company level. As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with all
applicable covenants.

As of December 31, 2023, the fair value of the debt approximates the book value due to the short time span between initiation and balance sheet date with the
outstanding balance classified as Level 3 in the fair value leveling hierarchy as the inputs into the valuation are not observable.

NOTE 12 – OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Composition of other long-term liabilities, grouped by major classifications, is as follows:

December 31, 
    2023     2022

Reserves for uncertain income tax positions $ 24,793 $ 17,332
Long-term lease liabilities  17,836  6,514
Other tax provisions 5,202 3,716
Severance pay liabilities  2,056  2,252
Other 18 17
Total other long-term liabilities $ 49,905 $ 29,831

NOTE 13 – RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During the third quarter of 2023, the Company initiated a plan to reduce its workforce by approximately 9 % (the “Plan”). The Plan is intended to enhance productivity
and efficiency and streamline the Company’s organizational structure to better align operations with its growth objectives.
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NOTE 13 – RESTRUCTURING CHARGES (continued):

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company incurred and paid costs of $  4,448 related to severance and other employee termination benefits. The
Company does not expect to incur additional costs related to the Plan. The restructuring costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income (loss) as follows:

    
Severance and other employee

termination benefits
Other operating expenses $ 623
Research and development expenses  1,559
Sales and marketing expenses  2,029
General and administrative expenses  277
Total $ 4,488

NOTE 14 – SEVERANCE PAY FUND AND ACCRUED SEVERANCE PAY

While the Company maintains immaterial severance pay liabilities in several jurisdictions globally, the following discussion covers the severance arrangement in
Payoneer Research and Development Ltd. (“The Israeli Subsidiary”), which is its most material arrangement and makes up substantially all of the severance pay
liabilities included within Other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Labor laws in Israel and employment agreements require paying severance pay to employees that are dismissed or retire from their employment in certain
circumstances, according to a defined benefit plan. Employees (for whom the Company makes regular deposits in pension and severance pay funds according to a
defined benefit plan) dismissed before attaining retirement age are entitled to severance pay computed on the basis of their latest pay rate. In respect of these
employees, the Company is committed to supplement the difference between severance pay computed as above and the amounts accumulated in the
abovementioned funds. Commencing in 2011, the Israeli Subsidiary added Section 14 of the Severance Pay Law - 1963 to new employees’ agreements that
eliminates the need to accrue provisions for retirement expenses for these employees, other than periodic payments made on behalf of the employees that are
expensed periodically. The accrued severance pay liability was $ 1,472 and $ 1,878 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Israeli Subsidiary’s severance pay liability for the Israeli employees is covered mainly by the purchase of insurance policies. The value of these policies is
recorded as an asset in the consolidated balance sheets. The balance of the severance pay fund was $ 840 and $ 1,095 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

NOTE 15 – WARRANTS AND SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

Share Repurchase Program and Treasury Stock

On May 7, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program that provides for the repurchase of up to $  80,000 of its common
stock, including any applicable excise tax. On December 7, 2023, the Board authorized an amendment to the program to increase the authorized amount of
repurchases to an aggregate amount not to exceed $ 250,000 , including the amount that remained available as of December 7, 2023 to repurchase common stock
under, but not any prior repurchases effected pursuant to, the previous authorization. The amended authorization expires December 31, 2025.

The program is intended to offset the impact of dilution from the issuance of new shares as part of employee compensation programs.

Any share repurchases under this stock repurchase program may be made through open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions or other means
including in accordance with Rule 10b-18 and/or Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The timing and total amount
of repurchases is subject to business and market conditions and the Company’s discretion.
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NOTE 15 – WARRANTS AND SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY (continued):

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 11,064,692 shares of its common stock for approximately $ 56,936 at a weighted average
cost of $ 5.13 per share, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, a total of approximately $ 240,179 remained available for future repurchases of the Company’s 
common stock under the program. 

Common Stock

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share and to receive dividends, when declared. The holders have no preemptive or other subscription rights and
there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions with respect to such shares.

Warrants

As described within Note 3, the Company has publicly traded warrants that are exercisable for shares of the Company’s common stock. Warrants may only be
exercised for a whole number of shares at an exercise price of $ 11.50 . These warrants expire on June 25, 2026, or earlier, if redeemed. At December 31, 2023,
there were 25,158,086 warrants outstanding with a corresponding liability valued at $ 8,555 . The warrants are considered to be a Level 1 fair value measurement
due to the observability of the inputs. Note that 723,333 private placement warrants issued by FTOC were forfeited at the close of the Reverse Recapitalization
transaction.

The Company will not be obligated to deliver any Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of a warrant and will have no obligation to settle such warrant exercise
unless a registration statement under the Securities Act with respect to the Common Stock underlying the warrants is then effective and a prospectus relating thereto
is current, subject to the Company satisfying its obligations with respect to registration. No warrant will be exercisable, and the Company will not be obligated to issue
any Common Stock upon exercise of a warrant unless the issuance of the shares upon such exercise is registered or qualified under the securities laws of the state of
the exercising holder, or an exemption is available.

Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Common Stock equals or exceeds $ 18.00 .

The Company may redeem the warrants, upon becoming exercisable, in whole and not in part, at a price of $  0.01 per warrant, upon not less than 30 days’ prior
written notice of redemption to the warrant holders; if, and only if, the closing price of the Company’s Common Stock equals or exceeds $ 18.00 per share (as
adjusted for share sub-divisions, share capitalizations, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 -trading day period ending
on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of redemption is given to the warrant holders; and if, and only if, there is an effective registration
statement covering the issuance of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the public warrants and a current prospectus relating thereto available
throughout the 30-day period after written notice of redemption is sent.

Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Common Stock equals or exceeds $ 10.00 .

The Company may redeem the warrants in whole and not in part, at $  0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption provided that
holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares calculated in the manner set forth in the
warrant agreement relating to the warrants, based on the redemption date and the “fair market value” of the Common Stock shares if; and only if, the closing price of
the Common Stock equals or exceeds $ 10.00 per Public Share (as adjusted for share sub-divisions, share dividends, reorganizations, reclassifications,
recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within the 30 trading-day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which notice of the
redemption is given to the warrant holders; and if, and only if, there is an effective registration statement covering the issuance of Common Stock issuable upon
exercise of the warrants and a current prospectus relating thereto available throughout the 30 -day period after written notice of redemption is given.
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NOTE 15 – WARRANTS AND SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY (continued):

The Warrants were accounted for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815-40 and are presented within warrant liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet. The
warrant liabilities are measured at fair value at inception and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented within change in fair value of warrant liabilities
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). The following table presents the changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities (Level 1):

December 31,
 2023     2022

Beginning fair value     $ 25,914 $ 59,877
Change in fair value  ( 17,359 ) ( 33,963 )
Ending fair value  8,555 25,914

In September 2015, the Company issued equity classified private warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock to a non-employee in association with a commercial
services agreement. The exercise price of the warrants is $ 1.79 per share and they expire 10 years from issuance. At December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
1,792,994 private warrants were outstanding, out of which 1,080,707 were vested. The Company did not recognize additional expenses related to the warrants in
2023, 2022, or 2021.

NOTE 16 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company’s business is subject to various laws and regulations in the United States and other countries from where the Company operates. Any regulatory
action, tax or legal challenge against the Company for noncompliance with any regulatory or legal requirement could result in significant fines, penalties, or other
enforcement actions, increased costs of doing business through adverse judgment or settlement, reputational harm, the diversion of significant amounts of
management time and operational resources, and could require changes in compliance requirements or impose limits on the Company’s ability to expand its product
offerings, or otherwise harm or have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. From time to time, the Company incurs insignificant fines and penalties in
the ordinary course of business.

On September 28, 2021, the National Banking and Securities Commission (CNBV) and the Bank of Mexico revoked the banking license of a banking entity utilized by
the Company due to the banking entity not meeting applicable capital requirements. As a result, the Company is unable to withdraw funds from the banking entity.
The Company has reserved $ 2,250 for potential losses related to those funds above the recovered amount. The Company applied for and recovered the maximum
statutory reimbursement through the deposit insurance provided by Mexican Institute for the Protection of Banking Services (IPAB), totaling $140 . The Company has
filed a claim in liquidation for the remaining funds; however, the percentage of the deposit that will be recovered in liquidation is not known at this time.

On August 7, 2023, Payoneer (Guangzhou) Commerce Services Co., Ltd. (“Payoneer Guangzhou”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
agreement with a non-bank payments institution (the “Licenseholder”), that offers pay-out and mobile payments solutions to merchants in the People’s Republic of
China and holds a Payment Business License issued by the People’s Bank of China (the “PBoC”).

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Payoneer Guangzhou seeks to purchase the Licenseholder, and placed approximately $  4 million in escrow in October 2023,
representing a small portion of the agreed upon consideration for the purchase. In the event of termination of the agreement, such escrow amount will be returned to
Payoneer Guangzhou, and in the event of a successful transaction, it will be applied to the full purchase price. The closing of the acquisition is subject to customary
closing conditions and termination provisions provided for in the agreement, as well as governmental registrations and approvals, including the approval of the
Transaction by the PBoC, and timing is uncertain.

From time to time, the Company is involved in other disputes or regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordinary course of business. These may include suits by its
customers alleging, among other things, acting unfairly and/or not in conformity regarding pricing, rules or agreements, improper disclosure of the Company’s prices,
rules, or policies or that the Company’s practices, prices, rules, policies, or customer agreements violate applicable law.
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NOTE 16 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued):

In addition to these types of disputes and regulatory inquiries, the operations of the Company are also subject to regulatory and/or legal review and/or challenges that
tend to reflect the increasing global regulatory focus to which the industry in which the Company operates is subject and, when taken as a whole with other regulatory
and legislative action, such actions could result in the imposition of costly new compliance burdens on the Company and may lead to increased costs and decreased
transaction volume and revenue.

Any claims or regulatory actions against the Company, whether meritorious or not, could be time consuming, result in costly litigation, settlement payments, damage
awards (including statutory damages for certain causes of action in certain jurisdictions), fines, penalties, injunctive relief, or increased costs of doing business
through adverse judgment or settlement, require the Company to change its business practices, require significant amounts of management time, result in the
diversion of operational resources, or otherwise harm the business.

NOTE 17 – REVENUE

The following table presents revenue recognized from contracts with customers as well as revenue from other sources:

Year Ended December 31, 
    2023     2022     2021

Revenue recognized at a point in time $ 573,902 $ 533,213 $ 440,582
Revenue recognized over time 16,925  30,354  20,000
Revenue from contracts with customers $ 590,827 $ 563,567 $ 460,582
Interest income on customer balances $ 230,634 $ 55,292 $ 2,702
Capital advance income 9,642 8,764 10,119
Revenue from other sources $ 240,276 $ 64,056 $ 12,821
Total revenues $ 831,103 $ 627,623 $ 473,403

Based on the information provided to and reviewed by the Company’s CODM, the Company believes that the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of its revenue
and cash flows and how they are affected by economic factors are most appropriately depicted through its primary regional markets. The following table presents the
Company’s revenue disaggregated by primary regional market, with revenues being attributed to the country (in the region) in which the billing address of the
transacting customer is located, with the exception of global bank transfer revenues, where revenues are disaggregated based on the billing address of the
transaction funds source.

Year Ended December 31, 
    2023     2022     2021

Primary regional markets          
Greater China(1) $ 287,944 $ 195,663 $ 160,583
Europe(2) 166,868 130,850 104,148
Asia-Pacific(2) 114,335 84,817 61,132
North America (3)  97,434  92,045  61,613
South Asia, Middle East and North Africa (2) 87,237 69,239 50,830
Latin America(2)  77,285  55,009  35,097
Total revenues $ 831,103 $ 627,623 $ 473,403

(1) Greater China is inclusive of mainland China, Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
(2) No single country included in any of these regions generated more than 10% of total revenue
(3) The United States is the Company’s country of domicile. Of North America revenues, the U.S. represents $ 93,371 , $ 87,438 and $ 55,941 during the years

ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
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NOTE 17 – REVENUE (continued):

The following table represents a rollforward of deferred customer acquisition costs:

Opening balance as of December 31, 2022     $ 10,245
Additions to deferred customer acquisition costs  9,406
Amortization of deferred customer acquisition costs  ( 10,038 )
Ending balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 9,613

Opening balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 11,366
Additions to deferred customer acquisition costs  11,476
Amortization of deferred customer acquisition costs  ( 12,597 )
Ending balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 10,245

NOTE 18 - TRANSACTION COSTS

Composition of transaction costs, grouped by major classifications, is as follows:

December 31, 
    2023     2022     2021

Bank and processor fees $ 87,972 $ 85,015 $ 76,868
Network fees  18,212  13,617  9,162
Chargebacks and operational losses  7,273  3,837  3,917
Card costs  1,858  1,834  2,323
Capital advance costs, net of recoveries  6,679  4,526  6,363
Other  297  1,336  2,843
Total transaction costs $ 122,291 $ 110,165 $ 101,476

NOTE 19 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Option and restricted stock compensation plans

The Company maintains three stock-based compensation incentive plans: the Payoneer Inc. 2007 Share Incentive Plan and the Payoneer Inc. 2007 U.S. Share
Incentive Plan (hereafter together – the “2007 Plan”), the Payoneer Inc. 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (hereafter – the “2017 Plan”) and the 2021 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (the “2021 Plan”).

● 2007 Plan - In February 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 2007 Plan, where up to 3,360,000 incentive awards (including stock options
and RSUs) were available for grants to employees of the Company and other individuals eligible under the plan. Subsequent to the original plan approval,
there were several periodic increases in options that were available for grant through approval by the Company’s board of directors and stockholders. The
2007 Plan is no longer available for grants of new awards as of 2017.

● 2017 Plan - In May 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 2017 Plan, where up to 21,756,714 incentive awards (including stock options and
RSUs) were available for grant to employees of the Company and other individuals eligible under the Plan. Awards generally vest over a four year period and
continued vesting of any outstanding award is usually subject to continued service of the person to whom the award was granted. The 2017 Plan is no longer
available for grants of new awards as of 2021.
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NOTE 19 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued):

● 2021 Plan - In June 2021, the Company's Board of Directors adopted the 2021 Plan, pursuant to the approval of the 2021 Plan by the shareholders of the
Company. The plan allows the granting of incentive awards (including stock options and RSUs) to employees of the Company and other individuals eligible
under the Plan. Awards granted under the plan generally vest over a four year period and continued vesting of any outstanding award is usually subject to
continued service of the person to whom the award was granted.

o 2021 Transaction Bonus Pool - As indicated in Note 3, the Company approved and adopted the Transaction Bonus Pool under the 2021 Plan,
associated with the Reverse Recapitalization in 2021. The RSUs associated with the Transaction Bonus Pool are subject to certain market-based
and service conditions. Fifty percent of those RSUs would have vested if at any time during the 30 months following the Closing Date, the closing
share price of Company Shares was greater than or equal to $ 15.00 over any 20 days trading within any 30 trading days period (which threshold did
not occur and as a result the right to these shares was forfeited); and the remaining 50 % of those RSUs shall vest if at any time during the 60
months following the Closing Date, the closing share price of Company Shares is greater than or equal to $ 17.00 over any 20 trading days within
any 30 trading days period, subject to the grantee's continued status as an employee until and including the time the RSUs vest.

Under each of the plans, no options shall be exercisable after the expiration of 10 years after the effective date of grant.

Options

Note that no new options were granted by the Company in 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, 27,788,279 options are authorized under the Plans. Each option can be exercised to purchase one share of Common Stock par value USD
0.01 each of the Company. The Company’s Board of Directors approved the grant of the following stock options:

December 31, 2023
Outstanding Options Options Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Average 
Exercise Number Remaining Number Remaining 

Price     Outstanding     Contractual life     Exercisable     Contractual life
$ 0.010 3,807,728 6.77 2,895,082 6.69
$ 0.080 283,041 4.10 283,041 4.10
$ 0.540 447,127 0.33 447,127 0.33
$ 0.620 2,560,809 1.09 2,560,809 1.09
$ 1.380 126,231 1.95 126,231 1.95
$ 1.410 4,250,463 2.12 4,250,463 2.12
$ 1.810 213,030 2.57 213,030 2.57
$ 2.740 2,985,936 6.23 2,765,803 6.23
$ 2.800 3,263,194 4.10 3,263,194 4.10
$ 2.850 821,649 4.77 821,649 4.77
$ 2.900 4,695,269 5.13 4,695,269 5.13
$ 3.020 1,961,198 3.18 1,961,198 3.18
$ 3.070 607,028 5.55 607,028 5.55
$ 3.900 600,056 6.96 466,949 6.96
$ 3.980 500,000 8.50 187,500 8.50
$ 7.870 665,520 7.10 457,540 7.10

27,788,279 4.41 26,001,913 4.21
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NOTE 19 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued):

The vesting period of the outstanding options is generally 4 years from the date of grant. The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used to
estimate the fair value of the stock options granted by the Company:

Year Ended December 31,  
    2022  2021  

Expected term (in years)   6.11  5.19 - 6.11
Risk-free interest rate   3.15 %  0.61 %- 1.08 %
Dividend yield   0 %  0 %
Volatility rate   57 %  50 %
Weighted average fair value of options at grant date  $ 2.252 $ 7.131

The Company selected the Black-Scholes Merton option pricing model as the most appropriate fair value method for its stock options awards based on the market
value of the underlying shares at the date of grant. Historical information for a selection of similar publicly traded companies was the basis for the expected volatility.
Historical information and management expectations were the basis for the expected dividend yield. The expected lives of the options are based upon the simplified
method per ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation. The risk-free interest rate was selected based upon yields of U.S. Treasury issues with a term equal to
the expected life of the option being valued. Option vesting generally occurs in tranches up to four years .

As of December 31, 2023, there were approximately $  7,405 of unrecognized compensation costs outstanding, related to unamortized stock option compensation
which are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.90  years. Total unrecognized compensation cost will be recognized as incurred. In
addition, as future grants are made, additional compensation costs will be incurred.

The following table presents a summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

        Weighted     Weighted     
Average Average 
Exercise Remaining Aggregate 
Price per Contractual Intrinsic 

    Shares     Share     Term     Value
Outstanding December 31, 2022  34,923,788 $ 2.10 $ 5.45 $ 117,849
Granted  — $ — —  —
Exercised  ( 6,422,962 ) $ 1.84  —  —
Forfeited  ( 712,547 ) $ 3.21  —  —
Outstanding December 31, 2023  27,788,279 $ 2.13 $ 4.41 $ 85,703

Exercisable December 31, 2023  26,001,913 $ 2.12 $ 4.21 $ 80,408

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $  25,246 , $ 26,105 and $ 17,102 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. In
2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company has received a tax benefit of $ 1,201 , $ 1,944 and $ 1,401 , respectively, in excess of the tax benefit based on the intrinsic value
on date of issuance of the share-based compensation, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

The cost of RSUs granted is determined using the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Prior to the Reverse Recapitalization, the
fair market value of the Company’s common stock was determined using a combination of discounted cash flow and option pricing method methodologies. Key inputs
and assumptions used (which are Level 3 inputs and assumptions) were forecasted future financial performance, discount rate, cost of equity and terminal growth
rate. Prior to the Reverse Recapitalization, the implied common stock price was estimated based on the difference in the rights and preference between the preferred
and common stock.
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NOTE 19 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued):

The following table summarizes the RSUs activity under the 2017 Plan and the 2021 Plan as of December 31, 2023:

        Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date 
    Units     Fair Value

Outstanding December 31, 2022  25,853,581 $ 5.88
Granted  17,339,704 $ 5.43
Vested  ( 7,472,296 ) $ 5.56
Withhold to Cover shares repurchased ( 1,095,803 ) $ 5.23
Forfeited  ( 3,881,820 ) $ 6.57
Outstanding December 31, 2023  30,743,366 $ 5.65

In the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted 16,439,704 RSUs under the 2021 plan, which are subject to time-vesting and continued service
conditions. In the same period, the Company granted an additional 900,000 RSUs under the same Plan, which are subject to time-vesting, continued service
conditions and stock performance targets. The Company evaluated the fair value of this grant using a Monte Carlo simulation in the amount of $ 3,108 .

The total vesting-date value of equity classified RSUs vested during 2023 was $  12,826 . As of December 31, 2023, the unrecognized compensation cost related to
all unvested equity classified RSUs of $ 119,919 is expected to be recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over a weighted-average period of 1.94 years.

In 2023, the Company started to withhold common stock shares associated with net share settlements to cover tax withholding obligations upon the vesting of
restricted stock units under its employee equity incentive plans in the United States. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company withheld 1,095,803
shares for $ 5,728 . RSU vesting is shown net of this withholding on the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity and cash flows.

In 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company has received a tax benefit of $  0 , $ 3,682 and $ 4,054 , respectively, in excess of the tax benefit based on the intrinsic value
on date of issuance of the share-based compensation, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

The Company initiated, on May 16, 2022, the first offering period under the ESPP, the purpose of which is to provide employees of the Company and its designated
subsidiaries with an opportunity to purchase Company Common Stock at a discount through payroll deductions and to help eligible employees provide for their future
security and to encourage them to remain in the employment of the Company.

Each eligible employee enrolling for any offering period under the ESPP is required to designate a whole percentage of their monthly payroll to be withheld by the
Company or the designated subsidiary employing such eligible employee on each payday during the applicable offering period. The designated deduction percentage
may not be less than 1 % and may not be more than 15 % of the employee’s salary subject to a maximum of $  25 per year, unless otherwise determined by the
Company for any specific offering period. Any offering period is comprised of one or more 6 months ’ purchase periods, at the last trading day of each (a “Purchase
Date”), the Company will use the total amount deducted from each participant, subject to quantity limitations determined by the Company for such offering period, to
issue such participant with such number of Company shares based on a purchase price which shall not be less than 85 % of the closing sales price for a Company
share on the first trading day of the applicable offering period or on the relevant Purchase Date, whichever is lower.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, employees participating in the ESPP purchased 1,032,434 shares at a per share price of $ 3.90 when the November 16,
2022 to May 15, 2023 offering period closed, and 821,184 shares at a per share price of $ 3.77 when the May 16, 2023 to November 15, 2023 offering period closed.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, employees participating in the ESPP purchased 979,577 shares at a per share price of $ 3.92 .
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NOTE 19 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued):

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 4,770,007 shares were reserved for future issuance under the ESPP, and the current offering period, which opened on
November 16, 2023, is expected to close on May 15, 2024. The fair value attributable to the current plan was $ 1,212 as of the beginning of the current offering
period and was measured using the Monte Carlo model.

As of December 31, 2022, approximately 6,623,625 shares were reserved for future issuance under the ESPP. The fair value attributable to the plan was $  2,083 as
of the beginning of each offering period and was measured using the Monte Carlo model.

The expense associated with the ESPP recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $  3,321 and $ 2,075 , respectively.

Options, RSUs, and ESPP

The Company records stock-based compensation expense for its equity incentive plans in accordance with the provisions of the authoritative accounting guidance,
which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense based on estimated fair values.

The impact on the Company’s results of operations of recording stock-based compensation expense under its equity incentive plans, including the ESPP, were as
follows:

December 31, 
 2023  2022  2021

Other operating expenses $ 12,327   $ 10,870   $ 8,194
Research and development expenses 15,698   10,248   6,012
Sales and marketing expenses 18,506   15,175   10,916
General and administrative expenses 19,236   15,856   11,890
Total stock-based compensation $ 65,767   $ 52,149   $ 37,012

The Company capitalized $ 3,650 and $ 1,592 in stock-based compensation costs as part of internal use software during the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively. No compensation costs were capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2021.

NOTE 20 - INCOME TAXES

The Company is subject to U.S. federal, state, and foreign income taxes. The components of income (loss) before income taxes and share in losses of associated
company for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

    Year Ended December 31, 
    2023     2022     2021

Income (loss) before income taxes and share in losses of associated company:          
U.S. Domestic $ 133,061 $ 13,266 $ ( 27,181 )
Foreign ( 525 )  ( 11,648 )  1,942

$ 132,536 $ 1,618 $ ( 25,239 )



Table of Contents

PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS (EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

F-43

NOTE 20 - INCOME TAXES (continued):

The components of the provision for income taxes for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

    Year Ended December 31, 
    2023     2022     2021

Current:          
Federal $ 37,633 $ 1,066 $ —
State 1,298  380  464
Foreign 11,394  11,409  9,463
Total current tax provision (benefit) 50,325 12,855 9,927

Deferred:       
Federal ( 10,508 )  —  —
State ( 351 )  —  —
Foreign ( 263 )  731  ( 1,216 )
Total deferred tax provision (benefit) ( 11,122 ) 731 ( 1,216 )

Provision for income tax expense (benefit) $ 39,203 $ 13,586 $ 8,711

The Company had an effective tax rate of 30 % for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to an effective tax rate of 839 % for the year ended December 31,
2022 and ( 34 )% for the year ended December 31, 2021.

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate of 21 % in 2023, 2022 and 2021 to the effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 
    2023     2022     2021

Tax computed at the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate     $ 27,833     $ 340     $ ( 5,300 )
State taxes, net of federal benefit  655  378  1,023
Differences in foreign tax rate1 456 ( 2,494 ) ( 1,213 )
Change in Valuation allowances  ( 9,749 )  5,258  3,329
Share-based compensation  13,053  5,725  7,161
Non-taxable warrant revaluation  ( 3,723 )  ( 7,132 )  ( 2,483 )
Other statutorily non-deductible expenses 3,044 1,487 1,806
Provision to return adjustment ( 1,090 ) 402 —
Uncertain tax positions  7,461  7,793  4,384
U.S. tax on foreign earnings 2,051 1,527 —
Other  ( 788 )  302  4

$ 39,203 $ 13,586 $ 8,711
1Israeli taxation: in general, the income, including any capital gains, of the Israeli Subsidiary, other than from Approved Enterprises, is taxed in Israel at the regular corporate tax rate of 23 %.
However, pursuant to the Encouragement of Capital Investments Law, the Company benefits from a reduced tax rate of 16 % on revenues associated with the research and development activity
performed in Israel. Thus, the Israeli Subsidiary is subject to tax in Israel based on a blended rate. In 2023, the blended rate is about 18 %, as compared to 17 % in 2022.
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NOTE 20 - INCOME TAXES (continued):

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of long-term assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The components of the Company’s long-term net deferred tax assets were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 
    2023     2022

Deferred tax assets:       
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 21,248 $ 24,733
Transaction loss provision 1,149  994
Property, equipment & software 6  167
Share-based compensation 2,083 7,123
Accrued expenses 3,154 464
Employee benefits 5,258 5,476
Operating lease liability 3,120 385
Capitalized research and development 7,426  808

Gross deferred tax assets 43,444  40,150
Valuation allowance ( 19,281 )  ( 28,424 )

Total deferred tax assets 24,163  11,726

Deferred tax liabilities:  
Contract assets 413 443
Right-of-use asset 3,126 506
Property, equipment & software 909 —
Internal use software (pre-2022) 4,415  6,127
Other 9 481

Total deferred tax liabilities 8,872  7,557

Net deferred tax assets $ 15,291 $ 4,169

Deferred taxes as of December 31, 2023 were reduced by a valuation allowance primarily relating to net operating losses in Germany. In assessing the likelihood of
realizing deferred tax assets, management considers factors such as prior earnings history, expected future earnings and the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible.

Deferred taxes are determined utilizing the asset and liability method based on the estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial accounting and
tax bases of assets and liabilities under the applicable tax laws. Valuation allowances are provided if, based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In the determination of the appropriate valuation allowances, the Company has considered the
most recent projections of future business results and taxable income by jurisdiction. Actual results may vary in comparison to current projections.

After consideration of the evidence described above, management believes it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will be realized for the United States and
the Israel subsidiary. Therefore, during the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a release of $ 10,553 in respect of the valuation allowance
applied on deferred tax assets recorded in the United States. Due to a record of historical taxable losses, management believes it is more likely than not that the
deferred tax assets will not be realized in Germany and a full valuation allowance remained in effect as at December 31, 2023.
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NOTE 20 - INCOME TAXES (continued):

As of December 31, 2023, the Company utilized all remaining US federal net operating loss carryforwards. Though our state net operating loss carryforwards were
insignificant as of December 31, 2023, these net operating losses can be utilized to reduce future taxable income, if any. Utilization of the net operating loss
carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations under the tax laws of the different states. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of state net operating
loss carryforwards before utilization. If not utilized, the state net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2026. The Company also has significant net
operating losses in Germany of approximately $ 70,000 , which may be carried forward indefinitely to offset future taxable income in Germany. It is more likely than
not that the majority of the German net operating loss carryforwards will not be realized; therefore, we have recorded a valuation allowance against them.

The Company considers the undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries to be permanently reinvested as such earnings are generally used to finance foreign
operations and investments. Accordingly, we have not provided for deferred tax liabilities on the cumulative temporary differences on the outside bases of our non-
U.S. subsidiaries. The income taxes applicable to such earnings and other outside basis differences are not readily determinable or practicable to calculate.

Provisions of ASC 740-10, Income Taxes , clarify whether to recognize assets or liabilities for tax positions taken that may be challenged by a tax authority. A
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits, which is included in other long-term liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets, is as follows:

Balance at December 31, 2022     $ 17,333
Increases for tax positions in prior years 1,389
Decreases for tax positions in prior years  ( 1,752 )
Increases for tax positions related to current year  7,823
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 24,793

Balance at December 31, 2021     $ 9,540
Decreases in respect of expirations of statute of limitations  ( 1,413 )
Increases for tax positions related to current year  9,206
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 17,333

Balance at December 31, 2020     $ 5,076
Decreases for tax positions in prior years  —
Increases for tax positions related to current year  4,464
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 9,540

The material uncertain tax positions relate to transfer pricing adjustments in foreign jurisdictions. The Company believes that is reasonably possible that much of the
unrecognized tax benefits could significantly change within 12 months of the reporting date due to open tax examinations. However, a reasonable estimate of the
range of possible changes cannot be made. All of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized in future periods, would impact the Company’s effective
tax rate in such future periods. The Company recognizes both interest and penalties as part of the income tax provision. During the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, the Company incurred penalties related to income taxes of approximately $ 38 and $ 50 , respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the
Company did not incur any interest and penalties related to income taxes.
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NOTE 20 - INCOME TAXES (continued):

The following table presents the change in the Company’s valuation allowance during the periods presented:

Balance at December 31, 2022     $ 28,424
Additions to valuation allowance  972
Reductions to valuation allowance ( 10,115 )
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 19,281

Balance at December 31, 2021     $ 22,394
Additions to valuation allowance  14,818
Reductions to valuation allowance ( 8,788 )
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 28,424

Tax years from 2020 and forward remain open to examinations by US federal and state authorities due to net operating loss carryforwards. The Company is currently
not under examinations by the Internal Revenue Service. The Israeli subsidiary continues to be under tax examination for the 2018 tax year. The Company will
comply with the requests to the extent required by law.

NOTE 21 – NET EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The Company computes net income (loss) per share using the two-class method required for participating securities. The two-class method requires income available
to common shareholders for the period to be allocated between shares of Common Stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive
dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed. The Company considers any issued and outstanding convertible preferred shares to be participating
securities as the holders of the convertible preferred shares, as the case may be, would be entitled to dividends that would be distributed to the holders of common
stock, on a pro-rata basis assuming conversion of all convertible preferred shares into common shares. These participating securities do not contractually require the
holders of such shares to participate in the Company’s income (losses). As such, net income (loss) for the periods presented was not allocated to the Company’s
participating securities.

The Company’s basic net earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders by the weighted-average number
of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration of potentially dilutive securities. The diluted net earnings (loss) per share is calculated by
giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period using the treasury share method or the if-converted method based on the nature of such
securities. Diluted net earnings (loss) per share is the same as basic net earnings (loss) per share in periods when the effects of potentially dilutive shares of common
stock are anti-dilutive. Instruments with an antidilutive effect, for which conditions were not met, or which were not granted or in the money in the reporting period
were excluded from the diluted net earnings (loss) per share calculation for the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. Refer below for details on specific
exclusions.
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NOTE 21 – NET EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (continued):

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders were calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 
    2023     2022     2021
 (In thousands, except share and per share data)

Numerator:          
Net income (loss) $ 93,333 $ ( 11,970 ) $ ( 33,987 )
Less dividends and revaluation attributable to redeemable and redeemable convertible preferred stock  —  —  33,632
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ 93,333 $ ( 11,970 ) $ ( 67,619 )
Denominator:    
Weighted average common shares outstanding —    
Basic 361,678,893  348,044,831  202,881,911

Add:
Dilutive impact of RSUs, ESPP and options to purchase common stock 30,256,559 — —
Dilutive impact of private Warrants 730,266 — —

Weighted average common shares — diluted 392,665,718 348,044,831 202,881,911
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders — Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.26 $ ( 0.03 ) $ ( 0.33 )
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.24 $ ( 0.03 ) $ ( 0.33 )

Note that 25,158,086 Public Warrants, 4,255,000 RSUs with market conditions, 15,000,000 Earn-Out Shares, 665,520 options to purchase common stock, and ESPP
shares to be issued under the current offering period have been excluded from the computation of diluted net earnings per share for the year ended December 31,
2023 as their effect was antidilutive, conditions were not met or they were not granted or in the money in the reporting period.

In the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 25,158,086 Public Warrants, 30,000,000 Earn-Out Shares, 30,214,638 and 34,145,397 options to purchase
common stock, RSUs with market conditions, and ESPP shares to be granted (2022 only), and 722,903 and 840,981 Private Warrants, respectively, were excluded
for the same reason. Additionally, in the year ended December 31, 2021, 53,435,900 redeemable convertible preferred stock (as converted to common stock), were
also excluded as they were antidilutive.

NOTE 22 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Warehouse Facility

As indicated in Note 11, the Company entered into a Warehouse Facility agreement with Lenders where a member of the Board of Directors has an interest. The
Company has evaluated the relationship and determined that the Warehouse Facility agreement represents a related party transaction that has been entered into in
the ordinary course of business. As such, the Warehouse Facility agreement was reviewed and approved as a related party transaction in accordance with the
related party transaction approval process implemented by the Company.

The Company analyzed the terms of the Warehouse Facility agreement and concluded that the terms represent a transaction conducted at arm’s length.
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NOTE 22 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued):

Spott Incredibles Technologies Ltd. Asset Acquisition

As discussed in Note 7, On August 2, 2023, Payoneer Inc. and Payoneer Research & Development Ltd., wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, purchased
certain assets and intellectual property of Spott Incredibles Technologies Ltd. A member of the Board of Directors of the Company has an indirect interest within Spott
and serves on its board. The Company evaluated the relationship and determined that the acquisition represents a related party transaction that has been entered
into in the ordinary course of business. As such, the acquisition was reviewed and approved in accordance with the Company’s related party transaction approval
process, and it was concluded that the terms represent a transaction conducted at arm’s length.

NOTE 23 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

None.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. Any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objective and management
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance
that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act).

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and the oversight of our audit committee, has evaluated the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In assessing the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, our
management used the framework established in Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2023.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by Kesselman & Kesselman, a member of
PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which can be found in Part II Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitation on the Effectiveness of Internal Control

The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of judgment in
designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. Accordingly, in designing and
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, no matter how
well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure
controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of
possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. Moreover, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Item 9B. Other Information.

Rule 10b5-1 and Non-Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, certain of our officers and directors adopted trading arrangements for the sale of shares of our common
stock as follows:

Plans

Action Date Rule 10b5-1* Non-Rule 10b5-
1**

Number of
Shares to be Sold Expiration

Avi Zeevi, Director Adoption November 14, 2023 X 300,000 August 31, 2024
Scott Galit, Director Adoption November 15, 2023 X (1) June 30, 2024
Assaf Ronen, Chief Platform
Officer(2) Adoption November 16, 2023 X 300,000 February 10, 2025

*Intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c)
**Not intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c)

(1) Under this trading arrangement, up to 2,040,629 shares of common stock may be sold. In addition, common stock may be sold in amounts which represent
the net amount of shares remaining following a withholding of shares to cover tax obligations upon the vesting of restricted stock units on certain dates during
the plan. The number of net shares to be sold to accomplish this purpose cannot be reliably determined at this time, as it will depend upon the share price on
the vest date.

(2) Assaf Ronen departed as Chief Platform Officer of the Company on December 1, 2023.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC, within 120
days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 (the “2024 Proxy Statement’), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation .

The information required by this item will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters .

The information required by this item will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence .

The information required by this item will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services .

The information required by this item will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

Financial Statements

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements in “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omitted as the information is not required under the related instruction or is not applicable or because the information required is
already included in the financial statements or the notes to those financial statements.

Exhibits

The exhibits to this report are listed in the exhibit index below.

Exhibit Index

(b) Exhibits. The following exhibits are being followed herewith:
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Exhibit No.     Description of Exhibit
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (included as Exhibit 2.1 to FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp.’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2021).

2.2
Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (included as Exhibit 2.1 to FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp.’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February
16, 2021).

2.3
Amendment No. 2 to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (included as Exhibit 2.1 to FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp.’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May
10, 2021).

2.4
Amendment No. 3 to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (included as Exhibit 2.1 to FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp.’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June
23, 2021).

3.1
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July
1, 2021).

3.2 Bylaws for the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).

4.1
Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form S-4 filed with the SEC on May 25,
2021).

4.2 Specimen Warrant Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Form S-4 filed with the SEC on May 25, 2021).

4.3
Assignment, Assumption and Amendment Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2021, among FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corporation, Payoneer Global, Inc. and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).

4.4
Warrant Agreement, dated August 25, 2020, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corp.’s Form 8-K filed on August 28, 2020).

4.5* Description of Registered Securities.
10.1 Payoneer 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).
10.2 New Payoneer 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (included as Exhibit 10.7 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).
10.3 Israeli Sub-Plan to Payoneer Global Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (included as Exhibit 99.2 to the Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 9, 2021).
10.4 Form of Indemnification Agreement (included as Exhibit 10.8 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).
10.5 A&R Registration Rights Agreement (included as Exhibit 10.9 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).
10.6 Receivables Loan and Security Agreement (included as Exhibit 1.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 3, 2021).
10.7 Non-Employee Directors Compensation Plan, dated March 1, 2022 (included as Exhibit 10.11 to the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2022).
10.8 Employment Agreement with Scott Galit (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).
10.9 Employment Agreement with Michael Levine (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).

10.10
Amendment #1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Scott Galit (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on May 25, 2022).

10.11 Employment Agreement with John Caplan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 25, 2022).

10.12
Employment Agreement with Arnon Kraft (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Post Effective Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
with the SEC on April 28, 2022).

10.13 Employment Agreement with Assaf Ronen (included as Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023).
10.14 Amendment to Employment Agreement with Assaf Ronen (included as Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023).
10.15 Employment Agreement with Tsafi Goldman (included as Exhibit 10.15 to the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023).
10.16 Separation Agreement with Michael Levine (attached as Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023).
10.17 Amendment to Separation Agreement with Michael Levine (attached as Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023).
10.18 Separation Agreement with Robert Clarkson (attached as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023).
10.19 Employment Agreement with Bea Ordonez (included as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023).
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10.20 Amendment #1 to Employment Agreement with John Caplan (included as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2023).

10.21
Amendment #2 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Scott Galit (included as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC
on February 28, 2023).

10.22 Separation Agreement with Keren Levy (included as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 8, 2023).
10.23* Separation Agreement with Assaf Ronen.
10.24* Employment Agreement with Keren Levy.
14.1* Code of Conduct and Ethics of the Company, dated June 25, 2021, as amended.
21.1* List of Subsidiaries.
23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Kesselman & Kesselman, a member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited.
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
97* Policy Relating to Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation.
101.INS*     iXBRL Instance Document
101.SCH* iXBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* iXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* iXBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* iXBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* iXBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibits 101).

* Filed herewith.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Payoneer Global Inc.
By: /s/ John Caplan
Name: John Caplan
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 28, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 28, 2024.

Signature     Title     Date
/s/ John Caplan Chief Executive Officer and Director

(principal executive officer) February 28, 2024
John Caplan

/s/ Bea Ordonez Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer) February 28, 2024

Bea Ordonez
/s/ Itai Perry Chief Accounting Officer

(principal accounting officer) February 28, 2024
Itai Perry

/s/ Scott Galit
Director February 28, 2024

Scott Galit
/s/ Amir Goldman Director February 28, 2024

Amir Goldman
/s/ Sharda Caro del-Castillo

Director February 28, 2024
Sharda Caro del-Castillo

/s/ Avi Zeevi
Director February 28, 2024

Avi Zeevi
/s/ Christopher (Woody) Marshall

Director February 28, 2024
Christopher (Woody) Marshall

 /s/ Rich Williams
Director February 28, 2024

Rich Williams

/s/ Susanna Morgan
Director February 28, 2024

Susanna Morgan

/s/ Pamela H. Patsley Director February 28, 2024
Pamela H. Patsley



 

Exhibit 4.5
PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED UNDER SECTION 12 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

The following is a summary of the material terms of Payoneer Global Inc.’s (“Payoneer,” “we,” “our,” or the “Company”) common stock and public warrants, and is
not intended to be a complete summary of such securities, which, as of December 31, 2023, were registered under Section 12 of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The full text of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our amended and restated bylaws and the Warrant
Agreement (as defined below) are included as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part. The summary below is also qualified by
reference to the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (“DGCL”), as applicable.

Authorized and Outstanding Stock

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation (our “certificate of incorporation”) authorizes the issuance of an aggregate of 4,180,000,000 shares of
capital stock, consisting of 3,800,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share and 380,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share.
Unless our board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) determines otherwise, we have and will continue to, issue all shares of capital stock in uncertificated form.

Common Stock

Our certificate of incorporation provides for one class of common stock. Except as otherwise required by applicable law or as provided in our certificate of
incorporation, the holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on matters to be voted on by stockholders generally or by holders of common stock as a
separate class.

Subject to applicable law and the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of preferred stock or any other outstanding class or series of stock,
holders of common stock will be entitled to receive such dividends and distributions, if any, as may be declared from time to time by the Board of Directors in its
discretion out of funds legally available therefor.

Preferred Stock

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board of Directors to establish one or more series of preferred stock. Unless required by law or by any stock
exchange, and subject to the terms of our certificate of incorporation, the authorized shares of preferred stock will be available for issuance without further action by
holders of common stock. Our Board of Directors is able to determine, with respect to any series of preferred stock, designations, powers, preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other rights, if any, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, if any.

We may issue a series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of the series, impede or discourage an acquisition attempt or other transaction that
some, or a majority, of the holders of our common stock might believe to be in their best interests or in which the holders of common stock might receive a premium
over the market price of the shares of common stock. Additionally, the issuance of preferred stock may adversely affect the rights of holders of our common stock by
restricting dividends on the common stock, diluting the voting power of the common stock or subordinating the rights of the common stock to distributions upon a
liquidation, dissolution or winding up or other event. As a result of these or other factors, the issuance of preferred stock could have an adverse impact on the market
price of our common stock.

Preemptive or Other Rights

Our stockholders have no preemptive or other subscription rights. There are no sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock.

Election of Directors

All elections of directors are determined by a plurality of the votes cast in respect of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and
entitled to vote on the election of directors.

No Cumulative Voting

Under DGCL, the right to vote cumulatively does not exist unless the certificate of incorporation specifically authorizes cumulative voting. Our certificate of
incorporation does not authorize cumulative voting in the election of directors.

Meetings of the Stockholders



Our amended and restated bylaws (our “bylaws”) provide that stockholder meetings will be held at a date, time and place, if any, as selected by the Board of
Directors, or the Chair of the Board of Directors in the absence of a designation by the Board of Directors.

Annual Meeting

Our bylaws provide that an annual stockholder meeting shall be held for the election of directors and to transact such other business as may properly be brought
before the meeting.

Staggered Board

Our Board of Directors is divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms. Class I, Class II and Class III directors initially served or will serve (as the
case may be) until our annual meetings of stockholders in 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

At each annual meeting of stockholders, directors will be elected to succeed the class of directors whose terms have expired. This classification of our Board of
Directors could have the effect of increasing the length of time necessary to change the composition of a majority of the Board of Directors. In general, at least two
annual meetings of stockholders will be necessary for stockholders to effect a change in a majority of the members of the Board of Directors.

Anti-Takeover Effects of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and Certain Provisions of Delaware Law

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and the DGCL contain provisions that are summarized in the following paragraphs and that are intended to enhance
the likelihood of continuity and stability in the composition of our Board of Directors. These provisions are intended to avoid costly takeover battles, reduce our
vulnerability to a hostile or abusive change of control and enhance the ability of our Board of Directors to maximize stockholder value in connection with any
unsolicited offer to acquire us. However, these provisions may have an anti-takeover effect and may delay, deter or prevent a merger or acquisition of the Company
by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or other takeover attempt that a stockholder might consider in its best interest, including those attempts that might result in
a premium over the prevailing market price for the shares of common stock held by stockholders.

Transfer Restrictions

Our certificate of incorporation provides that, subject to certain exceptions, we may request that holders or proposed transferees of its capital stock provide such
information (including, without limitation, information with respect to citizenship, other holdings of our capital stock and affiliations) as it may reasonably request to
determine whether the ownership of, or the exercise of any rights with respect to, our capital stock by such stockholder could, among other things, result in such
stockholder beneficially owning more than 9.9% of our issued and outstanding capital stock on a fully diluted basis (a “Violation”). This provision is designed to ensure
we comply with the various licensing regimes of the several jurisdictions in which we operate, as the acquisition of more than 10% of our issued and outstanding
capital stock in such jurisdictions could require regulatory notifications and/or consents.

In the event a holder or proposed transferee fails to respond to our request for information or if, upon review of information provided by such holder or proposed
transferee, our Board of Directors determines that such person’s holdings or acquisition of our capital stock would result in a Violation, we may refuse to permit any
such transfer of capital stock, refuse to honor any transfer of capital stock purported to have been effected (in which case, such transfer shall be deemed to have
been void ab initio), suspend rights of stock ownership the exercise of which could result in a Violation, or redeem such shares of capital stock. Pursuant to our
certificate of incorporation, any shares of capital stock subject to redemption shall be redeemed at a price equal to $0.01 per share, on such other terms and
conditions as our Board of Directors may determine. Our certificate of incorporation provides that our Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, exempt (proactively
or retroactively) any person from the foregoing restrictions.

Authorized but Unissued Capital Stock

Delaware law does not require stockholder approval for any issuance of shares that are authorized and available for issuance. However, the listing requirements
of the Nasdaq Global Market, which would apply so long as the shares of common stock remain listed on the Nasdaq Global Market, require stockholder approval of
certain issuances equal to or exceeding 20% of the then outstanding voting power or the then outstanding number of shares of common stock. These additional
shares may be used for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings, to raise additional capital or to facilitate acquisitions. Additionally, the
number of authorized shares of any series of common stock or preferred stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof
outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power, irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL.



Our Board of Directors may generally issue shares of one or more series of preferred stock on terms designed to discourage, delay or prevent a change of control
of the Company or the removal of our management. Moreover, our authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock will be available for future issuances in one or
more series without stockholder approval and could be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including future offerings to raise additional capital, to facilitate
acquisitions and employee benefit plans.

One of the effects of the existence of authorized and unissued and unreserved shares of common stock or preferred stock may be to enable our Board of
Directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current management, which issuance could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of the
Company by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise, and thereby protect the continuity of our management and possibly deprive our stockholders
of opportunities to sell their shares of common stock at prices higher than prevailing market prices.

Removal of Directors; Vacancies and Newly Created Directorships

Our certificate of incorporation provides that, subject to the rights granted to one or more series of preferred stock then outstanding, no director may be removed
from office by the stockholders other than for cause with the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the total voting power then outstanding. The certificate of
incorporation further provides that, subject to the applicable provisions of the DGCL and the rights granted to one or more series of preferred stock then outstanding,
any newly-created directorship on the Board of Directors that results from an increase in the number of directors and any vacancies on our Board of Directors will be
filled solely by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director.

Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation

Our certificate of incorporation provides that our Board of Directors be classified into three classes of directors. As a result, in most circumstances, a person can
gain control of our Board of Directors only by successfully engaging in a proxy contest at two or more annual general meetings. Our authorized but unissued preferred
shares are available for future issuances without shareholder approval and could be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including future offerings to raise
additional capital, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved shares of common stock and preferred shares
could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.

Special Stockholder Meetings

Our certificate of incorporation provides that special meetings of our stockholders may be called at any time only by the Board of Directors acting pursuant to a
resolution adopted by the Board of Directors, subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock then outstanding. The bylaws prohibit the conduct of any
business at a special meeting other than as specified in the notice for such meeting. These provisions may have the effect of deterring, delaying or discouraging
hostile takeovers, or changes in control or management of the Company.

Director Nominations and Stockholder Proposals

The bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election as directors, other than
nominations made by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors. In order for any matter to be “properly brought” before a
meeting, a stockholder will have to comply with advance notice requirements and provide us with certain information. Generally, to be timely, a stockholder’s notice
must be received at our principal executive offices not less than 120 days nor more than 150 days prior to the first anniversary date of the immediately preceding
annual meeting of stockholders, subject to specified exceptions. The bylaws also specify requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. These
provisions may also defer, delay or discourage a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise
attempting to influence or obtain control of the Company.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent

Pursuant to Section 228 of the DGCL, any action required to be taken at any annual or special meeting of the stockholders may be taken without a meeting,
without prior notice, and without a vote if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is or are signed by the holders of outstanding stock having
not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares of stock entitled to vote thereon
were present and voted, unless the certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Subject to applicable law and the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding
series of preferred stock or any other outstanding class or series of stock, our certificate of incorporation does not permit holders of our common stock to act by
consent in writing.

Dissenters’ Rights of Appraisal and Payment



Under the DGCL, with certain exceptions, our stockholders will have appraisal rights in connection with a merger or consolidation in which we are a constituent
entity. Pursuant to the DGCL, stockholders who properly demand and perfect appraisal rights in connection with such merger or consolidation will have the right to
receive payment of the fair value of their shares as determined by the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, plus interest, if any, on the amount determined to
be the fair value, from the effective time of the merger or consolidation through the date of payment of the judgment.

Stockholders’ Derivative Actions

Under the DGCL, any of our stockholders may bring an action in our name to procure a judgment in our favor, also known as a derivative action, provided that the
stockholder bringing the action is a holder of our shares at the time of the transaction to which the action relates or such stockholder’s stock thereafter devolved by
operation of law. To bring such an action, the stockholder must otherwise comply with Delaware law regarding derivative actions.

Exclusive Forum

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that, unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, (A) the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, the federal district court of the State of Delaware will, to the
fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for any stockholder to bring (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company,
(ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of the Company to the Company or the Company’s
stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws (as either may be amended
or restated) or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the
internal affairs doctrine of the law of the State of Delaware, and (B) the federal district courts of the United States shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the federal securities laws.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be
deemed to have notice of and consented to the forum provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws. However, investors will not be deemed to have waived
compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder as a result of the forum selection provisions in the certificate of incorporation and
bylaws.

Conflicts of Interest

Delaware law permits corporations to adopt provisions renouncing any interest or expectancy in certain opportunities that are presented to the corporation or its
officers, directors or stockholders. Our certificate of incorporation may, to the maximum extent permitted from time to time by Delaware law, renounce any interest
or expectancy that we have in, or right to be offered an opportunity to participate in, specified business opportunities that are from time to time presented to our
officers, directors or stockholders or their respective affiliates, other than those officers, directors, stockholders or affiliates who are our or our subsidiaries’ employees.

Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

The DGCL authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and their stockholders for monetary damages for
breaches of directors’ fiduciary duties, subject to certain exceptions. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include a provision that eliminates the personal liability
of directors for monetary damages to the corporation or its stockholders for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the extent such exemption from
liability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCL. The effect of these provisions is to eliminate the rights of us and our stockholders, through stockholders’
derivative suits on our behalf, to recover monetary damages from a director for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, including breaches resulting from grossly
negligent behavior. However, exculpation does not apply to any director if the director has breached such director’s duty of loyalty, acted in bad faith, knowingly or
intentionally violated the law, authorized illegal dividends, redemptions or repurchases or derived an improper benefit from his or her actions as a director.

The limitation of liability provision in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of
their fiduciary duty. These provisions also may have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers, even though such an
action, if successful, might otherwise benefit us and our stockholders. In addition, your investment may be adversely affected to the extent we pay the costs of
settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions.

Public Warrants

Our public warrants are issued pursuant to the Warrant Agreement (the “Original Warrant Agreement”) dated August 25, 2020, as amended and supplemented
by the Assignment, Assumption and Amendment Agreement (together with the Original Warrant Agreement, the “Warrant Agreement”) dated June 25, 2021 among
the Company, FTAC Olympus Acquisition Corporation and



Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent (the “Warrant Agent”). The following summary of certain provisions relating to our public warrants
does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Warrant Agreement. You should review the Warrant Agreement for
a complete description of the terms and conditions applicable to the public warrants.

General

Each whole public warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of our common stock for $11.50 per share, subject to certain adjustments (the “Exercise
Price”). The public warrants will expire at the earliest to occur of (i) 5:00 p.m., New York City time on June 25, 2026 and (ii) 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the
redemption date, if any, that we may fix in accordance with the Warrant Agreement. We may extend the duration of the public warrants so long as we provide at least
20 days’ prior written notice to all registered holders. Any such extension must be identical among all of the public warrants. Any public warrant not exercised prior to
its expiration will become void.

Exercise and Expiration

A public warrant may be exercised by delivering to the Warrant Agent (i) the public warrant, (ii) an election to purchase, a form of which is attached to the
Warrant Agreement, and (iii) the payment in full of the Exercise Price and any and all applicable taxes due in connection with the exercise.

As soon as practicable after the exercise of any public warrant and the clearance of any applicable funds we will issue a book-entry position or certificate, as
applicable, for the shares of common stock. All shares of common stock issued upon the proper exercise of a public warrant in conformity with the Warrant
Agreement and the certificate of incorporation will be validly issued as fully paid and nonassessable.

Additionally, a public warrant holder may notify us in writing of the holder’s election to be subject to a provision of the Warrant Agreement preventing the holder
from exercising a public warrant, to the extent that, after giving effect to such exercise, the holder (together with its affiliates), to the Warrant Agent’s actual
knowledge, would beneficially own in excess of 9.8% (the “Maximum Percentage”) of our outstanding common stock immediately after giving effect to such exercise.
By written notice to us, a public warrant holder may increase or decrease the Maximum Percentage to any other percentage specified in such notice, subject to
compliance with our certificate of incorporation’s transfer restrictions preventing Violations; provided, however, that any such increase will not be effective until the
sixty-first (61st) day after such notice is delivered to us.

No fractional shares of common stock will be issued upon exercise. If, upon exercise, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share, we will
round down to the nearest whole number of the number of shares of common stock to be issued to the holder.

Registration and Cashless Exercise

In the event a registration statement relating to the registration, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), of the shares of common
stock issuable upon the exercise of the public warrants is not effective, public warrant holders have the right, until such registration statement is declared effective by
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, and during any other period that we may fail to have maintained an effective registration statement covering the
shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the public warrants, to exercise such public warrants on a “cashless basis.” In a cashless exercise, holders may
exchange their public warrants for a number of shares of our common stock equal to the lesser of (A) the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of (i) the
number of shares of common stock underlying the public warrants and (ii) the excess of the “fair market value” of our common stock less the Exercise Price by (y) the
“fair market value” of our common stock, and (B) 0.361. In this scenario, the “fair market value” means the volume weighted average price of our common stock as
reported during the 10-trading-day period ending on the trading day prior to the date that notice of exercise is received by the Warrant Agent.

Additionally, we may require exercises of public warrants to be made on a “cashless basis” if our common stock is, at the time of any exercise, not listed on a
national securities exchange such that it satisfies the definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act. In that case, we will not be
required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement for the registration of the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the public warrants. Instead,
we will be required to use commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify for sale those shares of common stock under the applicable blue sky laws, to the
extent an exemption is not available.

If, by reason of any exercise of public warrants on a “cashless basis”, the holder of any public warrant would be entitled, upon the exercise of such public
warrant, to receive a fractional interest in a share of common stock, we will round down to the nearest whole number, the number of shares of common stock to be
issued to such holder.

Redemption and Notice

Redemption of public warrants when the price per share of common stock equals or exceeds $18.00.



Upon becoming exercisable, we may call the public warrants for redemption:

● in whole and not in part;

● at a price of $0.01 per public warrant;

● upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to the public warrant holders;

● if, and only if, the closing price of the shares of common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for share sub-divisions, share
capitalizations, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior
to the date on which notice of the redemption is sent to the public warrant holders; and

● if, and only if, there is an effective registration statement covering the issuance of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the public warrants
and a current prospectus relating thereto available throughout the 30-day period after written notice of redemption is sent.

Redemption of public warrants when the price per share of common stock equals or exceeds $10.00.

We may redeem the outstanding public warrants:

•        in whole and not in part;

•        at $0.10 per public warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their public
warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive a number of shares of common stock as set forth in Section 6.2 of the Warrant Agreement;

•        if, and only if, the closing price of our shares of common stock equals or exceeds $10.00 per public share (as adjusted for share sub-divisions, share
dividends, reorganizations, reclassifications, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within the 30 trading-day period ending on the third
trading day prior to the date on which notice of redemption is sent to the public warrant holders; and

•        if, and only if, there is an effective registration statement covering the issuance of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the public warrants
and a current prospectus relating thereto available throughout the 30-day period after written notice of redemption is sent.

This redemption feature differs from the typical warrant redemption features used in many other SPAC/business combination transactions, which typically only
provide for a redemption of warrants for cash (other than the private placement warrants) when the trading price for the shares of common stock exceeds $18.00 per
share for a specified period of time.

If we choose to redeem the public warrants when the shares of common stock are trading at a price below the Exercise Price, this could result in the public
warrant holders receiving fewer shares of common stock than they would have received if they had chosen to wait to exercise their public warrants for shares of
common stock if and when such shares of common stock were trading at a price higher than the exercise price of $11.50.

Notice

We will mail any such notice of redemption by first class mail, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days prior to the redemption date to registered public warrant
holders. The notice will be sent to each registered holder’s last address as it appears on the registration books. Any notice so mailed will be conclusively presumed to
have been duly given, whether or not the registered holder actually receives such notice.

On and after the redemption date, the record holder of the public warrants will have no further rights except to receive, upon surrender of the public warrants, the
applicable redemption price.

Adjustments

The number of shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the public warrants is subject to customary adjustments in certain circumstances, such as
a stock split, dividend or reclassification of our common stock, as described in the Warrant Agreement. In the event the number of shares of common stock
purchasable upon the exercise of the public warrants is adjusted, the Warrant Price (as such term is defined in the Warrant Agreement) will be adjusted (to the
nearest cent) by:

● taking the Warrant Price immediately prior to such adjustment,
● multiplying it by the number of shares of common stock purchasable upon the exercise of the public warrants immediately prior to such adjustment,

and then
● dividing by the number of shares of common stock so purchasable immediately thereafter.



If, by reason of any adjustment made pursuant to the events described above (each, an “Adjustment”), the holder of any public warrant would be entitled, upon
the exercise of such public warrant, to receive a fractional interest in a share, we will, upon such exercise, round down to the nearest whole number the number of
shares of common stock to be issued to such holder.

Public warrant holders will also have replacement rights in the case of certain reorganization, merger, consolidation, or certain sale transactions involving our
Company or substantially all of our assets in connection with our dissolution (each a “Replacement Event”). Upon the occurrence of any Replacement Event, public
warrant holders will have the right to purchase and receive (in lieu of shares of our common stock) the kind and amount of stock or other securities or property
(including cash) receivable upon such Replacement Event that the holder would have received if the public warrants were exercised immediately prior to such event.

Upon any adjustment of the Warrant Price or the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a public warrant, we will provide written notice of such adjustment
to the Warrant Agent stating the Warrant Price resulting from such adjustment and the increase or decrease, if any, in the number of shares purchasable at such
price upon the exercise of a public warrant. We will also provide notice of any adjustment described above to each public warrant holder at the last address set forth
in the warrant register stating the date of the event.

Additionally, in case of any event affecting us to which the adjustments described above are not strictly applicable, but which would require an adjustment to the
terms of the public warrants in order to avoid an adverse impact on the public warrants and to effectuate the intent and purpose of the adjustments provided for in the
Warrant Agreement, we will appoint an appropriate independent firm to give its opinion as to whether any adjustment is necessary and, if so, the terms of such
adjustment. In such an event, we will then adjust the terms of the public warrants in a manner consistent with the recommended adjustment.

Transfers and Exchanges

Public warrants may be exchanged or transferred upon surrender of the public warrant to the Warrant Agent, together with a written request for exchange or
transfer. Upon any transfer, a new public warrant representing an equal aggregate number of public warrants will be issued and the old public warrant will be
cancelled by the Warrant Agent.

No Rights as a Stockholder

A public warrant does not entitle the holder to any of the rights of a stockholder of our Company, including, without limitation, the right to receive dividends, the
right to vote, preemptive rights, the right to consent or to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or the election of directors of our
Company.

Registration Rights Agreement

In connection with the Reorganization, certain of our directors and officers, and several of the holders of our common stock, as well as a private warrant holder,
entered in the Registration Rights Agreement. The Registration Rights Agreement also provides the parties thereto with demand, “piggy-back” and Form S-3
registration rights, subject to certain minimum requirements and customary conditions. In addition, subject to certain exceptions, certain shareholders who are party to
the Registration Rights Agreement agreed for a period of time not to transfer or dispose of our common stock.

Warrant Agent

The Warrant Agent for our public warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. We have agreed to indemnify Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company in its roles as warrant agent against all liabilities, including judgments, out-of-pocket costs and reasonable outside counsel fees, for anything done or
omitted by the Warrant Agent in the execution of the Warrant Agreement, except as a result of the Warrant Agent’s gross negligence, willful misconduct, fraud or bad
faith.



 

Exhibit 10.23

November 29, 2023

Assaf Ronen
Assaf Ronen
[***]

Dear Assaf,

Re: Separation Agreement

This will confirm the agreement (the “Agreement”) that has been reached with you in connection with your separation of
employment from Payoneer Inc. (the “Company”).

1. Separation of Employment; Transition Period.

(a) Your last day of employment with the Company will be June 20, 2024 (the “Separation Date”). You and the Company
further agree that notwithstanding the foregoing, your active duties as Chief Platform Officer will cease on December 1, 2023 (the
“Cessation Date”). From the Cessation Date through the Separation Date (the “Transition Period”), you will be employed in a
non-executive position during which period you are not required to report to the Company’s offices or regularly perform work for
or on behalf of the Company. During the Transition Period, you will however remain on the Company’s payroll, with all benefits
that you participated in prior to the Cessation Date and agree to make yourself available to the Company, for consulting to assist
in the transition of your duties as the Company may deem necessary and appropriate. No vacation days will accrue during the
Transition Period.

(b) You will receive compensation at your current rate of pay, through the Separation Date, less applicable statutory
deductions and authorized withholdings. You will be eligible for a year-end bonus with respect to 2023 performance consistent
with your current terms, and payable at the same time that 2023 annual bonuses are paid to similarly situated executives of the
Company, but for avoidance of doubt you will not be eligible for or entitled to any annual bonus with respect to 2024 performance.

(c) During the Transition Period, you will be required to inform the Company of any potential new employment and such new
employment shall be subject to the prior written consent of the Company, with such consent not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed.

2. Separation Benefits. In consideration of your obligations set forth in this Agreement, including but not limited to your
consent to the Release set forth in Paragraph 8 below and the execution and non- revocation of the reaffirmation of the release
as set forth on Appendix A as of the Separation Date (the “ Reaffirmation”), you will receive the following additional separation
benefits (collectively, the “Separation Benefits”), to which you are not otherwise entitled:

(a)  Unused Vacation. The Company will pay you the balance of any accrued but unused vacation days with respect to your
employment period up until and including the Cessation Date. This payment will be paid on the Cessation Date. You agree to
utilize during the Transition Period any vacation days that accrue



during the Transition Period and therefore there shall be no accrued but unused vacation days remaining at the end of the
Transition Period.

(c) Continued Vesting of Equity Awards. Subject to your execution and non-revocation of the Reaffirmation and
compliance with the terms of this Agreement, equity awards comprising restricted stock units (“RSUs”) that have previously been
granted to you, that are set forth on Appendix B attached hereto and that have not vested as of the Cessation Date, will continue
to vest according to their original vesting schedule and terms up until the Separation Date. For the avoidance of doubt, the
vesting of all outstanding equity awards that you hold as of the Separation Date shall immediately cease on the Separation Date
and all unvested awards shall be forfeited for no consideration.

(d) Relocation Assistance. You will be reimbursed by the Company in the amount of up to $25,000 for reasonable
expenses relating to the shipment of your household goods from Israel to the USA, against receipts submitted to the Company no
later than 30 days after they are incurred and will be paid to you by the Company no later than 30 days thereafter. All such
expenses should be submitted for reimbursement no later than one month prior to the end of the Transition Period (i.e. – by May
20, 2024).

(e) Unemployment. The Company will not contest any lawful application you make for unemployment compensation
benefits; provided, however, that the Company will respond truthfully to all mandatory inquiries directed to it by a governmental
agency. It is understood that the Company does not make unemployment compensation benefits eligibility decisions and that the
Separation Benefits may affect your eligibility for unemployment compensation benefits.

(f) Full Satisfaction. You agree and acknowledge that the arrangements, payments and benefits referenced herein are in
lieu of and in full satisfaction of any amounts that might otherwise be payable under any contract, plan, policy or practice, past or
present, of the Company or any of its affiliates. Except as expressly set forth above, you shall not be eligible to participate or
continue to participate in any employee benefit plans or compensation arrangements of the Company or any of its affiliates
subsequent to your Separation Date.

3. Trading Restrictions. You agree that for the 90 (ninety) day period commencing on the Cessation Date, you are not
allowed any trading in Payoneer Global Inc.’s stock, including any sale to cover payment for the exercise price of options and/or
for payment of taxes on the exercise of options or settlement of RSUs. For avoidance of doubt, the foregoing does not apply to
trades pursuant to any existing 10b5-1 plan as of the Cessation Date. You are reminded that, following the conclusion of such 90
(ninety) day period, trading on the basis of material non-public information, or providing such information to others so that they
may trade, is a violation of the federal securities laws. You confirm that during the Transition Period
(i) you shall continue to be subject to and abide by the Payoneer Global Inc. Insider Trading Policy as an employee of the
Company, and (ii) the Insider Trading Policy may be enforced on you in any way Payoneer Global Inc. deems reasonably fit for
such purpose. Accordingly, any trading in Payoneer Global Inc. stock, including among other things, any sale of stock during the
Transition Period and/or any sale to cover payment for the exercise price and/or taxes thereof may only be effected during a
Window (as defined in the Insider Trading Policy). As a Section 16 officer, you (i) have informed the Company of any open market
trades that you have engaged in during the six-month period prior to the Cessation Date and (ii) agree that you will inform the
Company of any trades that you intend to make in Company stock at any time during the 6-month period immediately following
the Cessation Date prior to making such a trade.



4. Benefits Coverage. Your eligibility to participate in the Company’s benefits plans, including group health and dental plans
and retirement plans, will cease as of the Separation Date. Following the Separation Date, you may be eligible to elect
continuation coverage in the Company’s medical plans pursuant to the provisions of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA”). In the event that you elect continuation coverage, such coverage shall be at
your own expense. COBRA continuation coverage shall in all respects be subject to the requirements, conditions and limitations
of COBRA and of the medical plans of the Company, which may be amended from time to time.

5. Payment of Salary and Receipt of All Benefits. You acknowledge and represent that, other than the consideration set forth
in this Agreement, the Company has paid or provided all salary, bonuses, paid time off, reimbursable expenses, commissions,
stock, stock options, vesting, and any and all other benefits and compensation due to you.

6. Confidential Information. You agree that in the course of your employment with the Company you have had access to
confidential and proprietary information concerning the business of the Company and its affiliates, including business plans and
strategies, business transactions and relationships, credit and financial information, know-how, software and information
regarding the clients, shareholders, partners, members, officers and other personnel of the Company and its affiliates
(“Confidential Information”). You understand and agree that (a) you will keep such Confidential Information confidential at all
times after the Separation Date, (b) you will not make use of such Confidential Information on your own behalf or for any third
party, and (c) you have returned or immediately will return to the Company any and all copies, duplicates, reproduction or
excerpts of such Confidential Information within your possession, custody or control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, you hereby
acknowledge and agree that nothing in this Agreement precludes your ability to (i) communicate directly with and provide
information, including documents, not otherwise protected from disclosure by any applicable law or privilege to the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), any other federal, state or local governmental agency or commission
(“Government Agency”) or self-regulatory organization regarding possible legal violations, without disclosure to the Company, or
(ii) disclose information which is required to be disclosed by applicable law, regulation, or order or requirement (including without
limitation, by deposition, interrogatory, requests for documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or similar process) of courts,
administrative agencies, the SEC, any Government Agency or self-regulatory organizations provided that you provide the
Company with prior notice of the contemplated disclosure and cooperate at the Company’s expense in seeking a protective
order or other appropriate protection of such information (collectively, the “Protected Rights”). Neither the Company nor any of
its affiliates may retaliate against you for any of these activities, and nothing in this Agreement requires you to waive any
monetary award or other payment that you might become entitled to from the SEC or any other Government Agency or self-
regulatory organization. Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, you and the Company acknowledge and agree that
you will not have criminal or civil liability under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is
made (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and (ii) solely
for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a
lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. In addition, and without limiting



the preceding sentence, if you file a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, you may
disclose the trade secret to your attorney and may use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if you (x) file any
document containing the trade secret under seal and (y) do not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.

7. Company Property. All documents and records (electronic, paper or otherwise), materials, software, equipment, and other
physical property, including but not limited to smartphones and other mobile devices, ID cards, office access cards, keys,
computers, and all copies of the foregoing, whether or not containing Confidential Information, that have come into your
possession or been produced by you in connection with your employment (“Property”), have been and remain the sole property
of the Company or its affiliates, as applicable. You agree that you have returned or immediately shall return all such Property to
the Company on the Separation Date. Notwithstanding the above, you shall be entitled to retain your cellphone and company
computer subject to the removal of any Company Confidential Information. In addition, the Company will work with you to port the
cellphone number to your personal account.

8. General Release and Waiver of Claim

(a) You, your heirs, successors, and assigns, hereby knowingly and voluntarily promise, release and forever discharge the
Company and its affiliates, together with all of their respective current and former officers, directors, agents, representatives and
employees, and each of their predecessors, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Releasees”), from any and all debts,
demands, actions, causes of actions, accounts, covenants, contracts, agreements, claims, damages, omissions, promises, and
any and all claims and liabilities whatsoever, of every name and nature, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, both in
law and equity (“Claims”), which you ever had, now have, or may hereafter claim to have against the Releasees by reason of any
matter, cause or thing whatsoever arising from the beginning of time to the time you sign this Agreement (the “Release”). This
Release shall apply to any Claim of any type, including, without limitation, any and all Claims of any type that you may have
arising under the common law, under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, Section 1981 of Title
42 of the United States Code, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (“ ADEA”), the Older Workers Benefit Protection
Act (“OWBPA”), the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the Genetic Information
Nondiscrimination Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, the Equal Pay Act, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the
Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, the Fair Credit
Reporting Act, the New York State Human Rights Law, the New York City Human Rights Law, the New York Labor Code, the
New York State Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, Section 125 of the New York  Workers’ Compensation Law,
and the New York State Constitution, each as amended, and any other federal, state or local statutes, regulations, ordinances or
common law, or under any policy, agreement, contract, understanding or promise, written or oral, formal or informal, between any
of the Releasees and you, and shall further apply, without limitation, to any and all Claims in connection with, related to or arising
out of your employment, or the termination of your employment, with the Company, and all Claims for alleged tortious,
defamatory or fraudulent conduct.



(b) You understand that the foregoing Release does not serve to waive any claims or rights that, pursuant to law, cannot be
waived or subject to a release of this kind, such as: (i) claims for unemployment or workers’ compensation benefits; (ii) rights to
vested benefits under any applicable retirement plan; and/or (iii) claims arising under or to enforce this Agreement. In addition,
nothing in this Agreement limits or waives your right, pursuant to the OWBPA, to seek a judicial determination of the validity of
the Agreement’s waiver of claims under the ADEA. Moreover, the foregoing Release does not affect any right to file an
administrative charge with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) or parallel agency or to participate in an
EEOC or agency investigation, subject to the restriction that if any such charge is filed, you agree not to violate the confidentiality
provisions of this Agreement and further agree and covenant that should you or any other person, organization, or other entity file,
charge, claim, sue or cause or permit to be filed any EEOC charge, civil action, suit or legal proceeding against the Releasees
involving any matter occurring at any time subject to the Release, you will not seek or accept any personal relief (including, but
not limited to, monetary award, recovery, or settlement) in such charge, civil action, suit or proceeding.

(c) You hereby represent and warrant that you have not filed or caused to be filed any complaints, charges or lawsuits
against the Company or any of the Releasees, and that no such complaints, charges or lawsuits are pending. You further
represent and warrant that you have made no assignment or transfer of any Claims subject to this Release.

9. Non-Disclosure. You agree not to disclose this Agreement, including the terms, conditions or negotiation thereof, to
anyone other than your immediate family, financial advisor, accountant or attorney, and then only upon the agreement of such
person not to disclose such subject matter to any other person, except as may be required by law (including any applicable
requirements set forth by the Securities and Exchange Commission); provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement is
intended to preclude you from (a) providing truthful testimony on any non-privileged subject matter in response to a valid
subpoena, court order, regulatory request or other judicial, administrative or legal process or otherwise as required by law, in
which event you shall notify the Company in writing, unless prohibited to do so by law, as promptly as practicable after receiving
any such request and at least ten (10) business days prior to providing such testimony; or (b) reporting possible violations of law
or regulation to any governmental agency or entity, including but not limited to the Department of Justice, the Securities and
Exchange Commission, Congress, and any agency Inspector General, or making other disclosures that are protected under the
whistleblower provisions of applicable law or regulation. If such a protective order or other remedy described in clause (a) of the
foregoing sentence is not obtained, or the Company waives compliance with this Agreement, you shall furnish only that portion of
such subject matter that is legally required and shall exercise all reasonable efforts to obtain reliable assurance that confidential
treatment will be accorded to the subject matter to be disclosed.

10. No Re-employment. You agree that the employment relationship will be permanently and irrevocably severed as of the
Separation Date and that you will not reapply or otherwise seek employment with the Company at any time in the future. You
further agree that if you do seek reemployment or any other business arrangement with the Company, a rejection by the
Company of your application or inquiry will not constitute a violation of this Agreement and Release or a violation of law in any
manner whatsoever.



11. Non-Disparagement. Except with respect to the Protected Rights, you agree not to make, or knowingly cause to be
made, and the Company shall use reasonable endeavors to ensure that its employees, Board of Directors and officers shall not
make or knowingly cause to be made, any statement or communication, written or oral, with the intention of disparaging or
otherwise impugning each other and you agree not to make, or knowingly cause to be made any statement or communication,
written or oral, with the intention of disparaging or otherwise impugning the business or management of the Company or any of
its affiliates, or any of their respective officers, directors, agents, representatives or employees. Except with respect to the
Protected Rights, you further agree not to make, or knowingly cause to be made, any statement or communication, written or
oral, with the intention of damaging the business or reputation of the Company or any of its affiliates, or the personal or business
reputations of any of their respective officers, directors, agents, representatives or employees, or of interfering with, impairing or
disrupting the normal operations of the Company or any of its affiliates.

12. Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation of Customers and Employees. Because of your access to Confidential Information
and to protect the legitimate business interest of the Company, and in exchange for the valuable consideration provided in this
Agreement, you agree that while you are employed and for the period beginning on the Separation Date and ending on
December 31, 2024, you will not:

(a) Within any state or territory in which you rendered services to the Company directly or indirectly own, manage, operate,
control, be employed by, consult with, provide any services to, participate in or be connected in any manner with any entity that
engages in or is about to be engaged in business activities in competition with the Company’s Business. For purposes of this
Agreement the Company’s “Business” means electronic cross-border payment platforms and online payments, and refillable
debit card services, and such other business activities engaged in by the Company or any of its affiliates from time to time during
your employment and/or constituting the then current or planned strategic initiative of the Company or any of its affiliates. Without
limiting the foregoing, you shall not engage in any activity that inevitably will require the disclosure of the Company’s or any of its
affiliates' trade secrets, proprietary information, or Confidential Information. Nothing herein shall prohibit you from purchasing or
owning less than five percent (5%) of the publicly traded securities of any corporation whose business is not in competition with
the Business, provided that such ownership represents a passive investment and that you are not a controlling person of, or a
member of a group that controls, such corporation.

(b) Directly or indirectly (including through any person, corporation, partnership or other business entity of any kind) solicit or
service, or seek to solicit or service, the business of any Company customer or potential customer with whom you had contact or
knowledge due to your employment with the Company during the last year of your employment. Nor will you attempt to persuade
any such customer or potential customer to (i) cease doing business with or lessen its business with the Company or (ii) provide
his, her, or its business to any business entity that is associated with you and that is in competition with the Company in its
performance of the Business, nor will you assist others to do so. The restrictions of this paragraph (ii) apply only to products and
services that are competitive with the products and services of the Company in the course of the Business.

(c) Directly or indirectly in any capacity (including through any person, corporation, partnership or other business entity of any
kind), hire, recruit or solicit for hire, or seek to hire, recruit or solicit for hire, any person who is, at the time of the termination of
your employment with the Company, an employee



of the Company or any of its affiliates, nor will you assist others to do so. Notwithstanding the above, this Section 12(c) shall not
apply to employees whose employment with the Company is involuntarily terminated by the Company.

(d) Cooperation. Following your Separation Date, you agree to cooperate fully with the Company and its affiliates concerning
reasonable requests for information about the business of the Company or its affiliates or your involvement and participation
therein or the defense or prosecution of any claims or actions of which you might have knowledge by reason of your employment
with the Company. Your full cooperation shall include, but not be limited to, being available to meet and speak with officers or
employees of the Company and/or its counsel at reasonable times and locations, executing accurate and truthful documents and
taking such other actions as may reasonably be requested by of the Company and/or its counsel to effectuate the foregoing. The
Company shall reimburse you for all reasonable expenses you incur as a result of any cooperation you are asked to provide the
Company under this Section 12(d).

13. Acknowledgments.

(a) The Company advises you to consult with an attorney of your choosing concerning the legal significance of this
Agreement prior to signing it. You understand and agree that you have the right and have been given the opportunity to review
this Agreement and, specifically, the Release in Paragraph 8 above,  with an attorney. You also understand and agree that the
Company is under no obligation to offer you the arrangements, payments and benefits referenced herein, and that you are under
no obligation to consent to the Release. You acknowledge and agree that the arrangements, payments and benefits referenced
herein are sufficient consideration to require you to abide with your obligations under this Agreement. You represent that you
have read this Agreement, including the Release, and understand its terms and that you enter into this Agreement freely,
voluntarily, and without coercion or undue influence from anyone.

(b) You acknowledge and represent that you have been given at least twenty-one (21) days during which to review and
consider the provisions of this Agreement, although you may sign and return it sooner if you so desire. You further acknowledge
and represent that you have been advised by the Company that you have the right to revoke this Agreement for a period of seven
(7) days after signing it (the “Revocation Period”). You acknowledge and agree that, if you wish to revoke this Agreement, you
must do so in a writing, signed by you and received by the Company no later than the seventh day of the Revocation Period. If
no such revocation occurs, the Release and this Agreement shall become effective on the eighth day following your execution of
this Agreement. You further acknowledge and agree that, in the event that you revoke this Agreement, it shall have no force or
effect, your right to receive any of the Separation Benefits referenced herein will be null and void and your right to receive such
payments and benefits pursuant to this Agreement will be forfeited for no consideration (but not any amounts that you would
otherwise be entitled to regardless of whether this Agreement is in effect).

(c) Notices. For the purposes of this Agreement, notices, demands and all other communications provided for in this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when actually received, addressed as follows:



If to the Company: If to you:
Elana Brickner Assaf Ronen
Chief People Officer [***]
Payoneer Inc.
150 West 30th Street, Suite 600
New York, NY 10001

Or to such other address as a party hereto shall designate to the other party by like notice, provided that notice of a change of
address shall be effective only upon receipt thereof.

(d) Section 409A. The parties hereto intend that the amounts payable under this Agreement will be exempt from, or otherwise
comply with the requirements of, Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). In addition, you
hereby agree and acknowledge that (a) the Company is not making any representations or promises as to the tax consequences
of any amounts payable under this Agreement, including with respect to compliance with the requirements under Section 409A of
the Code, (b) you are solely responsible and liable for the satisfaction of all taxes and penalties that may be imposed on or for
your account in connection with the payments contemplated under this Agreement (including the Separation Benefits), including,
without limitation, any taxes or penalties under Section 409A of the Code, and (c) the Company will not have any obligation to
indemnify or otherwise hold you (or any beneficiary) harmless from any or all of such taxes or penalties. Your right to receive any
installment payments payable hereunder will be treated as a right to receive a series of separate payments and, accordingly,
each such installment payment will at all times be considered a separate and distinct payment for purposes of Section 409A of
the Code.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that the Company determines that any
amounts payable hereunder will be taxable currently to you under Section 409A(a)(1)(A) of the Code and related Department of
Treasury guidance, the Company and you shall cooperate in good faith to adopt such amendments to this Agreement, that they
mutually determine to be necessary or appropriate to preserve the intended tax treatment of the benefits provided by this
Agreement, to preserve the economic benefits of this Agreement, and to avoid less favorable accounting or tax consequences for
the Company.

(e) Withholding. For the avoidance of doubt, any payments made or benefits provided to you under this Agreement will be
subject to and reduced by any and all applicable withholding taxes or other amounts required to be withheld by law or by
contract.

(f) Validity and Enforcement. It is the intent of the parties that the provisions of this Agreement shall be enforced to the fullest
extent permissible under the laws and public policies applied in each jurisdiction in which enforcement is sought. In the event that
any one or more provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected. Moreover, if any one or more provisions contained in
this Agreement shall be held to be excessively broad as to duration, scope, activity or subject, such provisions shall be construed
by limiting or reducing them so as to be enforceable to the maximum extent compatible with applicable law. No waiver by either
party of any breach by the other of this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any other provision or condition at the time or at
any prior or subsequent time. This



Agreement and the provisions contained in it shall not be construed or interpreted for or against either party because that party
drafted or caused to be draft any of its provisions.

(g) Entire Agreement. The terms described in this Agreement set forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties
and supersede all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings, written or oral, between the parties, including, without
limitation, your offer letter with the Company dated August 31, 2022, as amended. You acknowledge and agree that you are not
relying on any representations or promises by any representative of the Company concerning the meaning or any aspect of this
Agreement. This Agreement may not be altered or modified other than in writing signed by you and an authorized representative
of the Company.

(h) Arbitration. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF THE TERMS OF THIS
AGREEMENT, THEIR INTERPRETATION, AND ANY OF THE MATTERS HEREIN RELEASED, SHALL BE SUBJECT  TO
BINDING ARBITRATION, WHICH SHALL BE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE MEANS FOR RESOLVING
SUCH DISPUTES. Such arbitration shall be held in New York City, Borough of Manhattan, State of New York, shall be
conducted before a single neutral arbitrator selected by mutual agreement of the parties, and shall be administered by JAMS
pursuant to its Employment Rules & Procedures (“JAMS Rules”) and the laws of the State of New York. In the event of any
conflict between the JAMS Rules and the procedures set forth in this Paragraph, the procedures in this Paragraph shall control.
The arbitrator may grant any legal or equitable remedy or relief that the arbitrator deems just and equitable, including an award of
attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party, to the same extent that remedies or relief could be granted by a state or federal court in
the United States; provided, however, that the parties agree that punitive damages shall be unavailable in any arbitration under
this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final, binding and conclusive on all parties and interested persons.
Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any federal or state court sitting in the Borough of
Manhattan, New York City, New York.  The parties hereto shall keep confidential the fact of the arbitration, the dispute being
arbitrated and the decision of the arbitrator. Each party shall be responsible for its own costs and expenses, including attorneys’
fees, and each party shall pay an equal share of the arbitrator’s fees. THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO WAIVE THEIR
RIGHT TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THEM RESOLVED IN A
COURT OF LAW BY A JUDGE OR JURY.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Paragraph 13(h) shall not prevent either party
from seeking injunctive relief (or any other provisional remedy) in connection with any breach or threatened breach of
Paragraphs 6, 8, 9, 11, or 12, and such action will lie exclusively in the federal and/or state courts sitting in the Borough of
Manhattan, New York City, New York.

(i) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without regard
to conflicts of law principles.

(j) Non-Admission. The Company’s offer to you of this Agreement is not, and shall not in any way be deemed or construed at
any time as, any admission of liability or of any improper conduct on the part of the Company or any of the Releasees against you
or any other person, all of which the Company specifically denies.

(k) Assignment. Neither you nor the Company may make any assignment of this Agreement or any interest herein, without
the prior written consent of the other; provided, however, that the Company may



assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement without your consent to an affiliate of the Company, or in the event that the
Company shall hereafter affect a reorganization, consolidate with, or merge into, any other entity or person or transfer all or
substantially all of its properties, stock, or assets to any other entity or person. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be
binding upon you and the Company, their respective successors, executors, administrators, heirs and permitted assigns.

(l) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

If the above sets forth our agreement as you understand it and consent to it, please so signify by executing the enclosed copy of
this letter and return it to me at the address listed above. This Agreement shall become effective and irrevocable following
expiration of the Revocation Period defined above.

Very truly yours,

Payoneer Inc.

/s/ John Caplan

By: John Caplan

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Agreed to and Accepted: Assaf Ronen

/s/ Assaf Ronen

Dated: Nov 29, 2023
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Exhibit 10.24
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

Duly executed at the Company's offices, on December 5, 2013

WHEREAS the Employee is employed by the company as of June 16, 2009 in the position of Chief Operating Officer,
according to the terms and conditions set forth herein below which reflect the terms of employment to
the day of this agreement and from now on; and the Employee wishes to continue working for the
Company in the capacity and according to the terms set in this agreement;

WHEREAS the Employee represents that he has the required skills, qualifications, experience and knowledge to
perform the duties and obligations underlying said position; and

WHEREAS the parties desire to state the terms and conditions of the Employee's engagement by the Company as
set forth in this agreement and its appendices, which reflect the terms of employment to the day of this
agreement and from now on, (collectively, the "Agreement");

Now therefore in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements, the parties hereto agree, declare and
stipulate as follows:

1. Interpretations

The preamble and any appendices attached hereto shall constitute an integral part hereof.

2. Engagement

2.1 The Employee is employed by the company as of June 16, 2009 in the position of Chief Operating Officer
(the "Position") and in such capacity to use his best endeavors to further the prosperity, reputation and
business interests of the Company and its affiliates and serve the Company faithfully, to the best of his
ability.

2.2 The Primary role of the position is : Chief Operating Officer.

BY AND BETWEEN

Payoneer Research and Development Ltd.

Of 3, Shimson St., Petach Tikva ZIP Code 49002 (the "Company")

AND

Keren Levy

Israeli I.D. No. ***

Address:
(the "Employee")

 

of the first part;

of the second part;
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2.3 The Employee shall be employed on a full time basis as it was prior to signing this Agreement and as customary
in the Company for employees of such position and status ("Scope of Employment").

2.4 The Employee shall have such responsibilities and authority as may from time to time be assigned to him by the
Company. The Employee will at all times comply with the Company's policy and directions and/or the person/s
which shall be nominated by the Company for such purposes (the "Superior").

2.5 The direct Superior of the Employee is Chief Executive Officer of the company's parent company, Payoneer Inc -
Scott Galit.

2.6 The Employee undertakes to devote his time, attention, skill, and efforts as required to the performance of his
duties in the Company according to this Agreement. The Employee undertakes not to engage, directly or
indirectly, whether as an employee, consultant or otherwise, in any work, engagement or other
commercial/professional activity, whether or not for compensation, during the term of this Agreement (including
after work hours or during vacation times), without the prior written consent of the Company.

2.7 The Company and the Employee are required to report Employee's actual hours of work on a daily basis, by
recording the work hours manually each day and the Employee shall cooperate with the Company in maintaining
a record of the number of hours of work performed, in accordance with the Company's policies and instructions.

2.8 The Employee acknowledges and confirms that the Monthly Salary (as defined in Appendix A attached to this
Agreement) includes special consideration for the requirement to work overtime hours, as it was prior to signing
this agreement, and as was anticipated by the parties and as provided in Appendix A.

2.9 The Employee represents and warrants that: (i) the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the fulfillment of
the terms hereof will not constitute a default under or breach of any agreement or other instrument to which he is
a party or by which he is bound, including without limitation, any previous confidentiality or non competition
agreement, and do not require the consent of any person or entity; and (ii) he shall not utilize, during his Term of
Employment (as defined below) hereunder, any proprietary or confidential information of any of his previous
employers.

2.10 The Employee declares and undertakes that he shall not receive any payment and/or other benefit from any third
party, directly or indirectly, in connection with his employment hereunder and/or during the Term of Employment
(as defined below).

2.11 This Agreement is a personal and particular agreement setting forth exclusively the employer-employee relations
between the Company and the Employee and the provisions of any collective bargaining agreement which apply
and/or which may apply, now or in the future to employees in the profession and/or occupation identical or similar
to that of the Employee do not apply and shall not apply to the employment of the Employee hereunder.

3. Term, Termination and Effect of Termination

3.1 The Employee is employed by the Company in the Position for an unlimited period of employment which may be
terminated by the Company or by the Employee upon the earlier of following events (hereinafter called the "Term
of
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Employment"): (a) for whatever reason or for no reason according to Prior Notice for Dismisal and
Resignation Law, 5761-2001 ; (b) immediately, without any prior notice if the Agreement is terminated for
Cause (as defined below).

For the purpose of this Agreement, "Cause" shall exist in case of (a) the Employee's conviction of, or plea
of "guilty" or a felony or any crime involving moral turpitude, (b) the Employee's willful misconduct with
regard to the business, assets or employees of the Company, (c) the Employee being charged of theft,
embezzlement, dishonesty or fraud with regard to the Company, (d) any other material breach by the
Employee of this Agreement which, if curable, remains uncured for seven (7) days after written notice
thereof is given to the Employee, and/or (e) any material breach of his duties under Appendix B hereof,
which are not curable to the Company.

3.2 During the Notice Period given by either party as set forth above, as applicable:
(i) the Employee shall be employed by the Company and continue performing his duties and obligations
hereunder, unless otherwise requested by the Company, in its sole discretion; and (ii) the Company shall
continue to pay the Employee's salary and other benefits during such Notice Period (except in
circumstances of immediate termination or termination of employment for Cause or in case the Company
decides to wave the Notice Period).

3.3 The Employee shall have no right for a lien on any of the Company's assets, equipment or any other
material and including information or Proprietary Information as defined in Appendix B attached to this
Agreement (hereinafter the "Company's Equipment") in its possession. The Employee shall return to the
Company all of the Company's Equipment in his possession no later than the day of termination of the
Notice Period.

3.4 Upon termination of this Agreement, for any reason, the Employee shall take all steps satisfactory to the
Company, in order to ensure the orderly transition of all matters handled by him during the course of his
employment, to any person designated by Company, unless otherwise instructed by Company.

4. Company's Inspection

4.1 The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Company is entitled to conduct inspections within the
Company's offices and on the Company's Equipment, including computers, inspections of electronic mail
transmissions, internet usage and inspections of their content. For the avoidance of any doubt, it is hereby
clarified that all examination's findings shall be the Company's sole property.

4.2 The Employee acknowledges and agrees that any messages and data sent from, received by, or stored in
or upon the Company's computers and communications systems are the sole property of the Company,
regardless of the form and/or content of these messages and data.

4.3 The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Company and its affiliates, and its/their employees, to
utilize and process the Employee's personal information, including data collected by the Company for
purposes related to the Employee's employment. This may include transfer of the Employee's personnel
records outside of Israel and further transfers thereafter. All personnel records are considered confidential
and access will be limited and restricted to individuals with need to know or process that information for
purposes relating to the Employee's Employment only, such as management teams and human resource
personnel.
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5. Consideration
In consideration for the services provided by the Employee to the Company, the Employee shall be entitled to
compensation and other benefits as detailed in Appendix A attached hereto, constituting an integral part hereof.

6. Confidentiality, Unfair Competition and Intellectual Property Assignment
Simultaneously with the signing of this Agreement the Employee shall sign the Non Disclosure, Unfair Competition and
Ownership of Inventions undertaking in favor of the Company and its affiliates, attached hereto as Appendix B,
constituting an integral part hereof.

7. Governing Law
This Agreement shall be governed by and construed according to the laws of the State of Israel, without regard to the
conflict of laws provisions thereof. Any dispute arising under or in relation to this Agreement shall be resolved
exclusively in the competent court in Tel Aviv-Jaffa  and each of the parties hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such court.

8. Notices
Any notice required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall be deemed effectively given
upon personal delivery to the party to be notified, or upon e-mail or transmission and electronic confirmation of receipt
or (if transmitted and received on a non-business day) on the first business day following transmission and electronic
confirmation of receipt, if sent via fax, or 3 business days after dispatch by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid
and addressed to the party to be notified at the addresses set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

9. Waiver of Breach
The failure or waiver of any party to execute, in any respect, any right provided for by this Agreement shall not be
deemed a waiver of any further or future right hereunder.

10. Assignment
The Employee acknowledges that the services rendered by him hereunder are unique and personal. Accordingly, the
Employee may not assign any of his rights or delegate any of his duties or obligations under this Agreement. The rights
and obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall be passed on to, and shall be binding upon, the
successors or assigns of the Company. The term "successors and assigns" as used herein shall mean a corporation or
other entity acquiring all or substantially all of the assets and business of the Company whether by operation of law or
otherwise.

11. Severability
The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision shall
not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof.

12. Illegality
If any term of this Agreement is held to be illegal or contrary to public policy or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such
invalidity or unenforceability shall attach only to such provision and shall not in any way affect or render invalid or
unenforceable any other provision of this Agreement.

13. Entire Agreement
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13.1 This Agreement and all its Appendices attached hereto constitute the entire agreement between the
parties hereto and supersedes all prior agreements, proposals, understandings and arrangements, if any,
whether oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. Any
amendment to this Agreement must be agreed to in writing by both parties.

13.2 This Agreement and all its Appendices attached hereto comprise the entire details and information that an
employer is require to provide the employee according to the Employee Notification Law (Employment
Terms) 5762-2002, and the parties agree that this Agreement and all Appendices hereto shall be regarded
as an announcement to the Employee according to applicable law.

13.3 This Agreement replaces and supersedes all prior agreements including, but not limited to, any previously
signed agreements.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Agreement as of the Commencement
Date.

Finance Controller

/s/ Eli Zoaretz
The Company

Payoneer Research &
Development Ltd.

 Company number 513742130

 Chief Operating Officer

/s/ Keren Levy
Employee
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APPENDIX A
1. General

This Appendix constitutes an integral part of the Employment Agreement dated December 5, 2013 by and among the
Company and Employee (hereinafter: the "Agreement"), and wherever reference is made to this Agreement, the
meaning is the Agreement and its Appendices.

2. In consideration for his employment and subject to the performance of the services required to be performed hereunder
by the Employee, the Company shall pay to the Employee a Monthly Salary (as defined below) and additional benefits
as detailed herein as was up to this date.

3. The Monthly Salary (as defined below), shall be defined and paid in NIS.

4. The Company shall pay the employee a monthly gross compensation composed of (a) A basic wage of 33,700 (thirty
three thousand seven hundred) New Israeli Shekels (b) Additional overtime global amount of 8,420 (eight thousand
four hundred and twenty) New Israeli Shekels according to the number of hours that the parties viewed (hereinafter:
the "Monthly Salary"). The Monthly Salary shall be payable in accordance with the payroll practices of the Company
as the same shall exist from time to time.

5. The employee's role is a role that requires a special degree of trust and that cannot be controlled as defined in the
Hours of Work and Rest Law, 1951 and therefore this Law shall not apply to the employee.

6. The Employee will report the Company the actual hours of work, as detailed in Section 2.7 of the Agreement.

7. From the Monthly Salary, the following shall be deducted - income tax, social security, health payments and any other
tax and/or loan and/or another payment which may be due from time to time on a payment paid by the Company to the
Employee, and which should be deducted from the payment due to the Employee according to the law and/or the
relevant regulations.

8. An amount equal to 10% of the Monthly Salary shall be considered as a special compensation for the obligations not to
compete with the Company, as set forth in Appendix B below.

Additional Benefits
9. Pension Insurance, Study Fund, Severance pay and benefits

a. Pension Insurance
(1) The Company will pay as a premium for a Pension Insurance Policy (the "Pension Insurance") for the

Employee in one of the following optional routes:

i. Manager's Insurance - The Company will pay as a premium for a manager's insurance policy for the
Employee an amount equal to a total of 13 and 1/3% of the Monthly Salary as follows: (i) 8 and 1/3% of
the Monthly Salary as severance pay; (ii) 5% of the Monthly Salary for pension benefits; and (iii) up to 2.5
% of the Monthly Salary for a long term disability insurance and life insurance.



7

8

Or Pension Fund - The Company will pay as a premium for a Pension_Fund for the Employee an
amount equal to a total of 14 and 1/3% of the Monthly Salary as follows: (i) 8 and 1/3% of the Monthly
Salary as severance pay; (ii) 6% of the Monthly Salary for pension benefits;

(2)In addition, the Employee hereby instructs the Company to deduct 5% of the Employee's Monthly
Salary each month and apply such deduction towards the Employee's contributions to the above
manager insurance Policy or Pension Fund.

(3 It is hereby agreed by the parties that as of the signing of this agreement and in accordance with the
General Permit promulgated by the Labor Minister on June 30, 1999 (the "Permit") pursuant to Article
14 of the Severance Payments Law, 5723-1963 (the "Severance Payment Law"), a copy of which is
attached hereto as Appendix C, the Employee hereby acknowledges that the amounts contributed by
the Company for severance compensation under the Employee's Pension Insurance, shall be deemed
to be made instead of the severance payments to which the Employee may be entitled in respect of the
Monthly Salary, under the provisions of the Severance Payment Law, and shall constitute a full and
complete payment thereof

(4) In case of termination of employment in circumstances entitling the employee severance payments
the employment period will be divided into two periods: (1) The employee shall be entitled to the total
of the severance payments to which s/he would have been entitled until the day of signing this
agreement and (2) after signing this agreement Article 14 will apply.

Upon termination of Employee's employment in the Company, including, inter alia, in the event of
Employee's resignation, except in the event of termination for Cause, the Company shall release the
said policies and transfer them on the name of the Employee.

Study Fund

The Company shall contribute an additional 7.5% of the Monthly Salary (but in any event, up to and
subject to the maximum amount allowable under the Income Tax Ordinance 1961 ("Income Tax
Ordinance") and any applicable regulations without causing any tax liability) towards a study fund ("Keren
Hishtalmut") (the "Study Fund"). The Employee shall contribute an additional 2.5% of the Monthly Salary
(but in any event, not more than the maximum amount allowable under the tax regulations without causing
any tax liability) towards such a fund (the sums contributed by the Employee shall be deducted directly
from his Monthly Salary by the Company). Without derogating from the above, in the event that the
Employee shall accrue an aggregate total amount in the Study Fund exceeding the maximum total amount
prescribed by the Income Tax Ordinance, such extra amount shall be deemed as revenue income and the
Employee shall pay any applicable tax in respect thereto.

The aforementioned Study Fund was commenced as of June 16, 2009.

10. Vacation and Sick Leave.

a. The Employee is entitled to receive paid sick leave according to applicable law.

b. Subject to the provisions of the Annual Vacation Law-1951 (the "Vacation Law"), the Employee shall be
entitled to 24 vacation days (the "Vacation Days"), with respect to each twelve (12) months' period of
continuous employment with
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the Company. Official state holidays in Israel shall not be considered as a vacation days.

c. The dates of the Employee's vacation shall be determined by the Company, in its discretion, taking into
account the Company's needs, and to the extent possible, taking into consideration the Employee's
request. For removal of all doubt, the aforementioned in this subsection c shall apply also to the Notice
Period.

d. The Employee shall be entitled to carry forward only unused Vacation Days with respect to 2 years of
continuous employment with the Company, and shall not be entitled to carry forward or to redeem any
unused vacation days in excess thereof.

11. Recreation Payments
The Employee shall be entitled to Recreation Payments (Dmey Havra'a) according to applicable law and
provisions of expansion orders.

12. Vehicle.

The company will assign you with a car, subject to the terms and conditions mentioned in the car appendix.

13. Cellular Phone
Employee shall be entitled to a Company cell phone. The Employee shall not be entitled to any gross up of
the taxes associated with the cell phone benefits. The Employee shall not have any lien right in the cell phone
or in any document relating thereto.

14. Laptop Computer
Employee shall be entitled to a Company laptop computer ("Laptop"). The Company shall bear all expenses
relating to the Employee's use and maintenance of the Laptop attributed to the Employee under this section.
The Employee shall not have any lien right in the Laptop or in any document relating thereto.

15. Taxes
The Company shall be entitled to withhold and/or charge the Employee with all taxes and other compulsory
payments, as required under law, in respect of, or resulting from, any compensation paid to or received by the
Employee and in respect of all the benefits that the Employee is or may be entitled to.

Finance Controller

/s/ Eli Zoaretz
The Company

Payoneer Research &
Development Ltd.

 Company number 513742130

 Chief Operating Officer

/s/ Keren Levy
Employee
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APPENDIX B

[Omitted]



10

APPENDIX C

[Omitted]
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Payoneer Code of Conduct and Ethics

1. Introduction

We Are Accountable

At Payoneer, we believe acting ethically and responsibly is not only the right thing to do, but also the right way to do
business. Every day as part of our work, we interact with a variety of individuals and entities—including our customers,
competitors, co-workers, shareholders, vendors and government and regulatory agencies. We are committed to ensuring
that our interactions with this wide audience are carried out in a respectful, business-ethical manner and in compliance
with all applicable laws and regulatory requirements.

This Code of Conduct and Ethics (“Code”) applies to all officers, employees, contractors, consultants and temporary staff
of Payoneer Global Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates (”Payoneer” or the “Company”), as well as members of the
Payoneer board of directors when they act in their capacity as directors, known collectively in the Code as “employees,”
and covers a wide range of business practices and standards. While it does not cover every issue that may arise, it sets
out basic guidelines for how we conduct our business. All of our Payoneer directors and staff must conduct themselves
accordingly and seek to avoid even the appearance of improper behavior. The Code should also be provided to and
followed by Payoneer’s agents, contractors and representatives.

If a law conflicts with a policy in this Code, you must comply with the law; however, if a local custom conflicts with this
Code, you must comply with the Code. If you have any questions about these conflicts, you should ask your manager how
to handle the situation. In addition, we maintain more detailed policies and procedures for many of the topics covered by
this Code, which are available at on Payoneer Connect. Employees are responsible for knowing and abiding by these
more detailed policies and procedures. When faced with questions beyond those addressed in the Code, employees are
expected to follow both the spirit and letter of the Code and company policies that govern the issue.

Abiding by the standards and procedures outlined in the Code and Payoneer’s related policies is a condition of continued
employment with the company. Our Code is not a contract of employment, and it does not convey any specific
employment rights or guarantee employment for any specific period of time.

Those who violate the standards in this Code will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of
employment. If you are in a situation which you believe may violate or lead to a violation of this Code, follow the guidelines
described in Section 22 of this Code. Even well-intentioned actions that violate the law or this Code may result in negative
consequences for the Company and for the individuals involved.

Throughout this Code, employees are encouraged to consult with any attorney in the Legal Department. Note that all
communications with attorneys in the Legal Department or with outside counsel retained by the company that are made
for the purpose of providing or receiving legal advice are considered privileged communications. In addition, employees
should be aware that the
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Company’s attorneys are obligated to act in the best interests of Payoneer and do not act as personal representatives or
lawyers for employees.

If you have any questions about the Code or any suspected improper conduct, you have a responsibility as an employee
acting in the best interest of the Company to promptly raise the issue with your manager, the Chief Legal and Regulatory
Officer, or any other attorney in the Legal Department, the Chief Compliance Officer, the Vice President of Internal Audit
or the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

If you are a Payoneer manager, you have the increased responsibility of leading by example. We expect managers to
serve as positive role models and inspire others to embrace our Code by:

● Modeling appropriate and actively practicing ethical behavior;
● Openly discussing and emphasizing the importance of business ethics and integrity;
● Maintaining and fostering a workplace environment that encourages candid discussions about ethical issues;
● Never justifying lapses in integrity because they help “the bottom line”;
● Ensuring that retaliation for speaking up will not be tolerated; and
● Seeking help in resolving and escalating issues when they arise.

We Are Responsible to Speak Up

At Payoneer, we believe that all employees should feel empowered and responsible to speak up, particularly with respect
to ethical concerns. You must promptly report suspected and actual violations of this Code, company policy and the law.
In addition, Payoneer supervisors must deal with reports of misconduct promptly and properly. Payoneer will investigate
all reported instances of questionable or unethical behavior. Investigations will be treated confidentially to the extent
reasonable and possible under the circumstances. All Payoneer staff are expected to report any illegal or unethical
behavior and cooperate in internal investigations.

In considering whether you believe a violation of the Code has occurred or is about to occur, you should first ask
yourself:

● Could this conduct be viewed as dishonest, unethical or unlawful?
● Could this conduct hurt Payoneer? Could it cause Payoneer to lose credibility with its customers, business

providers or investors?
● Could this conduct hurt other people, such as other employees, investors or customers?

If the answer to any of these questions is “yes” or even “maybe,” you have identified a potential issue that you must report.
By stepping forward and raising concerns, we are protecting Payoneer and each other, and doing the right thing.

We Do Not Retaliate

Retaliation is strictly prohibited against anyone who raises questions, speaks up, provides information or otherwise
assists in an investigation or proceeding regarding any conduct that the individual believes in good faith constitutes a
violation of applicable laws or regulations, this Code,
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or Payoneer’s related policies. In contrast, any employee who submits a report that he or she knows to be false, or who
fails to cooperate fully in an investigation of a suspected violation, has violated this Code and shall be subject to
disciplinary action.

Payoneer does not tolerate retaliation against anyone who reports, in good faith, any observed or suspected illegal or
unethical behavior, including but not limited to: actual or potential ethical violations, incidents of misconduct, or any
violation or potential violation of Payoneer’s Code of Conduct and Ethics, suspicions of money laundering or terrorist
financing, or accounting standards or controls.

Reports of retaliation or attempted retaliation should be made to the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the Chief Legal and
Regulatory Officer, the Chief Compliance Officer or the Vice President of Internal Audit.

Additionally, Payoneer has established Whistleblower Procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints by
employees and others. Any Payoneer officer, director or employee who receives a report of the type described in the
Whistleblower Procedures is required immediately to inform the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the Chief Legal and
Regulatory Officer, the Chief Compliance Officer or the Vice President of Internal Audit. The Whistleblower Procedures are
attached as Exhibit A to this Code.

2. Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations

Obeying the law, both in letter and in spirit, is a fundamental obligation we must respect in all of our activities. No
employee shall commit an illegal or unethical act, or instruct others to do so, for any reason. All employees must obey the
laws of the cities, states and countries in which we operate. Although not all employees are expected to know the details
of all these laws, it is important that you have a working knowledge of the relevant laws and regulations that apply to your
responsibilities and know when to seek advice from managers or other appropriate personnel.

3. Anti-Bribery

Payoneer values integrity and transparency and has zero tolerance for corrupt activities of any kind, whether committed
by employees or by third parties acting for and on behalf of Payoneer. It is strictly prohibited to make illegal payments or
offers to private parties or government officials of any country, or to make payments to third parties where there is a
likelihood that the third party will use any of the funds to make a prohibited payment. Payoneer cannot do or attempt to do,
through a third party intermediary, any act that Payoneer itself is not permitted to do. Payoneer and its employees can be
held liable for the actions of subcontractors, partners, agents, consultants and others acting on behalf of Payoneer.

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and similar laws in other countries that apply to Payoneer prohibit
promising, authorizing or giving anything of value, directly or indirectly, to a non-U.S. government official to influence the
misuse of the official’s position or secure an improper advantage in an effort to win or retain business. A non-U.S.
government official is defined broadly and can be any official or employee of any non-U.S. government department,
agency or state-owned company; officers or employees of public international organizations (such as the United
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Nations); any non-U.S. party officials or political candidates. Making a facilitation payment to a non-U.S. government
official to perform a non-discretionary function that is part of his or her assigned duties is prohibited under the laws of the
countries in which we operate and so such payments are not permitted. Bribery involving private parties can also be
prosecuted under other U.S. federal and state laws. Also, other international anti-corruption laws, such as the UK Bribery
Act and the Irish Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act 2018, make it a crime to offer or pay bribes or kickbacks to
private parties as well as government officials.

In addition, the U.S. government has a number of laws and regulations regarding business gratuities which may be
accepted by U.S. government personnel. The promise, offer or delivery of a gift, favor or other gratuity to an official or
employee of the U.S. government in violation of these rules would not only violate Payoneer policy but could also be a
criminal offense. State and local governments, as well as non-U.S. governments, may have similar rules. Legal and
Compliance can provide guidance to you in this area.

To help ensure compliance with anti-corruption laws, all business transactions must be properly authorized, and must be
completely and accurately recorded on Payoneer’s books, records and accounts. You are expressly forbidden from
making false or misleading entries in Payoneer’s books, including entries that fail to reflect improper transactions (e.g.,
kickbacks and bribes) and/or entries that are falsified to disguise improper transactions. Additionally, no secret or
unrecorded fund or asset of Payoneer shall be created or maintained.

If you have any questions or concerns, please always consult with the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, or any
attorney in the Legal Department, the Chief Compliance Officer or the Vice President of Internal Audit. For more
information, employees should review the Company’s Anti- Corruption Policy.

4. Anti-Fraud

Payoneer is committed to detecting, preventing and addressing potential or actual fraud. Any activity you reasonably
believe or suspect constitutes fraudulent activity, including fraudulent financial reporting, misappropriation of assets,
bribery, forgery, extortion, theft, conspiracy, collusion, embezzlement or corruption involving an employee, or clients
should be immediately reported as described in Sections 22 and 24 of this Code. An individual may also contact the Chief
Financial Officer to report the potential fraud event. Payoneer’s Audit Committee will oversee treatment of concerns
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters.

5. Anti-Money Laundering, Anti-Terrorist Financing and Sanctions

Payoneer is committed to conducting business only with reputable clients and third parties engaged in legitimate
business activities with funds derived from legitimate sources. Payoneer has obligations under a variety of anti-money
laundering laws in many countries, including, in the United States, the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act.
Payoneer takes seriously its obligations to join with governments, international organizations, and other members of the
financial services industry to help close off the channels of money laundering. We have implemented applicable policies
with the aim of reasonably preventing the use of Payoneer systems, products and services for money laundering or
terrorist financing activities.
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Money laundering is knowingly engaging in a financial transaction with the proceeds of criminal activity in order to “clean”
the money and make it appear as if it came from a legitimate source. Terrorist financing is knowingly providing material
support, such as monetary instruments, financial securities or financial services, to individuals associated with a
designated terrorist organization, regardless of the legitimacy of the funds. Economic sanctions are financial restrictions
imposed by governments or international bodies to try to isolate or impede a specific individual or jurisdiction for some
specified purpose.

Money laundering and terrorist financing have global consequences that cannot be countered effectively without the
cooperation of governments, international organizations, law enforcement agencies, and financial institutions. Payoneer is
required to conduct due diligence on its customers and business partners for money laundering or terrorist risks in order
to allow them to continue participating in the system.

Every Payoneer employee must be alert to possible money laundering or terrorist financing situations. If you suspect that
Payoneer products or systems are being used for money laundering purposes, it is your responsibility to report your
suspicions to the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, Chief Compliance Officer, Vice President of Internal Audit, or a
Money Laundering Reporting Officer. For more information, employees should review Payoneer’s Anti-Money Laundering
Policy.

6. Antitrust and Competition Laws

Payoneer is committed to competing lawfully, ethically and fairly in the marketplace based on the merits of our products
and services. In the United States and many other countries, we are subject to antitrust and competition laws and
regulations designed to protect the competitive process and prevent anticompetitive conduct. The antitrust laws prohibit 
agreements among competitors on such matters as prices, terms of sale to customers and allocating markets or 
customers. Antitrust laws can be very complex, and violations may subject the Company and its employees to criminal 
sanctions, including fines, jail time and civil liability. 

Many situations create the potential for unlawful anticompetitive conduct, or the appearance of impropriety, and should
be avoided. These include:

● Agreements with competitors about pricing or pricing policies, allocating clients, products, services, territories or
markets, or to limit the production or sale of products, product lines or services;

● Communication with competitors on competitively sensitive topics such as prices, pricing policies, costs, marketing
and investment strategies, or proprietary or confidential information in any form (including discussions, informal
conversations, emails, and other contacts) or in any setting (including at social gatherings and meetings of trade and
professional associations);

● Attempts by business partners, customersor suppliers or potential business partners, customers or suppliers to
preclude Payoneer from doing business with, or contracting with, another business partner, customer or supplier.

● Attempts by Payoneer to preclude its business partners, customers or suppliers from dealing with a competitor of
Payoneer where such conduct may foreclose the competitor from the
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marketplace.

If any person tries to discuss with you subjects that you think may be anticompetitive, you should immediately stop the
conversation and report the matter to the Chief Legal and Regulatory Office.

7. Confidentiality

All Payoneer directors and staff must maintain the confidentiality of confidential information entrusted to them by
Payoneer or its business partners, customers and other parties in accordance with laws, regulations, contracts, and
applicable policies. Confidential information is all non-public information that might provide Payoneer with a competitive
advantage, or could be harmful or cause legal exposure to the Company, its customers or its suppliers if disclosed
without authorization. Confidential information includes personal account information of cardholders as well as intellectual
property (such as trade secrets, patents, trademarks and copyrights), business, marketing and service plans, databases,
account or financial records, salary and benefits information, customer, employee and suppliers lists, unpublished
financial or pricing information, and any other unpublished data and reports.

You may not disclose any confidential information to anyone outside Payoneer, even to members of your own family.
Even within our company and among your co-workers, you must share confidential information only on a need-to-know
basis. You should always consult with the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer before disclosing any such information,
even if you believe disclosure might be authorized. You are responsible for identifying and labeling confidential
information with the appropriate classifications. Unauthorized use or distribution of proprietary information violates 
Company policy and could be illegal. Such use or distribution could result in negative consequences for both the 
Company and the individuals involved, including potential legal and disciplinary actions. We respect the property rights of 
other companies and their proprietary information and require our employees to observe such rights.

The obligation to preserve confidential information extends to external party information received under nondisclosure
restrictions and continues even after employment ends. You must return all proprietary information in your possession
upon leaving the Company.

The provisions of this Section ​7 are qualified in their entirety by reference to Section ​25.

8. Conflicts of Interest

All employees have a duty of loyalty to Payoneer and have an obligation to act in the best interest of the Company. All 
employees should endeavor to avoid situations that present a potential or actual conflict or the appearance of conflict
between their own interests and their responsibilities to Payoneer or its clients. A “conflict of interest” occurs when a
person’s private interest interferes in any way, or even appears to interfere, with the interest of the Company, including its
subsidiaries and affiliates, or whenever the prospect of direct or indirect personal gain may influence or appear to
influence our judgment or actions while conducting company business. A conflict of interest may arise when an employee 
takes an action or has an interest that may make it difficult for him or her to perform his or her work objectively and 
effectively. Conflicts of interest 
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may also arise when an employee (or his or her family members) receives improper personal benefits as a result of the 
employee’s position in the Company. The appearance of a conflict of interest can be just as damaging to Payoneer’s
brand and reputation as an actual conflict of interest. All employees must follow basic conflict of interest principles by
avoiding circumstances that could impair objectivity in performing Payoneer job duties, cause favoritism to outside
organizations or individuals, interfere with the performance of Payoneer job duties, or damage the reputation of
Payoneer’s business or brand. Examples of when a conflict situation may arise include:

● Doing business with family or friends, either within Payoneer or through vendors, clients or other business
partners (e.g., directing business to a supplier owned or managed by, or which employs, a relative or friend);

● Receiving or giving personal benefits such as gifts or entertainment of more than modest value or personal
discounts (if such discounts are not generally offered to the public) from a potential or existing vendor, business
partner, competitor or customer, as a result of your position in the Company;

● Working for a competitor, vendor, business partner or customer while employed at Payoneer;
● Having a significant financial interest, such as an investment in a competitor, vendor, business partner or customer

of Payoneer; or
● Exercising fiduciary responsibility on the Board of an outside organization (for-profit or nonprofit) that does

business with Payoneer; or
● Having an interest in a transaction involving the Company, a competitor, a customer or supplier (other than as

an employee of the Company and not including routine investments in publicly traded companies);
● Competing with the Company for the purchase or sale of property, products, services or other interests; or
● Receiving loans or guarantees of personal obligations as a result of your position with the Company, or extending

such loans or guarantees on behalf of Payoneer, to other directors or staff or their family members.

When faced with a potential conflict of interest, ask yourself:

● Would this activity create or be perceived by others to create an incentive to benefit myself, my friends or my family, or
an associated business at the expense of Payoneer?

● Would this harm my reputation, negatively impact my ability to do my job, or potentially harm Payoneer?
● Would this embarrass Payoneer or me if it showed up on the front page of a newspaper or in a blog?

If the answer to any of these questions is “yes,” the relationship or situation may create a conflict of interest, and you
should avoid it. Directors shall disclose and resolve potential conflicts of interest in accordance with procedures
established by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, and the Company’s Related Party Transaction Policy.

Conflicts of interest may not always be clear-cut, so if you have a question or know of actions that may involve a conflict
of interest, you should contact the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer.
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In order to avoid conflicts of interests, executive officers and directors must disclose to the Chief Legal and Regulatory
Officer any material transaction or relationship that reasonably could be expected to give rise to such a conflict. Conflicts
of interests involving the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer and directors shall be disclosed to the committee of the
Board of Directors with responsibility for corporate governance.

9. Corporate Opportunities

All employees owe a duty to Payoneer to advance its legitimate interests when the opportunity to do so arises. Employees
are prohibited from taking for themselves personally business opportunities that are discovered through the use of
corporate property, information or position without the consent of the Board of Directors. No employee may use corporate
property, information or position for personal gain, nor compete with Payoneer directly or indirectly. Competing with the
Company may involve engaging in the same line of business as the Company, or any situation where the employee takes
away from the Company opportunities for sales or purchases of products, services or interests.

10.Data Privacy

Non-public, personally-identifiable information is one of Payoneer’s most sensitive assets. Payoneer's failure to maintain
the privacy of such information could cause significant damage to Payoneer’s business and reputation. As a result, non-
public, personally-identifiable information of employees, customers, business partners, contractors, consultants and other
individuals should be collected, stored, transmitted, accessed and used only in accordance with Payoneer’s Data
Governance Policy and in compliance with applicable law and Employees should protect Payoneer’s information at all
times in accordance with Payoneer’s Data Governance Policy. Access to employees’ (including former employees) emails
may be required in certain circumstances, in accordance with Payoneer’s Data Governance Policy.

For more information, employees should review Payoneer’s Privacy Policy and Data Governance Policy.

Government authorities or lawyers for outside parties may seek to contact you directly with respect to audits, reviews,
investigations or other claims against Payoneer. All such inquiries must be referred to the Chief Legal and Regulatory
Officer before any information or response is provided. In addition, you may receive requests from various government
authorities, lawyers or other parties for access to Payoneer transaction data or other information assets. All requests for
Payoneer information assets must be referred to the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer or the Chief Compliance Officer
before any information or response is provided to the requesting authority. This ensures that such inquiries are handled in
accordance with relevant legal and data protection requirements.

11.Equal Opportunity

The diversity of Payoneer’s staff is a tremendous asset. We are proud of and value our differences and understand that
diversity and inclusion are good for business and make our company stronger. We are firmly committed to providing
equal opportunity in all aspects of employment and will not
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tolerate any form of discrimination or harassment in the workplace on the basis of race, color, creed, national origin,
religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, gender expression, disability, marital or veteran status,
condition of pregnancy or any other characteristic protected by applicable law. All employees are required to comply with 
this policy. Should any Payoneer employee feel that they have not been treated fairly or with dignity, they should
immediately contact the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer or Vice President of Internal Audit. All complaints will be
investigated promptly.

We foster an environment where employees are comfortable asking questions and taking an active role in understanding,
discussing and exploring issues. In this way, we can be sure to identify and address issues or concerns even before they
grow into larger problems. Working together to maintain an environment that fosters trust and that empowers us to take
initiative and hold ourselves accountable is an essential part of the Payoneer culture. Our continuing success as
individuals, colleagues, and a company depends on all of us treating each other with respect and upholding the highest
professional and ethical standards.

12.Harassment-Free Workplace

We strive to create a work environment free of discrimination and harassment. We do not tolerate bullying, abuse or any
behavior that interferes with someone’s work or that creates a hostile work environment. No matter what form harassment
takes—whether physical, sexual, verbal or non-verbal, in person, via email, over the phone or on the internet—it is
unacceptable.

We each have a responsibility to recognize harassment so that we can report it promptly when we see it. Harassment is
offensive conduct that interferes with an employee’s ability to work, or creates a hostile or intimidating work environment.
Harassment can involve sexual conduct or references to a personal characteristic. Examples include racial slurs, off-color
jokes, unwelcome sexual advances, or displaying or transmitting suggestive or sexually explicit images. Harassment can
occur between members of the same sex or the opposite sex; between vendors, contractors, or employees; and in the
office or at off-site work-related events.

We speak up if we suspect discrimination, harassment or other inappropriate workplace behavior. We strongly
encourage you to immediately report any incidents to a manager, Human
Resources, Legal or by calling the Ethics Voicemail Box or using the Web Form (as described in Appendix A hereto), and
we will ensure that any complaints are quickly and thoroughly investigated and to take appropriate action. Payoneer
investigates all reports of harassment and keeps these reports as confidential to the extent consistent with Payoneer’s
ability to conduct a full and fair investigation and to comply with its legal obligations and policies.

13.Fair Dealing

We seek to outperform our competition fairly and honestly. We seek competitive advantages through superior
performance, never through unethical or illegal business practices. Stealing proprietary information, gathering competitive
intelligence in a manner that is unlawful or unethical, possessing trade secret information that was obtained without the
owner’s consent, or inducing such disclosures by past or present employees of other companies, is strictly prohibited.
Employees should endeavor to respect the rights of and deal fairly with Payoneer’s business
partners, customers, suppliers, competitors, the public and other employees at all times and in
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accordance with ethical business practices. No employee should take unfair advantage of anyone through manipulation,
concealment, abuse of privileged information, misrepresentation of material facts or any other intentional unfair-dealing
practice.

The purpose of business entertainment and gifts in a commercial setting is to create goodwill and sound working
relationships, not to gain unfair advantage with clients. No business gift or entertainment should ever be offered, given,
provided or accepted by any employee, family member of an employee, or agent unless it:

● Is given to a non-government employee;
● Is given infrequently;
● Is not a cash or cash equivalent gift (other than approved Payoneer cards);
● Is consistent with customary business practices;
● Is objectively of modest value under the circumstances;
● Cannot be construed as a bribe, a payoff or as otherwise intended to inappropriately influence a business decision;

and
● Does not violate any laws, regulations or applicable policies.

Gifts or entertainment in any form that would likely result in a feeling or expectation of personal obligation should not be 
extended or accepted. Practices that are acceptable in a commercial business environment may be against the law or 
the policies governing federal, state or local government employees. Therefore, no gifts or business entertainment of any 
kind may be given to any government employee without the prior approval of a manager/supervisor or the Legal 
Department. Except in certain limited circumstances, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) prohibits giving 
anything of value directly or indirectly to any “foreign official” for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business (please 
see Section ​3 above for further details). Please discuss with your manager, the Legal Department, the Compliance
Department or the Vice President of Internal Audit, any business entertainment or gifts which you are not certain are
appropriate.

14.Quality of Public Disclosures

The Company has a responsibility to provide full and accurate information in our public disclosures, in all material 
respects, about the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. Our reports and documents filed with or 
submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission and our other public communications shall include full, fair, 
accurate, timely and understandable disclosure, and the Company has established a Disclosure Committee consisting of 
senior management to assist in monitoring such disclosures.

15.Health and Safety

The Company is committed to conducting its business in compliance with all applicable environmental and workplace 
health and safety laws and regulations. Payoneer strives to provide each employee with a safe and healthy work 
environment. All employees have the responsibility for maintaining a safe and healthy workplace by following security,
health and safety rules. Suspicious or criminal activity, accidents, injuries and unsafe equipment, practices or conditions
should be immediately reported to your manager and the general manager of your office location. Performing work while
under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs or improperly used prescription
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medication is unsafe and puts us all at risk. This is prohibited, and working under the influence of such substances will not
be tolerated. The only exception to this rule is when alcohol is used responsibly and in moderation at business dinners
and at certain authorized Payoneer events. Violence and threatening behavior are not permitted. Any acts or threatened
acts of violence must be reported immediately to your manager and Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer.

16. Insider Trading

Payoneer is committed to adhering to the securities laws of the United States and other applicable countries. These laws
prohibit certain transactions involving securities (e.g., purchases or sales of Payoneer’s stock or restricted stock, exercise
and sale of Payoneer stock options or RSUs) by persons who are aware of material information about Payoneer that is
not generally known by or available to the public. These laws also can, in many circumstances, prohibit persons who are
aware of such material non-public information from disclosing this information to others. Payoneer and its directors,
officers and executive management may also be subject to liability if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider
trading by Payoneer’s personnel.

Furthermore, Using non-public, Company information to trade in securities, or providing a family member, friend or any 
other person with a “tip”, is illegal. All non-public, company information should be considered inside information and 
should never be used for personal gain. No director, officer or employee of the Company who, in the course of working 
for the Company, learns of any material, nonpublic information about a company with which the Company does business
(e.g., a customer, supplier or other party with which the Company is negotiating a major transaction, such as an
acquisition, investment or sale), may trade in that company’s securities until the information becomes public or is no
longer material. This remains true even in the event that you are no longer working with or for the Company.

You are required to familiarize yourself and comply with the Company’s Policy Against Insider Trading, copies of which
are distributed to all employees and are available from the Legal Department or on Payoneer Connect. You should 
contact the Legal Department with any questions about your ability to buy or sell securities.

17.Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets

Part of working ethically and with integrity involves protecting Payoneer’s physical assets as well as our intangible assets
and trade secrets, including our brand, reputation and proprietary or confidential information. Payoneer assets should be
used responsibly. All employees have an obligation to safeguard Payoneer’s assets, protect them from loss and ensure
their efficient use.
Theft, carelessness and waste have a direct impact on Payoneer’s profitability. Any suspected incident of misuse, loss or
theft should be immediately reported for investigation to the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer. Payoneer equipment
should not be used for non-Payoneer business, though incidental personal use may be permitted.

The obligation of Payoneer directors and staff to protect company assets extends to confidential information, as
discussed in Section ​7 above. Unauthorized use or distribution of this information would violate Payoneer policy. It could
also be illegal and result in civil or even criminal penalties. You must also respect the valid intellectual property rights of
others. Everyone should ensure that
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Payoneer property under their control is properly used and protected by adequate controls and safeguards.

Your Payoneer-issued (desktop and/or laptop) personal computer (PC) as well as any other Payoneer devices or
systems to which you have access (including without limitation, emails and storage applications) are the property of
Payoneer and are intended primarily for business use. Limited, appropriate, personal use of your PC or other Payoneer-
issued devices is acceptable, if it  does not interfere with your work or violate Payoneer policies or standards. We
should also never use our company computers or network systems for inappropriate conduct.

18.Record Keeping

Payoneer requires honest and accurate recording and reporting of information, hours worked and expenses in order to
make responsible business decisions. Many employees regularly use business expense accounts, which must be
documented and recorded accurately. If you are not sure whether a certain expense is legitimate, ask your manager or a
member of the Finance team.

Purposely misrepresenting information or activities on company documents and reports is a serious violation of policy, and
may violate the law. This could have serious consequences for you individually as well as for the company. Intentional
misrepresentation or falsification of records will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination, and may
potentially involve additional penalties as well. When in doubt, it is always better to ask before taking action.

All of Payoneer’s books, records, accounts, and financial statements:

● Must be maintained in reasonable detail;
● Must appropriately reflect Payoneer’s transactions;
● Must conform to applicable legal requirements; and
● Must be accurately maintained in accordance with Payoneer’s system of internal controls.

Business records and communications often become public, and we should avoid exaggeration, derogatory remarks,
guesswork or inappropriate characterizations of people and companies that can be misunderstood. This applies equally
to e-mail, internal memos and formal reports. Records should always be retained or destroyed according to applicable
policies. In the event of litigation or governmental investigation, please consult with the Legal Department regarding
special record retention requirements.

Employees should not engage in any transaction where there is reason to believe that the objective of the customer,
business partner or other party is to achieve misleading earnings, revenue, cash flow or balance sheet effect in its
financial statements.

19. External Communications

We need to speak with “one voice” to the community outside of Payoneer. Communicating consistent and accurate
information to the public, our customers, potential customers, business partners and investors is vital to our reputation
and is required to meet regulatory and legal obligations. Inaccurate statements can create serious risks for the
Company. Only authorized
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Payoneer representatives can speak on behalf of Payoneer to the press or at external events, conferences, industry
tradeshows, or forums. If you receive an inquiry from the media, you are not authorized to speak or provide any answers
or information on behalf of Payoneer without first consulting with the VP Marketing. Inquiries from the investment
community must be referred to the Chief Financial Officer.

As a company, we encourage communication among our employees, customers, partners, and others with Web logs
(blogs), social networks, discussion forums, wikis, video, and other social media. This can be a great way to stimulate
conversation and discussion. The Payoneer Social Media Policy sets forth the guidelines for employee participation in
social media and encourages employees to act responsibly, respectfully and transparently when using social media.

20. Payoneer Products and Services

Given that a significant number of employees and staff have access to critical Payoneer systems (i.e., BackOffice),
servers, operating and financial accounts, as well as to reduce the opportunity for internal fraud or impropriety generally,
no Payoneer director, officer, employee, contractor, consultant or temporary staff person, nor family members who share
the same household with the foregoing, may register for or use any Payoneer product or service, including but not limited
to, a Payoneer card (excluding cards issued by Israel Post Bank and cards issued through David Shield Passportcard
programs) or Payoneer virtual account; provided, however, that upon receiving advance written approval from the Chief
Compliance Officer, such persons may use Payoneer’s products and services in certain prescribed situations. Requests
for advance approval should be submitted to the Internal Fraud Monitoring Team.

21.Political Contributions and Activities

Any political contributions made by or on behalf of the Company and any solicitations for political contributions of any 
kind must be lawful and in compliance with Company policies. This policy applies solely to the use of Company assets 
and is not intended to discourage or prevent individual employees from making political contributions or engaging in 
political activities on their own behalf. No one may be reimbursed directly or indirectly by the Company for personal 
political contributions.

22.Reporting any Illegal or Unethical Behavior

Payoneer staff are encouraged to talk to any of their managers, senior managers, Legal or Internal Audit about any
observed, or suspected, illegal or unethical behavior or Code-related policy violations and when in doubt about the best
course of action in a particular situation. Employees will have the opportunity to ask confidential follow-up questions and
be advised of report status. Payoneer does not tolerate retaliation against anyone who reports observed, or suspected,
illegal or unethical behavior, or Code-related policy violations, in good faith.

23.Waivers of the Code of Conduct and Ethics

Requests for waivers of this Code by a staff member must be approved by the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer or
Chairman of the Audit Committee. Waivers for executive officers or directors
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may be made only by the Board of Directors or an authorized committee of the Board of Directors , or as otherwise
required by law. Amendments to this Code must be approved by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

24.Complying with the Code

We all must work to ensure compliance with this Code and prompt and consistent action against any violations. The Code 
will be strictly enforced, and violations will be dealt with immediately, including by subjecting persons who violate its 
provisions to corrective and/or disciplinary action such as dismissal or removal from office. Violations of the Code that 
involve illegal behavior will be reported to the appropriate authorities. 

However, in some situations it is difficult to know the right thing to do, and you may be required to exercise your judgment
or to make difficult decisions. As we cannot anticipate every situation that will arise, it is important that we have a way to
approach a new question or problem. These are the steps to keep in mind:

● Always ask first, act later. If you are unsure about what to do in any situation, seek guidance before you act.
● Make sure you have all the facts. In order to reach the right solutions, you must be as fully informed as possible.
● Ask yourself: What specifically am I being asked to do? Does it seem unethical or improper? This will enable you to

focus on the specific question you are faced with and the alternatives you have. Use your judgment and common
sense; if something seems unethical or improper, don’t take the risk of doing it.

● Clarify your responsibility and role. In most situations, there is shared responsibility. Are your colleagues informed?
It may help to get others involved and discuss the problem.

● Discuss the problem with your manager. This is the basic guidance for most situations. In many cases, your manager
will be more knowledgeable about the question, and will appreciate being brought into the decision-making process.
Remember that it is your manager’s responsibility to help solve problems.

● Seek help from leaders other than your manager. In situations where it may not be suitable to discuss an issue
with your manager, or where you do not feel comfortable approaching your manager with your question, discuss it
with Legal or Internal Audit.

● You may make good faith reports about ethical violations in confidence and without fear of retaliation. Payoneer
does not permit retaliation of any kind against employees for good faith reports of ethical violations.

If you become aware of a violation or potential violation of the Code or accounting standards or controls, you should
promptly report your concern to the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, the Chief Legal and
Regulatory Officer or any other attorney in the Legal Department, the Chief Compliance Officer or the Vice President of
Internal Audit.

Any concerns about a violation of ethics, laws, rules, regulations or this Code by the CEO or any senior financial officer 
should be reported promptly to the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, and the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer shall 
notify the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of any violation. Any such concerns involving the Chief 
Legal and 
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Regulatory Officer should be reported to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Reporting of such 
violations may also be done anonymously through the Ethics Voicemail Box or Web Form. An anonymous report should 
provide enough information about the incident or situation to allow the Company to investigate properly. If concerns or 
complaints require confidentiality, including keeping an identity anonymous, the Company will endeavor to protect this 
confidentiality, subject to applicable law, regulation or legal proceedings.

The Company recognizes the need for this Code to be applied equally to everyone it covers. The Chief Legal and 
Regulatory Officer of the Company will have primary authority and responsibility for the enforcement of this Code, 
subject to the supervision of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, or, in the case of accounting, 
internal accounting controls or auditing matters, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, and the Company will 
devote the necessary resources to enable the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer to establish such procedures as may 
be reasonably necessary to create a culture of accountability and facilitate compliance with the Code. Questions 
concerning this Code should be directed to the Legal Department.

The provisions of this Section ​24 are qualified in their entirety by reference to Section ​25.

25.Reporting Violations to a Governmental Agency

You have the right to not be retaliated against for reporting, either internally to the Company or to any governmental
agency or entity or self-regulatory organization, information which you reasonably believe relates to a possible violation
of law. It is a violation of federal law to retaliate against anyone who has reported such potential misconduct either
internally or to any governmental agency or entity or self-regulatory organization. Retaliatory conduct includes
discharge, demotion, suspension, threats, harassment, and any other manner of discrimination in the terms and
conditions of employment because of any lawful act you may have performed. It is unlawful for the Company to retaliate
against you for reporting possible misconduct either internally or to any governmental agency or entity or self-regulatory
organization.

Your rights and remedies as a whistleblower protected under applicable whistleblower laws, including a monetary
award, if any, may not be waived by any agreement, policy form, or condition of employment, including by a predispute
arbitration agreement.

26.Conclusion

Payoneer expects that every employee, at every level, will strive to conduct him- or herself with integrity. It is hoped
that the Code will help you identify potential integrity issues, and give you guidance on how to deal with such
situations. Remember, if you are ever uncertain about how to act, please seek advice from your manager, an attorney
from the Legal Department.
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Key Contacts

Susanna Morgan
Chair of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
[***]

Tsafi Goldman
Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer
[***]

Micheal Sheehy
Chief Compliance Officer
[***]

Sharon Ben Yaakov–Ilani
Vice President of Internal Audit [***]

Amanda Kosonen
Global Regulatory Counsel [***]
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Exhibit A

Payoneer Whistleblower Claims Procedures

OVERVIEW AND PURPOSE

These procedures establish guidelines and processes for handling whistleblower claims. By appropriately responding to
allegations by employees, suppliers, customers or contractors that the Company is not meeting its legal and ethical
obligations, the Company can better support an environment where compliance is the norm. An appropriate response
includes protecting those who step forward in good faith from retaliation while at the same time ensuring that the targets of
any allegations have an opportunity to present relevant evidence and understand the nature of the allegations.

This policy document details what actions should be taken by:

• Individuals, who have knowledge of any facts or indications of serious breaches of policy or the law.

• Company management when whistleblower allegations are made.

KEY CONTACTS

Whistleblower claims and allegations may be communicated to any one or more of the following Company representatives:

(i) Chair of the Audit Committee of the Company’s board of directors
● Susanna Morgan – [***]

(ii) Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer
● Tsafi Goldman – [***]

(iii) Vice President of Internal Audit
● Sharon Ben Yaakov–Ilani – [***]

(iv) Global Regulatory Counsel
● Amanda Kosonen – [***]

(v) Anonymously and confidentially via the:
● Ethics Voicemail box

• +1-332-282-2380
• +972-77-220-3382

● Submitting a report to the Ethics Web Form

SCOPE

This policy applies to all Company employees and contractors and governs procedures that must be followed when
allegations of impropriety or irregularity are made by a whistleblower and such allegations (i) regard Code of Conduct
violations, (ii) regard accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters, (iii) could cause serious damage to the
Company’s brand or reputation or, (iv) could result in a material liability to the Company, including, without limitation, the
following:
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● fraud or deliberate error in the preparation, evaluation, review or audit of any financial statement of the Company;
● fraud or deliberate error in the recording and maintaining of financial books and/or records of the Company;
● deficiencies in or noncompliance with the Company’s internal controls;
● misrepresentation or false statement to or by a senior officer or accountant regarding a matter contained in the

financial records, financial reports or audit reports of the Company;
● any attempts to mislead or improperly influence the Company’s independent auditor in the course of the

performance of their audit;
● deviation from full and fair reporting of the Company’s financial condition, such as material misrepresentations or

omissions with respect to the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, in public
disclosures of the Company’s financial position and prospective reports;

● improper expenditure of Company funds;
● improper use of Company property (including disclosure of proprietary information); or
● use of non-public Company or client information to trade in securities.

Allegations of impropriety outside the scope of this policy should still be reviewed by the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer to
determine an appropriate course of action.

KEY DEFINITIONS

“Whistleblower” means an individual who brings to the attention of Company management an allegation of impropriety within
the Company that has not been resolved to the satisfaction of the individual and that prevents the Company from meeting its
legal obligations or from complying with generally accepted accounting principles.

“Target” means a person potentially implicated in the whistleblower allegations.

ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES

Manager Responsibilities

Managers at all levels are responsible for continually emphasizing integrity as a standard of performance for all employees.

Managers who are apprised by employees, suppliers, customers or contractors that the Company is allegedly not meeting its
legal obligations should contact the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, the Chairman of the Audit Committee or Vice
President of Internal Audit so that an appropriate investigation can be conducted.

Employee Responsibilities

Employees suspecting serious breaches of policy or the law should report them immediately to their leaders. If it is impractical
or inappropriate for the employee to notify their immediate supervisor the employee may contact any one or more of the
following: the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, or the Vice President of Internal
Audit. Contact can be made via telephone or email. The Company encourages employees who wish to report potential
wrongdoings to
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provide only objective evidence to support their allegations.

The name of a whistleblower who presents allegations may not be disclosed directly to the target(s) of the allegations or
management unless authorized by the whistleblower except in those limited instances when the Company has a duty to
inform, e.g., imminent threat of serious harm. In addition, regardless of what channel is notified of the allegations, the name
of the whistleblower may not be disclosed to the target(s) in those jurisdictions that prohibit such a disclosure. In those
instances when information needs to be disclosed, such disclosure will only be to those who have a need to know and only
to the extent necessary.

Employees or contractors who have reason to believe that a serious breach of policy or law has occurred must retain
all documents that could be relevant to an investigation of the matter.

POLICY REQUIREMENTS

It is Company policy to closely scrutinize and appropriately respond to allegations by individuals including employees,
suppliers, customers, contractors, shareholders, or job applicants, that the Company is not meeting its legal or ethical
obligations or complying with generally accepted accounting principles when such allegations (i) regard accounting, internal
accounting controls, or auditing matters, (ii) could cause serious damage to the Company’s brand or reputation or, (iii) could
result in a material liability to the Company.

Investigating Whistleblower claims

The person receiving the whistleblower information should contact the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the Chief Legal and
Regulatory Officer, or the Vice President of Internal Audit. As soon as one of the designated contacts has been informed,
investigators should coordinate any further action through the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer. The Chief Legal and
Regulatory Officer will determine how to address the allegations, including whether any matter falling within the scope of this
policy should be reported to the Board of Directors, and whether the complaint pertains to an accounting or auditing matter, or
whether it pertains to violations of the Code or other relevant matters.

Target employees should not be questioned, terminated, disciplined or otherwise advised of investigations until management
is instructed to do so.

In the event that a complaint involves or implicates the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the Chief Legal and Regulatory
Officer, or the Vice President of Internal Audit, such person will promptly recuse themselves from the investigation and inform
the Audit Committee in writing. The Audit Committee will thereafter promptly appoint impartial attorneys to investigate the
complaint. The impartial attorneys will conduct an investigation of the complaint and report their conclusion to the Audit
Committee consistent with this policy.

Complaints relating to accounting and auditing matters will be reviewed under Audit Committee direction and oversight by 
the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, Vice President of Internal Audit or such other persons as the Audit Committee 
determines to be appropriate. Complaints relating to violations of the Code or any other matters will be reviewed initially by 
the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer. The Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer may delegate the oversight of any complaint 
to Internal Audit or such other persons as the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer determines to be appropriate. This 
direction may include the assignment of an auditor, special agent or compliance personnel to make a thorough examination.
In limited situations, outside counsel, outside auditors or
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others may be engaged to conduct the investigation.

After initial review, the Audit Committee or Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, as applicable, will determine whether the 
matter warrants an investigation and will oversee any such investigation. If the matter appears to be significant, the Chief
Legal and Regulatory Officer will discuss at any time the concerns raised with the Audit Committee or the Chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The person(s) authorized to conduct the investigation will report to the Audit Committee in a timely manner all findings of fact,
conclusions and proposed recommendations for remedial actions, if any.

Prompt and appropriate corrective action will be taken as and when warranted in the judgment of the Audit Committee or the
Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, as applicable and as appropriate under the circumstances.

The Company will not directly or indirectly, discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in any manner discriminate
against or cause unjustified detriment to any employee or individual who filed a complaint on a non-anonymous basis (or
whose identity came to the attention of the persons involved in the investigation), in his or her terms and conditions of
employment or otherwise, based upon any lawful complaint made by such employee or individual in good faith with respect to
accounting and auditing matters or violations of the Code or other relevant matters under the scope of this policy.

Confidentiality will be maintained to the fullest extent possible, unless otherwise consented to by the individual who filed the
complaint on a non-anonymous basis, as may be necessary to conduct a thorough investigation or as required to be disclosed
by law.

In conducting an investigation, precautions should be taken to safeguard against unfounded, inaccurate or unwarranted
accusations. An investigation should be conducted, including interviewing the individual making the allegations and the target.
The target of any allegations should have an opportunity to present relevant evidence and understand the nature of the
allegations. However, the target should not be notified of the allegations prior to the adoption of any protective measures
necessary to prevent the destruction of evidence, should such measures be deemed necessary.

Personal data gathered during the course of the investigation will be handled in accordance with local data privacy laws but in
all instances, information gathered must be kept securely and access to such information should be limited to those who
need to know in order to perform their job duties. Data that could identify the whistleblower or the target should not be
retained any longer than is necessary for the Company to satisfy its legal obligations.

The Audit Committee is responsible for tracking all whistleblower claims within the scope of this policy and for ensuring that the
tenets of the policy are followed. Copies of complaints and such log will be maintained in accordance with the Company’s
document retention policy.

The Company, as directed by the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer, will make every effort to cooperate with law
enforcement authorities. Law enforcement authorities should not be contacted by the Company in whistleblower situations
until instructions have been received from the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer. An exception would be in the rare
instance when, for example, a theft or similar crime is discovered in the process of being committed and authorities have to
be contacted to prevent the crime from being perpetrated.
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Disciplinary Measures Against Target

Once investigated, a decision on what course of action to take based on the findings of the investigation must be approved
by the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer who will apprise the Audit Committee as appropriate.

Disciplinary measures against the target will depend on the circumstances and will be applied in consultation with Human
Resources and the Chief Legal and Regulatory Officer. Consideration will be given to whether or not a violation is intentional,
as well as to the level of good faith shown by a target in cooperating with any resulting investigation or corrective measures.

Retaliation against Whistleblowers

Every employee has the right to not be retaliated against for reporting, either internally to the Company or to any
governmental agency or entity or self-regulatory organization, allegations of impropriety that fall within the scope of this policy
or other violation of the law, and which the employee reasonably believes in good faith to be true.
It is unlawful and a violation of federal law to retaliate against anyone who has reported such potential misconduct in good
faith either internally or to any governmental agency or entity or self-regulatory organization. Retaliatory conduct includes
discharge, demotion, suspension, threats, harassment, and any other manner of discrimination in the terms and conditions of
employment because of any lawful act the employee may have performed.
The Company cannot require an employee to withdraw reports or filings alleging possible violations of federal, state or local
law or regulation, and may not offer an employee any kind of inducement, including payment, to do so.
An employee’s rights and remedies as a whistleblower protected under applicable whistleblower laws, including a monetary
award, if any, may not be waived by any agreement, policy form, or condition of employment, including by a predispute
arbitration agreement.
Even if an employee has participated in a possible violation of law, he or she may be eligible to participate in the
confidentiality and retaliation protections afforded under applicable whistleblower laws, and may also be eligible to receive an
award under such laws.
Please note, that allegations that are not brought forth in good faith are a misuse of the whistleblower process and may result
in disciplinary action against the whistleblower.

***



 

Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant
 
Entity Name  Jurisdiction of Organization
Payoneer Inc.  Delaware
Payoneer Research and Development Ltd.  Israel
Payoneer Payment Solutions Ltd.  Belize
Payoneer (UK) Limited  United Kingdom
Payoneer (EU) Limited  Gibraltar
Payoneer U.S. LLC  Delaware
Payoneer Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong
Payoneer Japan Limited  Japan
Payoneer Early Payments Inc.  Delaware
Payoneer Canada Limited  British Columbia, Canada
Payoneer Australia Pty Ltd  New South Wales, Australia
Payoneer (Guangzhou) Commerce Services Co., Ltd.  China
Payoneer Global Services Inc.  Delaware
Payoneer Payment Services (UK) Limited  United Kingdom
Payoneer Europe Limited  Ireland
PYNR Services Limited  Ireland
Payoneer Germany GmbH  Germany
Payoneer Singapore Private Limited  Singapore
AnFu (Shenzhen) Information and Technology Limited  China
Payoneer India Commerce LLP India
GCA SPV I LLC Delaware
Payoneer (Vietnam) Company Limited Vietnam
Payoneer Services Holdings Inc. Delaware
Mycheckoutpay Inc. Delaware
Payoneer Global Services Spain, S.L. Spain
Payoneer Holdings APAC Inc. Delaware
Payoneer Holdings East Asia Inc. Delaware
Payoneer Holdings EEA Inc. Delaware
Payoneer Holdings UK Inc. Delaware
Payoneer Holdings SAMEA Inc. Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-258027) and on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-259397, 333 -
270258, 333 - 276827) of Payoneer Global Inc. of our report dated February 28, 2024 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ Kesselman & Kesselman
Certified Public Accountants (lsr.)
A member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers
International Limited

Tel-Aviv, Israel
February 28, 2024



 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13A-14 AND 15D-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John Caplan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Payoneer Global Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2024

By:           /s/ John Caplan          
Name: John Caplan
Title: Chief Executive Officer



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13A-14 AND 15D-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bea Ordonez, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Payoneer Global Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2024

By:  /s/ Bea Ordonez _
Name: Bea Ordonez
Title: Chief Financial Officer



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Payoneer Global Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John Caplan, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: February 28, 2024

By: __/s/ John Caplan_________
Name: John Caplan
Title: Chief Executive Officer



 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Payoneer Global Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Bea Ordonez, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: February 28, 2024

By: __/s/ Bea Ordonez_________
Name: Bea Ordonez
Title: Chief Financial Officer



 

Exhibit 97

PAYONEER GLOBAL INC.
COMPENSATION RECOUPMENT POLICY

This Compensation Recoupment Policy (“ Policy”) has been adopted by the Board of Directors (the “ Board”) of Payoneer Global Inc.
(the “Company”) on November 16, 2023. This Policy provides for the recoupment of certain executive compensation in the event of an
accounting restatement resulting from material noncompliance with financial reporting requirements under U.S. federal securities laws in
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein. This Policy is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 10D of the
Exchange Act (as defined below) and Section 5608 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules .

1. Definitions. For the purposes of this Policy, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below. 

(a) “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.  If there is no compensation committee of the Board, references
herein to the “Committee” shall refer to the Company’s committee of independent directors that is responsible for executive compensation
decisions, or in the absence of such a compensation committee, the independent members of the Board.

(b) “Covered Compensation” means any Incentive-based Compensation “received” by a Covered Executive during the applicable
Recoupment Period; provided that:

(i) such Incentive-based Compensation was received by such Covered Executive (A) after the Effective Date, (B) after he or
she commenced service as a Covered Executive and (C) while the Company had a class of securities publicly listed on a
United States national securities exchange; and 

(ii) such Covered Executive served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period applicable to such
Incentive-based Compensation.

For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-based Compensation is “received” by a Covered Executive during the fiscal period in which the Financial
Reporting Measure applicable to such Incentive-based Compensation (or portion thereof) is attained, even if the payment or grant of such
Incentive-based Compensation occurs thereafter.

(c) “Covered Executive” means (i) any current or former “officer” of the Company within the meaning of Rule 16a-1(f) under the
Exchange Act., and (ii) any other employee of the Company and its subsidiaries designated by the Committee as subject to this Policy from
time to time.

(d) “Effective Date” means October 2, 2023.

(e) “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(f) “Financial Reporting Measure” means any (i) measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting 
principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements (and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from any such measure), 
(ii) stock price measure or (iii) total shareholder return measure. For the avoidance of doubt, a Financial Reporting Measure does not need to 
be presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

(g) “Financial Restatement” means a restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to the material noncompliance of the
Company with any financial reporting requirement under U.S. federal securities laws that is required in order to correct:

(h) an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements; or 
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(ii) an error that would result in a material misstatement if the error were (A) corrected in the current period or (B) left uncorrected 
in the current period. 

For purposes of this Policy, a Financial Restatement shall not be deemed to occur in the event of a revision of the Company’s financial
statements due to an out-of-period adjustment (i.e., when the error is immaterial to the previously issued financial statements and the correction
of the error is also immaterial to the current period) or a retrospective (1) application of a change in accounting principles; (2) revision to
reportable segment information due to a change in the structure of the Company’s internal organization; (3) reclassification due to a
discontinued operation; (4) application of a change in reporting entity, such as from a reorganization of entities under common control; or (5)
revision for stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends, or other changes in capital structure.

(i) “Financial Restatement Preparation Date” means the earlier of (i) the date that the Board (or a committee thereof, or the
officer(s) of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required) concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that
the Company is required to prepare a Financial Restatement, and (ii) the date on which a court, regulator or other legally authorized body
causes the Company to prepare a Financial Restatement.

(j) “Incentive-based Compensation” means any compensation (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any cash or equity or equity-
based compensation, whether deferred or current) that is granted, earned and/or vested based wholly or in part upon the achievement of a
Financial Reporting Measure. For purposes of this Policy, “Incentive-based Compensation” shall also be deemed to include any amounts which
were determined based on (or were otherwise calculated by reference to) Incentive-based Compensation (including, without limitation, any
amounts under any long-term disability, life insurance or supplemental retirement plan or severance plan or agreement or any notional account
that is based on Incentive-based Compensation, as well as any earnings accrued thereon). 

(k) “Nasdaq” means the NASDAQ Global Select Market, or any successor thereof. 

(l) “Recoupment Period” means the three fiscal years completed immediately preceding the date of any applicable Financial
Restatement Preparation Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Recoupment Period additionally includes any transition period (that results
from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years, provided that a transition period
between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine (9) to
twelve (12) months would be deemed a completed fiscal year.

2. Recoupment of Erroneously Awarded Compensation .

(a) In the event of a Financial Restatement, if the amount of any Covered Compensation received by a Covered Executive (the
“Awarded Compensation”) exceeds the amount of such Covered Compensation that would have otherwise been received by such Covered
Executive if calculated based on the Financial Restatement (the “Adjusted Compensation”), the Company shall reasonably promptly recover
from such Covered Executive an amount equal to the excess of the Awarded Compensation over the Adjusted Compensation, each calculated
on a pre-tax basis (such excess amount, the “Erroneously Awarded Compensation”). 

(b) If (i) the applicable Financial Reporting Measure applicable to the relevant Covered Compensation is a stock price or total
shareholder return measure (or any measure derived wholly or in part from either of such measures) and (ii), if the amount of such Erroneously
Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the Financial Restatement, then the amount
of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be determined (on a pre-tax basis) based on the Company’s reasonable estimate of the effect
of the Financial Restatement on the Company’s stock price or total shareholder return upon which such Covered Compensation was received. 

(c) For the avoidance of doubt, the Company’s obligation to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not dependent on (i) if or
when the restated financial statements are filed; or  (ii) any fault of the Covered Executive for the accounting errors leading to a restatement.  
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(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Sections 2 ​(a) through ​(c) hereof, the Company shall not be required to recover any
Erroneously Awarded Compensation in the event that (x) the conditions set forth in either of clause (i) or (ii) are satisfied and (y) the Committee
(or a majority of the independent directors serving on the Board) has made a determination that recovery of the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation would be impracticable:

(i) the direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the recovery of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation
under this Policy would exceed the amount of such Erroneously Awarded Compensation to be recovered; provided that, before
concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation pursuant to this Section 2​(e),
the Company shall have first made a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, document such
reasonable attempt(s) to make such recovery, and provide that documentation to the Nasdaq; or

(ii) recovery of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan,
under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Sections 401(a)(13) or
411(a) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).

(e) The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executive, directly or indirectly, for any losses that such Covered Executive may
incur in connection with the recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation pursuant to this Policy, including through the payment of
insurance premiums or gross-up payments.

(f) The Committee shall determine, in its discretion, the manner and timing in which any Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be
recovered from a Covered Executive in accordance with applicable law, including, without limitation, by (i) requiring reimbursement of Covered
Compensation previously paid in cash; (ii) seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer, or other
disposition of any equity or equity-based awards; (iii) offsetting the Erroneously Awarded Compensation amount from any compensation
otherwise owed by the Company or any of its affiliates to the Covered Executive; (iv) cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity or
equity-based awards; and/or (v) taking any other remedial and recovery action permitted by applicable law. For the avoidance of doubt, except
as set forth in Section 2(e), in no event may the Company accept an amount that is less than the amount of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation; provided that, to the extent necessary to avoid any adverse tax consequences to the Covered Executive pursuant to Section
409A of the Code, any offsets against amounts under any nonqualified deferred compensation plans (as defined under Section 409A of Code)
shall be made in compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

3. Administration. This Policy shall be administered by the Committee. All decisions of the Committee shall be final, conclusive and 
binding upon the Company and the Covered Executives, their beneficiaries, executors, administrators and any other legal representative. The 
Committee shall have full power and authority to (i) administer and interpret this Policy, (ii) correct any defect, supply any omission, and 
reconcile any inconsistency in this Policy and (iii) make any other determination and take any other action that the Committee deems necessary 
or desirable for the administration of this Policy and to comply with applicable law (including Section 10D of the Exchange Act) and applicable 
stock market or exchange rules and regulations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, to the extent permitted by Section 
10D of the Exchange Act and Section 5608 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules, the Board may, in its sole discretion, at any time and from time to time, 
administer this Policy.

4. Amendment/Termination. Subject to Section 10D of the Exchange Act and Section 5608 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules, this Policy may
be amended or terminated by the Committee at any time. To the extent that any applicable law, or stock market or exchange rules or
regulations require recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in circumstances in addition to those specified herein, nothing in this Policy
shall be deemed to limit or restrict the right or obligation of the Company to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the fullest extent
required by such applicable law, stock market or exchange rules and regulations. Unless otherwise required by applicable law, this Policy shall
no longer be effective from and after the date that the Company no longer has a class of securities publicly listed on a United States national
securities exchange.

5. Interpretation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this Policy is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 10D
of the Exchange Act and Section 5608 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules (and any applicable regulations, administrative interpretations or stock
market or exchange rules and regulations adopted in connection
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therewith), and the provisions of this Policy shall be interpreted in a manner that satisfies such requirements, and this Policy shall be operated
accordingly. If any provision of this Policy would otherwise frustrate or conflict with this intent, the provision shall be interpreted and deemed
amended so as to avoid such conflict.

6. Other Compensation Clawback/Recoupment Rights . Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any
other remedies, rights, or requirements with respect to the clawback or recoupment of any compensation that may be available to the Company
pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, offer letter, equity plan, equity award agreement or similar agreement,
if any, and any other legal remedies available to the Company, as well as applicable law, stock market or exchange rules, listing standards or
regulations; provided, however, that any amounts recouped or clawed back under any other policy that would be recoupable under this Policy
shall count toward any required clawback or recoupment under this Policy and vice versa.

7.  Exempt Compensation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Company has no obligation under this Policy to seek
recoupment of amounts paid to a Covered Executive which are granted, vested or earned based solely upon the occurrence or non-occurrence
of nonfinancial events. Such exempt compensation includes, without limitation, base salary, time-vesting awards, compensation awarded on the
basis of the achievement of metrics that are not Financial Reporting Measures or compensation awarded solely at the discretion of the
Committee or the Board, provided, that such amounts are in no way contingent on, and were not in any way granted on the basis of, the
achievement of any Financial Reporting Measure performance goal.

8. Miscellaneous.

(a) Any applicable award agreement or other document setting forth the terms and conditions of any compensation covered by this
Policy shall be deemed to include the restrictions imposed herein and incorporate this Policy by reference and, in the event of any
inconsistency, the terms of this Policy will govern. For the avoidance of doubt, this Policy applies to all compensation that is received on or after
the Effective Date, regardless of the date on which the award agreement or other document setting forth the terms and conditions of the
Covered Executive’s compensation became effective.

(b) This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors,
administrators or other legal representatives.

(c) All issues concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Policy and all related documents, including,
without limitation, any employment agreement, offer letter, equity award agreement or similar agreement, shall be governed by, and construed
in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware , without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions (whether of
the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.

(d) The Covered Executives, their beneficiaries, executors, administrators, and any other legal representative and the Company shall
initially attempt to resolve all claims, disputes or controversies arising under, out of or in connection with this Policy by conducting good faith
negotiations amongst themselves. To ensure the timely and economical resolution of disputes that arise in connection with this Policy, the
federal and state courts sitting within the State of New York shall be the sole and exclusive forums for any and all disputes, claims, or causes of
action arising from or relating to the enforcement, performance or interpretation of this Policy. The Covered Executives, their beneficiaries,
executors, administrators, and any other legal representative and the Company, shall not commence any suit, action or other proceeding arising
out of or based upon this Agreement except in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York or any state court in New
York, New York, and hereby waive, and agree not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense, or otherwise, in any such suit, action or
proceeding, any claim that such party is not subject to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts, that its property is exempt or immune from
attachment or execution, that the suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum, that the venue of the suit, action or proceeding
is improper or that this Policy or the subject matter hereof may not be enforced in or by such courts. The Covered Executives, their
beneficiaries, executors, administrators, and any other legal representative, and the Company, shall waive (and shall hereby be deemed to
have waived) the right to resolve
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any such dispute through a trial by jury.

(e) If any provision of this Policy is determined to be unenforceable or invalid under any applicable law, such provision will be applied
to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law and shall automatically be deemed amended in a manner consistent with its objectives to
the extent necessary to conform to any limitations required under applicable law.


